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Fully Global, Truly Local



A leading-edge, global-level operating and  
management infrastructure raises the quality and
satisfaction of shopping with ÆON.

155 ÆON companies in Japan and overseas apply a “glocal (global + local) strategy”: global-class

management systems tailored to local needs in a drive to be the best local retailer wherever we

operate. Our business is based on large-scale shopping centers serving their respective communi-

ties with tailored services comprising GMS (general merchandise store) retail, supermarkets,

drugstores, home centers, convenience stores, specialty stores, shopping-mall development,

financial services, entertainment, food services and more. ÆON is growing through internal

expansion and strategic tie-ups that add new services, synergy and sales.

A leading-edge, global-level operating and  
management infrastructure raises the quality and
satisfaction of shopping with ÆON.
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Being the best local retailer means being the best at
meeting local needs, with shuttle buses, environmental
action and direct community involvement.



Applying unique management know-how to develop and manage

shopping malls centered on each community, ÆON is building a

uniquely positioned retail network in Japan and overseas. In fact,

ÆON shopping mall facilities account for one-quarter of the 

large-scale shopping center retail space in Japan—over 11 million

square meters.

Specialty store 
operations

Convenience store 
operations

Supermarket 
operationsGMS operations

P. 17 P. 18P. 17P. 14

Earnings rebound in Japan:
revenues up 2.6%, operating
income up 31.8%  

Leveraging group scale to
achieve double-digit growth
through demand aggregation
and joint procurement

Differentiation with original 
products developed in coopera-
tion with other ÆON companies 

Adding variety to ÆON retail
operations and new strengths
to lifestyle marketing



Other operationsFinancial service 
operations

SC development
operations

Drugstore operations

P. 19 P. 20 P. 23 P. 21

Developing one of Japan’s
largest chains with network
partner companies

Massive increase in earnings
from accelerated shopping mall
development and consolidation
of Diamond City

Launch of electronic transaction
cards; preparing for full-scale
banking operations in FY2007

Merging subsidiary companies
for efficiency and enhanced
operation; incubation of new
business
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Highlights for the year

Financial highlights

Forward-looking statements
Statements contained in this report with respect to ÆON’s plans, strategies and beliefs that are not historical facts are forward-looking

statements about the future performance of ÆON which are based on management’s assumptions and beliefs in light of the information

currently available to it. These forward-looking statements involve known and unknown risks, uncertainties and other factors that may cause

ÆON’s actual results, performance or achievements to differ materially from the expectations expressed herein.

Notes:
1. For convenience only, U.S. dollar amounts were translated at the rate of ¥120=$1, the rate of exchange at February 20, 2007. Such translations should not be construed as

representations that the Japanese yen amounts could be converted into U.S. dollars.

2. Japanese yen figures less than a billion yen are rounded down to the nearest billion yen, except for per share data.

3. According to a new accounting standard for presentation of equity, which is effective for fiscal years ending on or after May 1, 2006, stock acquisition rights, minority inter-
ests and any deferred gain or loss on derivatives under hedge accounting are now presented as components of equity. Accordingly the amounts of equity as of February 20,
2007 is not directly comparable to shareholders’ equity of prior years, stated above.

Years Ended February 20, ’03 ’04 ’05 ’06 ’07 ’07

Total revenues (¥ billion) 3,086 3,546 4,195 4,430 4,824 40.2

Operating income (¥ billion) 132 132 146 166 189 1.5

Net income (loss) (¥ billion) 51 55 62 28 57 0.4

Equity (¥ billion) 426 479 632 676 1,200 10.0

Basic net income per share (¥) 76.9 83.1 88.7 39.6 77.3 0.6

ÆON achieved a seventh straight year of record-high consolidated operating income.

Much credit for this goes to our strategy of centering our retail and services operations

on shopping centers we develop and manage.

($ billion)

($ billion)

($ billion)

($ billion)

($)
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Revenues

Japan 89%

North America 5%

Asia and Others 6%

Operating income

Japan 86%

North America 5%

Asia and Others 9%

Revenues and operating income by geographical segment

Growing diversity through measured expansion

Revenues

GMS and other retail store operations 73%

Specialty store operations 12%

SC development operations 2%

Service and other operations 13%

Operating income

GMS and other retail store operations 39%

Specialty store operations 9%

SC development operations 20%

Service and other operations 32%

Revenues and operating income by industry segment

Performance that mirrors ÆON’s comprehensive 
product and service offering

Operating highlights
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With its main business model based on shopping mall

operations, ÆON continues to grow under two strate-

gies: organic growth and company tie-ups. Around its

core business of shopping center operations, which

includes GMS stores and supermarkets, ÆON builds

complementary operations such as specialty stores,

shopping center development and services, and works

to create synergies among these diverse businesses.

ÆON aspires to become one of the top retailers in the

world in terms of both revenues and operating income

by the end of fiscal 2011. 

A growth strategy for all of ÆON

We have been pursuing management reform as ÆON

tries to quickly adapt to changes in Japan’s social envi-

ronment such as deflation, low birth rate and aging

society. In the fiscal year under review, ÆON kept up its

efforts in new store openings, renovations, and

improvement of sales floors and merchandise selection;

which as a result steadily enhanced performance.

Consolidated revenues reached ¥4,824 billion

(US$40,206 million), up 8.9% from the previous year,

and consolidated operating income was ¥189 billion

(US$1,581 million), up 14.2%. The driving force for these

results was ÆON CO., LTD. During the year, it began to

see positive results from its efforts to strengthen the

sales force, improve merchandise, and remake sales

floors, especially in apparel. All of these efforts have led

to an increase in existing store sales by 0.2% from the

previous year; the first time in 11 years that GMS opera-

tions have shown growth in existing-store sales. 

This fiscal year, we have taken our first step toward

organizational reform in order to maximize overall cor-

porate value with a view to adopting a pure holding

company structure. Several actions have been taken

towards group re-organization during the fiscal year

under review. Subsidiaries of ÆON CO., LTD. and

MYCAL CORPORATION were merged to bring out syn-

ergy and create competitive mass. ÆON integrated

general merchandise store chains within Hokkaido and

Kyushu, which created two local community-based

companies that lead their regions. This will effectively

exploit management resources by optimizing both cen-

tralization and decentralization. We also added two new

The President’s message

Motoya Okada
President

ÆON strives to become an advanced
“glocal” enterprise that combines
world-class management quality with a
commitment to local communities.
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consolidated subsidiaries, ORIGIN TOSHU CO., LTD., a

creative leader in the takeout food business, and

Diamond City Co., Ltd., which merged in August 2007

with ÆON Mall Co., Ltd. The merged company will be

one of the largest shopping mall developers in Japan.

Another significant move was the decision to spin off

group headquarters functions and other shared group

functions in consideration of enhancing synergy. The

shared group functions to be developed into individual

companies are demand aggregation for national-brand

products, TOPVALU private brand development, and

distribution network centralization. These companies

will provide centralized services to ÆON companies. 

In March 2007, ÆON CO., LTD., The Daiei, Inc. and

Marubeni Corporation agreed to an operational and

capital partnership. Under this partnership, ÆON CO.,

LTD. and Daiei will explore innovations that take advan-

tage of their scales to support the timely revival of

Daiei. We will also work together in supermarket opera-

tions with The Maruetsu, Inc,. an interest in which we

acquired from Daiei.

Creating new business models

Amid great change in customer needs and the external

business environment, ÆON must not cling to past

success stories but instead try to remain innovative.

Initiatives include a business alliance with JAPAN

POST to further improve customer convenience, and

our new e-money system “WAON,” which is due to be

launched in fiscal 2008. We also plan to open unique

new customer-oriented banking operations at ÆON

shopping malls, something that only ÆON can do. 

GMS operations will continue to be our main busi-

ness, but we intend to develop and nurture shopping

center development business, service businesses and

financial service to our anchor businesses that will

lead us into the next era. ÆON will emerge as a new

enterprise comprising highly integrated retail and

service operations. 

Acceleration of overseas expansion

We have been opening overseas stores in line with our

key strategy, which is to accelerate our expansion in

China and other rapidly growing Asian markets. In fis-

cal 2007, we entered into a new growth phase in Asia.

Our first large-scale shopping mall in southern China

opened this year, and our Malaysian operation added

three shopping malls and one supermarket. We are

also planning to open our first shopping mall in Beijing

in 2008, which will be a joint effort by all ÆON compa-

nies such as ÆON Mall, applying all we have learned in

Japan with sensitivity to local preferences and culture.

The Beijing mall will house various ÆON companies

who will be opening their first retail outlets in China. 

ÆON is determined to remain as a highly valued

retail group for customers as well as shareholders, and

is committed to prosper as “an enterprise that gives top

priority to customers satisfaction.”

¥4,800
billion

10,292
facilities

Of consecutive record consoli-
dated operating income growth

Largest scale of business
operations in Japan in
terms of revenues

Total number of ÆON
stores and offices operat-
ing in Japan and overseas

7th
year
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ÆON's most basic and abiding principles are the pur-

suit of peace, respect for humanity, and contribution to

local communities through customer-centered initia-

tives. Under these principles, we are determined to

achieve global management standards while also being

the best serving retailer in the local community.

Always putting customers first

ÆON will consistently grow by adjusting to changes in

the business environment and meeting customer

needs. As customer needs diversify, ÆON will try to be

the best local retailer wherever we are, continuing to

learn from customers and never ceasing to innovate. 

To this end, we will ceaselessly contribute to cus-

tomers through our retailing operations and by living

up to the trust they place in us. We believe that the

accumulation of such efforts will improve our corporate

value, leading to the establishment of the ÆON brand

among customers and other stakeholders. This will

help us meet the expectations of shareholders who

have always strongly supported ÆON. 

Improving our management base

Since 2003, ÆON has operated under the governance

structure known as the “Company with Committees”

system. Under this structure, the supervisory and exec-

utive roles of management are clearly divided between

Board directors and executive officers. The aim of this

change was to delegate substantial authority to execu-

tive officers for more timely management decision-mak-

ing. It also seeks to enhance the supervision by the

Board of directors in order to realize highly transparent

corporate management. 

The ÆON Code of Conduct provides clear guide-

lines for employee action to foster conscientious and

innovative corporate culture, an important factor in

ÆON becoming a well respected and trusted enter-

prise in society. 

ÆON requires no less from its suppliers. The ÆON

Supplier Code of Conduct (ÆON Supplier CoC) has

also been in place since 2003, and we require more than

500 domestic and overseas suppliers of our TOPVALU

private brand to fulfill social and environmental conser-

vation responsibilities. Their conduct is regularly audit-

The Chairman’s message

Hideo Nojima
Chairman of the Board

The fundamental principle of ÆON 
is its “customer-centered approach.”
ÆON's mission is and always will 
be to contribute to customers.



ÆON ANNUAL REPORT 2007 7

ÆON’s Basic Principles
Peace: ÆON is a corporate group whose operations are dedicated to the
pursuit of peace through prosperity.

People: ÆON is a corporate group that respects human dignity and val-
ues personal relationships. 

Community: ÆON is a corporate group rooted in local community life
and dedicated to making a continuing contribution to the community.

The 
Customer

Peace

CommunityPeople

ed under a strict system of monitoring and control. In

2004, as one of the first retailers in Japan to do so, ÆON

obtained international SA8000 certification for human

rights in the workplace. This was achieved for head-

quarters operations at ÆON CO., LTD. and the system

for supervising suppliers of TOPVALU merchandise.

We feel honored that our efforts have been recognized

by third parties.

Environmental and social contribution activities

ÆON's environmental and social contribution activities

combine a global perspective with a commitment to

local communities. By establishing an environmental

policy to curb global warming and working to reduce

CO2 emissions, we have been striving to meet the target

of the Kyoto Protocol from three perspectives: “cooper-

ation with customers,” “merchandise” and “stores.” For

example, we are promoting the “My Basket” and “My

Bag” campaigns, which encourage shoppers to take

their purchases home in their own baskets or bags

instead of store-provided plastic bags. In January 2007,

we also started another initiative to review and change,

step by step, the way we provide shoppers with plastic

bags at each store. 

Also, since 2005, ÆON has opened three “Eco

Stores” in Japan that pay enhanced consideration to

the environment. 

The ÆON Environment Foundation is involved in

global and local activities, including tree-planting pro-

grams and the support of environment NGOs in Japan

and overseas. Tree-planting programs have been

implemented in Qingdao, China, and in Kenya and

Thailand, as well as in Japan at Shiretoko in Hokkaido

and Kaga in Hokuriku. To date, ÆON has planted a

total of 7.15 million trees, including those planted since

1991 under the “ÆON Hometown Forests” program.

Another initiative we take pride in is the ÆON 1%

Club which was established in 1989 to support environ-

mental conservation and social contribution activities.

ÆON also established “ÆON Day,” where every 11th

day of the month, ÆON gets together with customers to

promote environmental protection and social contribu-

tion activities. One activity involves the cleaning up of

store neighborhoods by ÆON employee volunteers.

Another popular activity is the “ÆON Happy Yellow

Receipt Campaign”, under which ÆON donates goods

to local volunteer groups in an amount equivalent to 1%

of the total value of shopper's receipts. Six years after

their launch, we are happy to see these social activities

widely accepted within local communities. 

In this way, ÆON works to contribute to the environ-

ment and society with the cooperation of customers,

utilizing our stores as centers for these activities. We

are determined to fulfill our social responsibilities as a

corporate citizen by actively promoting these activities

to become a more valuable group of companies for our

customers and shareholders.
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From its first overseas store in Malaysia in 1985, ÆON is active today in Malaysia, Thailand,

Hong Kong, China and Taiwan. ÆON is building mall-type shopping centers overseas based

on our Japanese business model. It adapts Japanese best practices to local sensibilities to

create stores that are attractive and relevant to customers.

Expanding our retail network in China

33 stores in China
Emphasizing new shopping mall 

development in China

AEON Shunde Shopping Center opened in February 2007
in GuangDong Province in China.
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ÆON has been called on to effect the rapid turnaround of retail chains Yaohan and MYCAL.

We value these newly rehabilitated chains for their contribution of revenue and additional

business synergies that reinforce our core internal organic growth. And now, ÆON is 

sharing business resources in close cooperation with the Daiei retail chain.

Adding new services, size and synergy

7years ahead of schedule, 
MYCAL completes rehabilitation

Aiding troubled retailers with retail management 
know-how and gaining group merit

SATY, operated by MYCAL, became part of ÆON
Takasaki Shopping Center in October 2006.
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Through highly automated distribution centers in Japan and overseas linked by the latest IT

systems, ÆON ensures accessibility to products from around the world. Advanced demand

tracking and supply chain management brings additional group scale merit. 

Building a global-class infrastructure 

30- center
regional distribution network

Assuring state-of-the-art product availability 
and rapid distribution

ÆON’s cutting-edge Distribution Centers 
ensure highly efficient logistics.
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TOPVALU products bring new expression to consumer lifestyles, in apparel, food and

housewares. Besides economically priced staples, there are sub-brands to serve specific

needs, such as organic or additive-free products and environment-friendly materials. TOP-

VALU mirrors customer desires and provides safety and peace of mind.

A new dimension of lifestyle marketing

¥220billion
sales of TOPVALU

One of Japan’s largest private brands The ÆON Style is popular with customers 
for its stylish fashion and wide variety.



12 ÆON ANNUAL REPORT 2007

ÆON has continued to achieve steady growth despite rapid changes

in its business environment. This success is attributable to a unique

business model that allows ÆON to take full advantage of group-level

economies of scale, and a consistent customer first policy. 

Review of operations

GMS and 
other retail store 

operations

Specialty store 
operations

SC development 
operations

Service and 
other operations

Overview

ÆON CO., LTD. and its 129 consolidated subsidiaries reported revenues of ¥4,824 billion (US$40,206 million), a rise of

8.9% over the previous fiscal period, and consolidated operating income climbed 14.2% to ¥189 billion (US$1,581 million),

a record high for the seventh consecutive year. Of special note was the marked recovery of ÆON CO., LTD. The existing

store sales recorded year-on-year increases for the first time in 11 years. Supermarket operations were also strong,

reporting an 11% increase in operating income. In the Asian region, the Group expanded its store network in each 

market by developing shopping centers and opening new supermarkets. In the shopping mall development business,

income grew substantially through strong performances by ÆON Mall Co., Ltd. and the newly consolidated Diamond

City Co., Ltd. The latter became a consolidated subsidiary during the period. The service business segment also 

performed well, reporting higher revenues and income.

ÆON CO., LTD. integrated and reorganized the businesses of its six service-related subsidiaries and four 

subsidiaries owned by MYCAL CORPORATION.  It also strengthened and expanded tie-ups aimed at constructing new

business models. These included a comprehensive business alliance with JAPAN POST and agreements with East

Japan Railway Company and NTT DoCoMo, Inc. related to the use of electronic payment systems.
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REVENUES:

GMS and other retail store operations

Specialty store operations

SC development operations

Service and other operations

Total 

Eliminations of intersegment revenue  

Total revenues

OPERATING INCOME:

GMS and other retail store operations

Specialty store operations

SC development operations

Service and other operations

Total 

Eliminations of intersegment 
operating income

Total operating income

’03

Millions of Yen
Thousands of
U.S. Dollars*

’04 ’05 ’06 ’07 ’07Years Ended February 20, 

$31,970,011

5,080,547

1,058,270

5,519,595

$43,628,424

(3,421,964)

$40,206,460

$   626,541

135,155

321,153

513,219

$1,596,069

(15,002)

$1,581,067

Financial highlights

¥3,641,742

499,132

68,409

607,271

¥4,816,555

(386,269)

¥4,430,285

¥  63,346

21,911

21,023

60,635

¥166,916

(810)

¥166,105

¥3,481,224

463,812

58,915

575,311

¥4,579,264

(383,420)

¥4,195,843

¥  55,853

19,846

17,927

53,436

¥147,063

(286)

¥146,777

¥2,837,009

449,161

49,240

501,962

¥3,837,373

(291,157)

¥3,546,215

¥  47,903

24,104

13,849

45,792

¥131,649

562

¥132,212

¥2,375,939

449,852

44,851

476,509

¥3,347,153

(260,649)

¥3,086,504

¥  53,528

28,420

12,261

38,271

¥132,481

(309)

¥132,172

¥3,836,401

609,665

126,992

662,351

¥5,235,410

(410,635)

¥4,824,775

¥  75,184

16,218

38,538

61,586

¥191,528

(1,800)

¥189,728

Note: For convenience only, U.S. dollar amounts were translated at the rate of ¥120=$1, the rate of exchange at February 20, 2007. Such translations should not be construed as
representations that the Japanese yen amounts could be converted into U.S. dollars.
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FY ’05

3,481

55.8 63.3

3,641
3,836

75.1

’07’06

Review of operations

GMS and 
other retail store 
operations

GMS and other retail store operations

This segment centers on general merchandise stores

(GMS), supermarkets and convenience stores. ÆON

aims to maximize customer satisfaction with product

development, store designs, services and attractive

pricing. It requires continuous reforms targeting mer-

chandise cost structures, IT, logistics, merchandising

operations and other areas. The goal is to generate syn-

ergies by playing on group strengths to drive group-

level growth. 

In the year ended February 20, 2007, GMS and other

retail store operations recorded growth in both rev-

enues and income. Consolidated revenues increased by

5.3% year on year to ¥3,836 billion (US$31,970 million),

and operating income by 18.7% to ¥75.1 billion (US$626

million). This segment contributed 39.2% of consolidat-

ed operating income.

On August 21, 2007, we plan to merge Posful

Corporation with the general retailing operations of

ÆON CO., LTD. in Hokkaido, and ÆON KYUSHU CO.,

LTD. with MYCALKYUSHU CORPORATION in

Kyushu. This will create locally based companies that

are the leading retailers in their regions. 

GMS operations

ÆON is one of Japan’s biggest GMS operators in terms

of sales-floor space and sales volume. Its GMS outlets

serve as shopping-mall anchor stores offering apparel,

foodstuffs, housing products and other necessities.

Domestic GMS operations accounted for revenues of

¥2,927 billion (US$24,398 million), an increase of 2.6%

from last year. Operating income grew substantially by

31.8% to ¥47.7 billion (US$397 million). 

Of special note was the marked recovery of ÆON

CO., LTD. With existing store sales increasing on a

year-on-year basis for the first time in 11 years, non-con-

solidated revenues and operating income increased by

3.6% to ¥1,960 billion (US$16,335 million), and by 38.2%

GMS and other retail
store operations

(¥ billion)

FY ’05

20

18

14

17 17

’07’06

14

build
scrap

GMS scrap-and-
build operations

New store designs and product merchandising concepts have
proven very popular with customers, who have returned GMS
to profitability.

31.8%
Increase in GMS operating
income in FY2007

Recreating their role as
anchor stores, plus new
sales-floor designs for
apparel, foodstuffs, hous-
ing and leisure goods, have
returned GMS to competi-
tive health. 

Revenues
Operating income
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FY ’05

1,830 1,892 1,960

’07’06 FY ’05

186
200

210

’07’06 FY ’05

2,867

3,920
4,287

’07’06

to ¥33.5 billion (US$279 million), respectively. Net

income reached ¥24.4 billion (US$203 million) because

of dividend increases from the subsidiaries, an increase

of 971.5%. Each of these is an all-time high.

ÆON continued enhancing the attractiveness of

GMS outlets as shopping-mall anchor stores. The

“ÆON Style Store” concept was introduced at 50 out-

lets, offering lifestyle ideas through innovation in mer-

chandise, sales-floor designs and sales format. Using

its automated distribution network and IT systems,

ÆON continued achieving reduced merchandise pro-

curement costs and improved inventory management.

The focus was on reinforcing marketing through joint

sales activities among ÆON companies and directly

dealing with manufacturers. 

Under ÆON’s scrap and build policy, 17 GMS stores

were opened and 14 closed, bringing the total to 471.

Among these was the first new outlet of MYCAL, which

completed its reorganization seven years early. The

new outlet was opened five years and nine months

since the last outlet, owing to the interruption caused

by the reorganization.

GMS operations in Asia and China 

ÆON operates stores in Malaysia, Thailand, Hong

Kong, China and Taiwan. On September 8, 2004, ÆON

established AEON (China) Co., Ltd. to coordinate strate-

gies in Asia and strengthen its business and global

supply chain. AEON (China) is licensed for importing,

exporting, wholesaling and retailing. In the year under

review, ÆON established six new GMS outlets and

supermarkets in China and other Asian countries, clos-

ing two. The overseas network grew to 58 stores, gener-

ating an 11.7% rise in revenues to ¥175 billion (US$1,458

million). Operating income rose 38.7% to ¥8.2 billion

(US$68.3 million). 

AEON (China) opened the South China region’s first

mall-type shopping center, continuing to serve the

region’s advancing motorization. 

In Malaysia, AEON Co. (M) Bhd. increased its chain to

16 GMS stores including two mall-style shopping centers

they developed themselves, and also opened one super-

market. ÆON established Beijing AEON Co., Ltd. ahead

of the first ÆON store in Beijing. It focuses on the expan-

sion of the business base in China through joint efforts

with ÆON companies such as ÆON Mall. 

Revenues of 
ÆON CO., LTD.

(¥ billion)

Revenues of 
ÆON KYUSHU

(¥ billion)

Revenuesof 
AEON Stores (Hong Kong)

(HK$ million)

FY ’05

1,785
1,962

1,941

’07’06

Revenues of 
AEON Co. (M) Bhd. 

(RM$ million)

FY ’05

172 175 183

’07’06

Revenues of 
Maxvalu Nishinihon

(¥ billion)

ÆON's customer-and-community approach to retailing is just
as appreciated in China as it has been in Japan.
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TOPVALU private-brand goods deliver safety and peace of mind through stringent monitor-

ing at every stage from producer to shelf display. For traceability, special labels on TOPVALU

GREEN-EYE produce enable customers to check production information on their mobile

phone browsers. We continue to expand this barcode-based reporting system.

Assuring safety and product quality

2,039 farms
in the TOPVALU producer database

Traceability is another benefit of 
our private-brand produce

Japanese consumers can now trace product 
information with their cell phones.
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FY ’05

87.2 89.1 90.3

’07’06 FY ’05

78.0

91.0

106.7

’07’06 FY ’05

75.5
80.2

100.2

’07’06

Supermarket operations 

ÆON has built Japan’s first national supermarket chain

covering the entire country from Hokkaido in the north to

Okinawa in the south. In Japan, we opened 51 new super-

markets and closed 28, bringing the total number of

stores to 755. The supermarket segment reported its

fourth consecutive term of higher revenues and income,

generating revenues of ¥652.1 billion (US$5,434 million),

8.1% growth year on year. Operating income rose by

10.9% to  ¥172.9 billion (US$144 million). 

Each company in the supermarket business sought to

strengthen its competitiveness and improve profit margins.

To achieve this goal, supermarkets focused on expanding

sales of TOPVALU private-brand products, a key element of

ÆON’s group synergy, and joined in demand aggregation

and other joint-procurement operations that leverage

ÆON’s size. Individually, companies pursued regionally

based merchandising policies and developed services.

These efforts helped supermarket operations in each

region to become more competitive, as borne out by our

results. ÆON continued to contribute to regional economic

vitalization and earn strong support from local customers

through unique initiatives that included the large-scale pro-

motion of fresh local produce and delicacies. 

While encouraging supermarket companies to achieve

growth internally, ÆON also continued to lay new growth

foundations by forming business and capital alliances.

ÆON will continue to develop and expand supermarket

operations by leveraging synergy in the areas of mer-

chandise joint procurement, and mutual exchange of

operational know-how. 

MINISTOP CO., LTD. operates convenience stores

with fast-food services. In the year ended February 20,

2007, it increased its total to 2,974 stores, including area

franchises in Japan and overseas. MINISTOP also pur-

sued the joint development of original products in cooper-

ation with ÆON CO., LTD. Unseasonable weather condi-

tions, however, resulted in a decline in operating income.

Revenues of 
Maxvalu Tohoku

(¥ billion)

Revenues of 
Maxvalu Tokai

(¥ billion)

Revenues of 
Maxvalu Chubu

(¥ billion)

FY ’05

61.2 61.2 61.1

’07’06

Revenues of 
Maxvalu Hokkaido

(¥ billion)

FY ’05

101.8
112.7

122.0

’07’06

Revenues of 
MINISTOP

(¥ billion)

Number of retail facilities in GMS and 
other retail store operations by store type

As of February 20, 2007 2006

GMS 471 468

Supermarkets 765 711

Convenience stores 2,974 2,854

Others * 197 179

Total 4,407 4,212

Note: Home centers, discount stores, department stores, and so on

ÆON world-class distribution, group synergies and innova-
tion, such as 24-hour operation, propelled supermarkets to a
4th straight year of earnings growth.
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FY ’05

463

19.8 21.9

499

609

16.2

’07’06

Review of operations

Specialty store 
operations

Specialty store operations 

ÆON has a wide variety of specialty stores in Japan and

overseas, in categories ranging from fashion and sundries

to foodstuffs and daily necessities.  In the year ended

February 20, 2007, the number of specialty stores increased

by 1,082 to 4,376. Strong performance by specialty stores in

Japan helped to boost revenues from this segment by

22.1% year on year to ¥609 billion (US$5,080 million).

Despite this revenue growth, income was lower because of

a reduced contribution from overseas specialty stores.

This segment contributed 8.5% of total consolidated oper-

ating income. 

Of note domestically, was the performance of Mega

Sports Co., Ltd. and PETCITY CO., LTD. Mega Sports

operates the SPORTS AUTHORITY chain of large-scale

specialty stores, while PETCITY offers concepts for

enhanced lifestyles with pets. Both stores reported

sharply higher revenues and income. Mega Sports oper-

ating income rose through a program of human resource

development and strengthened efforts to meet local

needs. PETCITY found success with an aggressive pro-

gram of store openings in shopping centers. COX CO.,

LTD., a retailer of men’s, women’s and children’s apparel,

continued to develop a new business model and transi-

tion to a specialty store retailer of private-label apparel

(SPA). It also achieved revenue and income growth

thanks to a scrap-and-build strategy. Other companies to

record growth in revenues and income included

MIRAIYA SHOTEN CO., LTD., which operates bookstores

located mainly in shopping malls. 

ORIGIN TOSHU CO., LTD., a leading company in the

takeout prepared meal business, became a consolidated

subsidiary on March 20, 2006 as a result of a takeover bid.

This company is now accelerating its business develop-

ment and moving toward a new growth phase. ORIGIN

TOSHU has already started to supply foodstuffs to 92 out-

lets, including JUSCO, Maxvalu and MINISTOP.

Previously confined to the Kanto region (East Japan), it is

now expanding into the Kansai region (West Japan) as

well. Its aggressive business strategy also includes the

establishment of outlets in ÆON shopping malls. In the

year ended February 20, 2007, ORIGIN TOSHU opened

four new outlets and made a significant contribution to

the expansion of revenues and income from specialty

store operations.

Overseas specialty store operators include The

Talbots, Inc., which has established a position for itself

as a leading American retailer of women’s and family

apparel by offering total fashion ideas based on its

“American classic” brand concept. This company

Specialty store
operations

(¥ billion)

Revenues
Operating income

ÆON is the proud owner of Talbots, the classic American spe-
cialty store. Specialty stores help give ÆON facilities a special
character all their own.
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FY ’05

1,697
1,808

2,231

’07’06 FY ’05

36.6
34.7

32.8

’07’06 FY ’05

19.4
20.7 21.0

’07’06

acquired The J. Jill Group, Inc., an American multichan-

nel retailer of women’s apparel, accessories and shoes.

This move, which will pave the way for a multi-brand

strategy in the future, brought an increase in revenues.

However, one-time costs relating to the merger caused a

decline in operating income. Another factor was an

increase in inventory markdowns resulting from the

impact of the warmest winter in the U.S. in five years on

sales of winter apparel. 

In the drugstore segment, ÆON continued to enhance

and expand in-store health and beauty corners with pre-

scription services and senior care corners of its GMS out-

let. In partnership with 13 of Japan’s leading companies,

ÆON also continued to build ÆON Welcia Stores into one

of Japan’s largest national drugstore chains. In the year

ended February 20, 2007, the chain grew to over 1,800 out-

lets, with total sales of over ¥600 billion (US$5,000 million).

The total number of drugstores rose to 1,859 outlets operat-

ed by 14 companies, including 418 H&BC corners of ÆON

Co., Ltd, and other GMS stores.

Revenues of Talbots 
($ million)

Revenues of 
BLUE GRASS

(¥ billion)

Revenues of COX
(¥ billion)

Number of specialty stores

As of February 20, 2007 2006

Talbots (U.S.-based clothing retailer) 1,125 1,083

J. Jill (Women’s “sophisticated casual” apparel retailer) 239 —

Taka:Q * (Men’s clothing) 204 172

YAMAYA * (Discount liquor and imported food store) 175 164

TSURUYA SHOE STORE * (Discount shoe store) 63 57

COX (Family casual wear retailer) 197 192

BLUE GRASS (Specialty retailer of women’s fashion apparel) 560 582

Abilities JUSCO (CD, DVD and book retailer) 8 7

ÆON FOREST (Japanese operator of The Body Shop stores [U.K.]) 135 116

Claire’s Nippon * (Japanese operator of U.S. casual fashion accessory store) 194 172

Talbots Japan (Japanese operator of Talbots stores [U.S.]) 47 47

NUSTEP (Family shoe store operated in shopping malls) 270 262 

MIRAIYA SHOTEN (Chain of over 140 bookstores in Japan) 145 148 

PETCITY (Pets and pet supplies) 59 46 

MYCAL CANTEVOLE  (Fresh in-store bakery) 54 48 

ORIGIN TOSHU (Retailer of take-out prepared meals) 702 — 

Mega Sports (Japanese operator of The Sports Authority stores [U.S.]) 70 74 

MEGA PETRO (Gas stations in shopping centers) 48 42

LAURA ASHLEY JAPAN (Japanese operator of Laura Ashley stores [U.K.]) 81 82

Total 4,376 3,294 

Note:  An equity-method associated company

1,082 
Specialty store shops
added since February 2006

Specialty stores are an inte-
gral component of ÆON’s
shopping mall developer
retail strategy. Specialty
stores bring unique style
and excitement to shopping.



Shopping mall development sets ÆON apart as a global retail-
er. It ties us closely to the community and provides a strong
framework for synergy.

20 ÆON ANNUAL REPORT 2007

Review of operations

SC development 
operations

SC development operations

ÆON was the first company to anticipate the arrival of the

shopping mall era in Japan and played a pioneering role as

a specialist developer. Development activities are handled

mainly by ÆON Mall and Diamond City, which both make

optimal use of their advantages as specialist developers by

dynamically creating and operating shopping malls that

offer real value to their communities. In the year ended

February 20, 2007, revenues from development operations

increased by 85.6% year on year to ¥126 billion (US$1,058

million), and operating income by 83.3% to ¥38.5 billion

(US$321 million). This segment contributed heavily to

ÆON’s consolidated results, accounting for 20.1% of total

consolidated operating income. 

Development operations encompass not only the contin-

uing development of shopping malls, but also the improve-

ment of mall management and operating technology. The

dramatic increase in revenues and income in the year

under review resulted in part from the inclusion of

Diamond City in the consolidation. ÆON Mall opened three

new mall-type shopping centers serving large areas, while

Diamond City opened two. Equity-method affiliate LOC

DEVELOPMENT CO., LTD. opened four new projects tai-

lored to their respective communities. The total number of

shopping malls has now reached 471, and commercial

space increased to over 11 million square meters, approxi-

mately a quarter of all shopping center floor space in

Japan.

All new shopping centers performed well, with ÆON

maintaining the freshness of existing malls through a sys-

tematic revitalization program, including expansion,

renewal and tenant mix changes. These efforts resulted

in substantial revenue and income growth. On August 21,

2007, ÆON Mall  will merge with Diamond City to create

Japan’s biggest shopping mall developer. In addition to

continuing activities in Japan, this company will also

establish malls overseas. 

FY ’05

42.7

52.9

62.2

’07’06

Revenues of ÆON Mall
(¥ billion)

FY ’05

39.3
42.2

47.2

’07’06

Revenues of 
Diamond City

(¥ billion)

FY ’05

58.9

17.9 21.0

68.4

126.9

38.5

’07’06

Revenues
Operating income

SC development
operations

(¥ billion)
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FY ’05

575

53.4
60.6

607
662

61.5

’07’06

Review of operations

Service and other
operations

Service and other operations

ÆON offers a wide range of services designed to meet the

changing needs as they enhance and enrich consumer

lifestyles. These include credit services, amusement serv-

ices, marriage-partner introduction services and mainte-

nance services. Strong performance by companies offer-

ing financial and other services was reflected in the

results for the year ended February 20, 2007. Revenues in

this segment increased by 9.1% year on year to ¥662 bil-

lion (US$5,519 million), and operating income by 1.6% to

¥61.5 billion (US$513 million). These operations account-

ed for 32.2% of total consolidated operating income. 

To reorganize and strengthen this segment’s opera-

tions, ÆON CO., LTD. combined and streamlined the

businesses of six of its subsidiaries and four of the sub-

sidiaries of MYCAL. This integration will foster not only

improved management efficiency and enhanced com-

petitiveness but also better services and the creation of

new value. ÆON’s long-term growth strategy for this

segment calls for continued efforts to strengthen its rep-

utation by responding to the diverse values of its cus-

tomers. ÆON will also continue to expand the scale of its

operations, enhance its networks, and diversify into new

fields of activity. 

ÆON Fantasy Co., Ltd., the amusement service com-

pany, recorded growth in both revenues and income,

Service and other
operations

(¥ billion)

Revenues
Operating income

Service and other operations is all about lifestyles. It is now seen
as a key cradle for ideas that will drive growth in the next decade. 

FY ’05

28.8

34.4

48.9

’07’06 FY ’05

4.3 4.4 4.5

’07’06 FY ’05

41.6
47.4

59.6

’07’06

Revenues of 
ÆON Fantasy

(¥ billion)

Revenues of ZWEI
(¥ billion)

Revenues of CERTO
(¥ billion)

FY ’05

54.6
62.3

111.1

’07’06

Revenues of 
ÆON DELIGHT

(¥ billion)
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In addition to credit cards, since February 2007 we have rolled out convenient new electronic

transaction cards in partnership with leading companies, and announced preparations for

full-service in-store banking. These new services allow us to improve convenience and satis-

faction for customers.

New services that will set us apart

17million
ÆON Credit customers
Sparked by continuous innovation to make 

shopping more convenient
The e-money card WAON can replace cash
for daily purchases.
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reflecting the establishment of new outlets and the

expansion and renovation of existing facilities. CERTO

Corporation provides back-office services, including pro-

curement of commercial supplies, such as wrapping

papers and office stationery, and the management and

operation of vending machines. Strong trends in its

rental business for greenery and indoor tobacco smoke

dischargers, as well as in the vending machine business,

helped to boost revenues and income.

ÆON CREDIT SERVICE CO., LTD., the main driver of

this segment, ended the term with 17.2 million cardhold-

ers, an increase of approximately 1.1 million over the pre-

vious year. The opening of new shopping centers and the

issuance of new co-branded cards with such companies

as Cosmo Oil Co., Ltd. and SUNDAY CO., LTD. con-

tributed to this increase. On February 1, 2007, ÆON

CREDIT SERVICE began processing payments in the

form of electronic money at 89 of ÆON’s stores in Tokyo

and its six neighboring prefectures. With e-money cards,

Number of stores in service and other operations

As of February 20, 2007 2006

ÆON CREDIT SERVICE*(Credit card company) 58 58

AEON Eaheart (Food court and restaurant operator) 509 541

ÆON Fantasy (Indoor game and amusement “theme parks”) 320 303

ZWEI (Marriage-partner introduction services) 50 48

ÆON CINEMAS (Operates cinemas at ÆON shopping centers) 7 5

JUSVEL (Travel agency services) 26 25

Reform Studio (Repair of shoes, clothing, handbags, keys, etc.) 539 486

Total 1,509 1,466

Note:  The number of service offices

customers can instantly pay for purchases, store points

and buy commuter tickets and other services using the

electronic balance stored on the card. In conjunction with

the launch of this program, ÆON CREDIT SERVICE

began issuing the “ÆON Suica* Card,” a credit card con-

taining an electronic-money function. ÆON CREDIT

SERVICE reported a profit decline on higher revenues

because of its recognition of allowance for possible credit

losses made in anticipation of a future contraction of cred-

it under revised lending laws. However, strong perform-

ance by the overseas credit business was reflected in rev-

enue and income growth at the consolidated level. 

ÆON has decided to move into the banking business

as part of its integrated financial service business. On

May 15, 2006, it established ÆON Financial Project Co.

Ltd. Preparations for full-service banking at ÆON facili-

ties are proceeding steadily, and ÆON expects to com-

mence services before the end of fiscal 2008.

Across Japan, consumers are flocking to the use of contactless
payment cards. ÆON sees them as part of a new kind of per-
sonal banking service.

WAON is the name of ÆON’s
exclusive new e-money card

Users of WAON automati-
cally receive points and 
special discounts along 
with its innovative e-money
convenience.

FY ’05

94.6

109.7

125.1

’07’06 FY ’05

887
955

1,020

’07’06 FY ’05

4,931

6,472

7,730

’07’06

Revenues of ÆON 
CREDIT SERVICE

(non-consolidated basis) (¥ billion)

Revenues of AEON 
CREDIT SERVICE 
(ASIA) (HK$ million)

Revenues of AEON
THANA SINSAP

(THAILAND) (Bt million)

Note:  Suica is a registered trademark of East Japan Railway Company.
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True to our basic principles, we promote environmental protection 

and social contribution through community-based activities with 

customers. We work at building a sustainable society to fulfill our social

responsibilities as a corporate citizen.

Environmental and 
social contribution activities

ÆON is leveraging its retailing strengths to set a positive

example of energy efficiency and minimal environmental

impact. With our eye on global warming, we embrace the

Kyoto Protocol through our three basic goals for the envi-

ronment: working with customers, providing environment-

friendly products and developing environmental-load free

stores. The “My Bag” campaign aims to reduce consump-

tion of checkout bags by encouraging customers to bring

their own shopping bags. In a pilot program started

January 2007 at the JUSCO Higashiyama-Nijo Store, we

began working with customers on ways to eliminate check-

out bags altogether and will expand this program to halve

the average volume of bags used in all ÆON stores by 2010.  

In May 2005, the ÆON Chikusa Shopping Center in

Aichi Prefecture became our first “Eco Store” with

enhanced environment-friendly features. In the year

under review, we opened two new Eco Stores: the ÆON

Kashiwa Shopping Center in Chiba Prefecture, and the

ÆON Dainichi Shopping Center in Osaka Prefecture.

These stores utilize natural energy, such as solar panels,

and introduced conservation systems, including the use

of partial wall greening to reduce the heat load from sun-

light. Customers responded positively to our energy effi-

ciency improvements.

The environmentally designed “Eco Store” 
features wall greening, windmills and solar panels.
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ÆON makes its facilities available to community groups for meetings, festivals and other

activities that help to pull communities together. In addition, ÆON lends support to activi-

ties that reinforce and pass on culture and traditions in Japan.

A center for more than shopping

200days
Average level of community activities held 

at regional malls in FY2007

ÆON Kashiwa SC in Aomori welcomes traditional
Japanese summer festivals for the local community.
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Store-based environmental protection and 

social contribution activities 

ÆON stores have been focal points for a wide range of

environmental and social contribution activities in part-

nership with the people in their local communities. 

On the 11th of each month, we highlight environmen-

tal and community contribution initiatives as part of our

“ÆON Day” program. These activities have ecological

and local-community themes and reflect ÆON's role as a

member of the communities that it serves. Examples

include the “ÆON Happy Yellow Receipt Campaign,”

whereby 1% of a participating customer's purchases is

donated to local volunteer groups for community support

activities. Under the “ÆON Clean Road” campaign,

employees voluntarily clean up the areas around ÆON

stores. There is also the ÆON “Clean & Green” project to

clean local parks and rivers. For the past six years, these

activities have reflected ÆON's commitment to local

communities, and each year builds stronger ties with

community life. 

ÆON designates each June as “Environment Month,”

while every October we promote environmental protection

in partnership with customers under the “3R Promotion

Month” program. ÆON is working actively to introduce

packaging materials with less impact on the environment

and is currently turning to biomass sources, mainly for

packages of agricultural foodstuffs offered under the

TOPVALU GREEN EYE brand. Biomass materials are a

plant-based resource and, when burned, emit only water

and CO2. Carbon in the CO2 that is released was originally

absorbed while the plants grew, and so biomass can be

characterized as zero CO2 emission materials. 

On November 29, 2006, sales of seafood certified by the

Marine Stewardship Council (MSC) began in approximately

660 outlets throughout Japan, including JUSCO and

Maxvalu stores. MSC is an independent non-profit interna-

tional certification and eco-labeling organization for marine

products that promotes responsible fishing practices. It cer-

tifies that fishing operations are being conducted with con-

sideration for resource and environmental conservation. 

Product-linked social contribution activities 

ÆON supports the Fair Trade movement, which pro-

motes economic independence, cultural identity and

environmental protection by ensuring that producers

receive fair prices for their raw materials and products.

One example is coffee. Focusing on stable production

volumes and demands, we started sales of coffee as one

of our private-brand TOPVALU products in 2004 and are

expanding the service range to each group company of

50%
Target reduction of shop-
ping bags at our stores

Our goal is to cut the 
average volume of 
shopping bags in half 
within three years.

Environmental and social contribution activities

The monthly “ÆON Happy Yellow Receipt Campaign” donates
part of the day's receipts to shopper-designated Japanese
NGO and non-profit organizations.
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ÆON. In October 2006, ÆON became the first Japanese

retailer to sell Fair Trade certified roses. The roses are

grown by using environmentally sound production meth-

ods on a farm in Kenya, which has been certified by the

Fairtrade Labelling Organizations International (FLO).

Profits from the sale of the roses are returned to the com-

munity and used for social contribution initiatives, includ-

ing education programs for children and the construction

of a hospital. ÆON will continue to expand the range of

Fair Trade products to make it more convenient for cus-

tomers to pursue social contribution activities.

Preservation of regional food culture

As a part of its initiative to become the "best local" retail-

er in the community with a greater focus on regional com-

munities, ÆON promotes local production for local con-

sumption by introducing regional customers to the

unique quality and taste of regional foods. At the same

time, ÆON promotes local production for nationwide

consumption by taking advantage of its extensive network

of group stores around Japan and overseas. A good

example of this is TOPVALU Select Apple Juice Straight

from Fuji Apples, produced exclusively from the Fuji

apple variety, one of the most well-known agricultural

products of Aomori Prefecture. The juice is offered not

only in Japan but also abroad under the special high-

quality brand. The ÆON Food Artisan project is another

activity that ÆON promotes. In this project, ÆON works

together as an equal partner with local food producers.

This program serves to revitalize the regional economies

while sharing regional food traditions with customers.

Planting trees for future generations

ÆON is involved in efforts to combat various environmen-

tal problems. These activities reflect the high value that

we place on the limited resources of our planet, and our

determination to leave the environment in a better state

for future generations. One of ÆON's best-known initia-

tives is tree-planting. The “ÆON Hometown Forests” pro-

gram, which began in 1991 at the Jaya JUSCO Stores'

Malacca Store in Malaysia, aims to turn shopping centers

into oases rich in greenery by planting local tree species

in the grounds of each facility. Planting is carried out in

partnership with local residents. This program is in tune

with the wishes of local residents, and has resulted in the

planting of 6.3 million trees in 537 locations.

In  1991, ÆON established the ÆON Environment

Foundation to address global environmental issues and

provide grants to like-minded groups and individuals

working at global and local levels. The Foundation provid-

ed a total of ¥1,623 million (US$13.5 million) to 1,887

Tree-planting has become a signature ÆON activity popular
with customers everywhere. ÆON has planted a total of 7.15
million trees in Japan and overseas.

15 years
Of environmental support
and education

The ÆON Environment
Foundation has been con-
tributing to a cleaner, bet-
ter world since 1991.
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organizations including 208 grant applications in the year

ended February 20, 2007.

In the year under review, overseas tree-planting proj-

ects were implemented in Kenya, Thailand and Qingdao,

China. There were six projects in Japan, including

Shiretoko in Hokkaido and along the Shimohama Coast in

Akita Prefecture. 

The ÆON 1% Club—environmental and social contribu-

tion activities based on a global perspective

In 1989, ÆON established the ÆON 1% Club to carry out

environmental and social contribution activities. To fund

the organization's activities, ÆON companies donate 1%

of their pre-tax earnings. The ÆON 1% Club's main areas

of involvement are environmental conservation, interna-

tional cultural and human exchange and revitalization of

regional culture and societies.

In 2005, ÆON launched the “ÆON Cheers Club” to con-

tribute to the healthy development of children. In August

2006, 57 Japanese elementary and junior high school stu-

dents, including Cheers Club representatives, traveled to

Germany for the fourth “Eco-Life Tour in Germany.”

Germany is a world leader in environmental technology, and

tour participants were able to experience and learn about

ways to adopt ecologically sound lifestyles. 

As part of its international cultural and human exchange

initiatives, the ÆON 1% Club has implemented the

“Teenage Ambassador” program continuously since 1990.

The program promotes cultural exchange at the high-school

level by inviting overseas students to visit their counterparts

in Japan. Twenty high school students from Australia were

invited to Japan in the latest program session, which empha-

sized learning through active participation. They built strong

bonds through hands-on workshops, home stays and inter-

action with Japanese high school students. 

Since April 2006, the ÆON 1% Club's “ÆON

Scholarship” has provided financial aid for students,

especially those from Asian countries. The organization

is also ready to act whenever an emergency arises. In

May 2006, it donated ¥21.8 million (US$181 thousand) in

relief funds to assist people affected by the earthquake

that struck central Java in Indonesia. 

Support for school construction in Laos

ÆON is helping to improve the lives of children who are

being denied an education simply because there are no

schools for them to attend. This international outreach

program, organized in partnership with the Japan

Committee for UNICEF, has in past years raised enough

funds to build 149 schools in Cambodia and 57 schools in

Nepal. In the year ended February 2007, we launched a

new, three-year school construction program in Laos. In

partnership with the Japan Committee for UNICEF, we

collected donations in approximately 8,000 locations

belonging to 64 ÆON companies. Customers contributed

¥45.0 million (US$375 thousand), and the ÆON 1% Club

added ¥50.0 million (US$416 thousand), bringing the total

donation to ¥95.0 million (US$791 thousand), which was

matched by the Japan Committee for UNICEF-in the first

year of the program, sufficient funds to build 30 schools.

Environmental and social contribution activities

236
schools
Built to give children their
first chance at an education

ÆON and its customers
teamed with the Japan
Committee for UNICEF to
build schools in Cambodia,
Nepal, and now Laos.

�UNICEF/LAOS/Jim Holems



ÆON ANNUAL REPORT 2007 29

Financial summary 30

Financial review 31

Consolidated balance sheets 34

Consolidated statements of income 36

Consolidated statements of changes in equity 37

Consolidated statements of cash flows 38

Notes to consolidated financial statements 39

Independent auditors’ report 66

Financial section contents

Financial Section



30 ÆON ANNUAL REPORT 2007

Financial summary

OPERATING RESULTS

REVENUES

Net sales

Rental and other revenues 

Total revenues

COST OF SALES

Gross profit

SELLING, GENERAL AND 

ADMINISTRATIVE EXPENSES

Operating income

OTHER EXPENSES—NET

INCOME BEFORE INCOME TAXES 

AND MINORITY INTERESTS

INCOME TAXES

MINORITY INTERESTS IN NET INCOME

NET INCOME

CASH FLOWS

Net cash provided by operating activities

Purchases of property, buildings and equipment

FINANCIAL POSITION

Total assets

Long-term liabilities

Equity *3

PER SHARE OF COMMON STOCK DATA*2

Basic net income

Diluted net income

Cash dividends applicable to the year

¥3,813,635
382,208

4,195,843
2,782,590
1,413,253

1,266,476
146,777

9,953

136,823

49,277
25,479

¥     62,066

¥     69,089
174,817

¥2,752,088
870,842
632,022

¥88.71
88.64
12.00

¥3,258,628
287,587

3,546,215
2,343,430
1,202,785

1,070,573
132,212

6,493

125,718

47,625
22,777

¥     55,316

¥   174,050
133,239

¥2,609,271
926,106
479,090

¥83.05

11.00

¥2,853,795 
232,709

3,086,504
2,029,594
1,056,909

924,737
132,172

8,786

123,385

50,620
21,507

¥     51,257

¥   124,396
98,236

¥2,013,067
665,862
426,359

¥76.87
76.39
11.00

$36,210,903
3,995,557

40,206,460
25,722,347
14,484,112

12,903,045
1,581,067

299,688

1,281,378

514,816
286,091

$ 480,469

$  1,180,371
2,040,772

$29,452,885
9,178,562

10,006,531

$0.64
0.64
0.13

¥4,040,600
389,684

4,430,285
2,895,595
1,534,690

1,368,584
166,105

65,861

100,244

43,568
27,743

¥     28,932

¥   137,054
199,182

¥2,928,682
958,492
676,151

¥39.61
39.56
15.00

¥4,345,308
479,466

4,824,775
3,086,681
1,738,093

1,548,365
189,728

35,962

153,765

61,778
34,331

¥     57,656

¥   141,644
244,892

¥3,534,346
1,101,427
1,200,783

¥77.31
77.30
15.00

Years Ended February 20, 

Millions of Yen

’07’07’06’05’04’03

Thousands of
U.S. Dollars*1

Yen

’07’07’06’05’04’03

U.S. Dollars*1

Notes: 1. For convenience only, U.S. dollar amounts were translated at the rate of ¥120=$1, the rate of exchange at February 20, 2007. Such translations should not be con-
strued as representations that the Japanese yen amounts could be converted into U.S. dollars.

2. On October 18, 2004, the Company made a stock split by way of a free share distribution at the rate of 2 shares for each outstanding share. Each figure included in
PER SHARE OF COMMON STOCK DATA was retroactively adjusted for the stock split.

3. According to a new accounting standard for presentation of equity, which is effective for fiscal years ending on or after May 1, 2006, stock acquisition rights, minority
interests and any deferred gain or loss on derivatives under hedge accounting are now presented as components of equity. Accordingly the amounts of equity as of
February 20, 2007 is not directly comparable to shareholders’ equity of prior years, stated above.



Consolidated revenues and operating income
Consolidated operating income achieved record growth for
the seventh consecutive year in the fiscal year ended
February 20, 2007. This achievement is highlighted by a solid
return to growth in general merchandise store (GMS) sales
and outstanding performance turned in by the shopping
center development operations.

Consolidated revenues and operating income amounted to
¥4,824 billion (US$40,206 million) and ¥189 billion (US$1,581
million), 8.9% and 14.2% higher than the previous fiscal year,
respectively, reflecting strong performance in all business seg-
ments. As a special note, our mainstream business segment of
GMS and other retail store operations returned a 5.3% growth
in its revenues, to ¥3,836 billion (US$31,970 million), and 18.7%
growth in its operating income to ¥75 billion (US$626 million)
from the previous fiscal year.

In particular, for domestic GMS operations alone, which
account for the largest portion of consolidated revenues, rev-
enues increased by 2.6% year on year to ¥2,927 billion
(US$24,398 million). The major contributors to this solid
return to positive performance include successes in the
ongoing reform of GMS stores to reinforce their role as core
tenants in shopping centers, initiatives to expand and
strengthen joint sales promotion among ÆON companies,
and expansion of direct trading with manufacturers. As a
result, ÆON Co., Ltd. recorded a 3.6% increase on non-con-
solidated revenues to ¥1,960 billion (US$16,335 million) and
moreover, a substantial 38.2% rise in non-consolidated oper-
ating income to ¥33 billion (US$279 million).

Another remarkable achievement was recorded by
shopping center (SC) development operations, the rev-
enues and operating income amounted to ¥126 billion
(US$1,058 million) and ¥38 billion (US$321 million), 85.6%
and 83.3% higher than the previous fiscal year, respectively.
Continuous initiatives taken for new SC development,
improvement in management and operation techniques for
shopping centers, and Diamond City Co., Ltd. which
became a newly consolidated subsidiary from an associat-
ed company contributed to this boost.

Specialty store operations also increased revenues,
which climbed by 22.1% from the previous fiscal year to
¥609 billion (US$5,080 million). However, mainly due to a
one-time cost for merger-related expenses at overseas spe-
cialty stores, overall operating income for the segment
decreased by 26.0% to ¥16 billion (US$135 million) from the
previous fiscal year.

Service and other operations recorded ¥662 billion
(US$5,519 million) revenues and ¥61 billion (US$513 mil-
lion) operating income, both increased by 9.1% and 1.6 %
year on year, respectively.

Consolidated net income
Consolidated net income resurged solidly from the previ-
ous fiscal year, climbing 99.3% to ¥57 billion (US$480 mil-
lion). Accordingly, the ratio of net income to revenues rose
by 0.5 percentage points to 1.2%. This sizable increase was
mainly due to a ¥50 billion (US$421 million) decrease in
loss on impairment of long-lived assets.
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Financial review

FY ’05

3.5
3.7

3.9

’07’06

Operating income 
to revenues

(%)

FY ’05

4,195

146
166

4,430
4,824

189

’07’06

Revenues/
operating income

(¥ billion)

Revenues
Operating income

FY ’05

30.2

1,266

30.9

1,368

32.1

1,548

’07’06

SG&A expenses/ratio of
SG&A to total revenues

(¥ billion/%)

SG&A expenses
Ratio of SG&A to total revenues



32 ÆON ANNUAL REPORT 2007

Consolidated financial position
Consolidated total assets amounted to ¥3,534 billion (US$
29,452 million), a 20.7% increase on the previous fiscal year.
A major factor for this increase included a ¥100 billion
(US$837 million) increase in cash and cash equivalents,
largely due to issuance of common stock. Other major fac-
tors included a ¥68 billion (US$567 million) increase in
notes, accounts and installment receivables, brought by
expansion in operations of financial subsidiaries, a ¥67 bil-
lion (US$564 million) increase in financial loan receivable,
and a ¥319 billion (US$2,664 million) net increase in total
fixed assets, brought by newly consolidated subsidiaries
and newly opened stores.

Consolidated liabilities also increased by 15.5% to
¥2,333 billion (US$19,446 million), mainly by the increase of
interest-bearing debt. ¥34 billion (US$286 million) increase
of unsecured bonds and ¥151 billion (US$1,259 million)
increase of long-term loans from banks and insurance
companies were primarily due to financial needs for
expansion of financial subsidiaries’ operations and acqui-
sition of newly consolidated subsidiaries.

Consolidated equity, formerly called consolidated

shareholders’ equity, amounted to ¥1,200 billion
(US$10,006 million), an increase of 77.6% compared with
the previous fiscal year. Major factors of this increase were
consolidated net income of ¥57 billion (US$480 million)
posted to retained earnings, and new-share issuance
which increased the surplus of common stock and capital
by ¥96 billion (US$808 million) and ¥96 billion (US$808 mil-
lion), respectively. Moreover, there was a sizable impact
resulting from the adoption of a new accounting standard
for presentation of equity, which requires companies to
categorize minority interests of ¥287 billion (US$2,398 mil-
lion) and other items that had not been categorized as
shareholders’ equity as components of equity in balance
sheets. The amount which corresponds to the former
shareholders’ equity under the previous balance sheet
presentation was ¥912 billion (US$7,606 million).

Consolidated cash flows
Net cash provided by operating activities increased by ¥4
billion to ¥141 billion (US$1,180 million), compared with
the previous fiscal year. The major cash-inflow factors
included income before income taxes and minority inter-

Financial income/expense

Interest income

Dividend income

Financial income

Interest expense

Interest on bonds

Interest on commercial paper

Financial expense

Net financial charges

¥ 1,950
988

¥ 2,939
4,494
2,106

8
¥ 6,609
¥(3,670)

¥ 3,796

1,201

¥ 4,998

8,565

2,236

56

¥ 10,858

¥(5,859)

$ 31,639

10,016

$ 41,655

71,381

18,634

469

$ 90,485

$(48,829)

¥ 1,297
894

¥ 2,191
5,118
1,811

2
¥ 6,932
¥(4,740)

Debt

Short-term loans principally from banks

Bank overdraft

Commercial paper

Unsecured bonds

Long-term loans from banks and insurance companies

Debt under securitization of future cash flow

Total

As of February 20,

Years ended February 20,

¥ 78,354
630

1,000
147,915
510,932

¥738,833

¥ 95,421
292

11,000
194,111
557,015

¥857,840

Millions of Yen

’07’06’05

$   794,659

30,170

50,000

1,904,243

5,900,839

95,000

$8,774,912

’07

Thousands of
U.S. Dollars (Note 1)

Millions of Yen

’07’06’05 ’07

Thousands of
U.S. Dollars (Note 1)

¥ 95,359

3,620

6,000

228,509

708,100

11,400

¥1,052,989



ests of ¥153 billion (US$1,281 million) and depreciation
and amortization of ¥122 billion (US$1,022 million). On the
other hand, the major cash-outflow factors were payment
of income taxes of ¥75 billion (US$628 million), an increase
in trade notes, accounts and installment receivable of ¥72
billion (US$603 million), and an increase in financial loan
receivable of ¥76 billion (US$637 million).

Net cash used in investing activities jumped to ¥364
billion (US$3,035 million), ¥197 billion higher than the pre-
vious fiscal year. Net cash paid in conjunction with the
purchases of consolidated subsidiaries increased by ¥168
billion (US$1,404 million), reflecting acquisition of interests
in ORIGIN TOSHU CO., LTD., Diamond City Co., Ltd., The
J. Jill Group, Inc. and five other subsidiaries. Purchases of
property, buildings and equipment also increased by ¥45
billion (US$380 million), mainly for newly-opened stores.

Net cash provided by financing activities also rose to
¥314 billion (US$2,619 million), a ¥278 billion year-on-year
increase. The financial needs for investing activities were
met mainly by ¥193 billion (US$1,609 million) in proceeds
from common stock issuance, and ¥283 billion (US$2,363
million) in proceeds from long-term debt, which was ¥68

billion more than the previous fiscal year.
As a result of these cash flows, the balance of cash and

cash equivalents at the fiscal year-end amounted to ¥382
billion (US$3,190 million), an increase of ¥97 billion (US$
812 million) year on year.

Consolidated financial ratios
Return on equity improved by 2.9 percentage points to 7.3%
from the previous fiscal year. The drop in the previous fiscal
year was temporary, due to adoption of an accounting stan-
dard for impairment of fixed assets. Loss on impairment of
long-lived assets for this fiscal year decreased to ¥32 billion
(US$273 million) from ¥83 billion in the previous fiscal year.

The equity ratio* also improved by 2.7 percentage points
to 25.8%. Increase in common stock and capital surplus
brought by new common stock issuance offset the negative
impact of increase in interest-bearing debt.

(*) Return on equity and equity ratio (equity/total assets) are calculated
using amounts corresponding to former shareholders’ equity. (Stock
acquisition rights, minority interests and deferred gain (loss) on deriva-
tives under hedge accounting are excluded from total equity.)
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FY ’05

174
199

244

’07’06

Capital expenditures
(¥ billion)

Return on assets (%)

Return on equity (%)*

Operating income to revenues (%)

Equity ratio (%)*

1.0
4.4
3.7

23.1

2.3
11.2
3.5

23.0

2.4
12.2
3.7

18.4

2.6
12.6
4.3

21.2

1.8

7.3

3.9

25.8

Principal financial ratios ’06’05’04’03 ’07

FY ’05

2,752

632 676

2,928

3,534

1,200

’07’06

Total assets/equity
(¥ billion)

Total assets
Equity

FY ’05

23.0 23.1
25.8

’07’06

Equity ratio*
(%)
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ÆON CO., LTD. and consolidated subsidiaries

Consolidated balance sheets
February 20, 2006 and 2007

ASSETS

CURRENT ASSETS:

Cash and cash equivalents (Notes 8 and 16.a)

Time deposits

Marketable securities (Note 5)

Receivables:

Notes and accounts—trade

Installment (Notes 4 and 8)

Financial loan (Notes 4 and 8)

Other

Merchandise inventories

Deferred tax assets (Note 15)

Prepaid expenses and other current assets (Note 7)

Allowance for doubtful accounts

Total current assets

PROPERTY, BUILDINGS AND EQUIPMENT (Notes 2. f, 6, 8 and 9):

Land

Buildings and structures

Furniture and fixtures

Vehicles

Construction in progress

Total property, buildings and equipment

INVESTMENTS AND OTHER ASSETS:

Investment securities (Notes 5 and 8)

Goodwill-net (Note 3)

Investments in and advances to unconsolidated subsidiaries 

and associated companies

Intangible assets (Note 6)

Fixed leasehold deposits to lessors (Notes 7, 8 and 9)

Deferred tax assets (Note 15)

Other (Notes 6 and 8)

Allowance for doubtful accounts

Total investments and other assets

TOTAL

See notes to consolidated financial statements.

¥ 286,410

6,468

5,975

57,804

197,092

439,365

51,846

286,546

25,873

48,655

(29,804)

1,376,235

230,490

612,757

99,833

423

21,120

964,625

98,533

61,368

52,070

303,656

28,187

77,935

(33,930)

587,821

¥2,928,682

’06

Millions of Yen
Thousands of

U.S. Dollars (Note 1)

’07’07

¥ 386,855

11,519

4,478

62,199

260,790

507,115

57,848

322,182

35,773

55,026

(41,681)

1,662,107

282,069

719,892

117,775

1,138

22,431

1,143,307

94,490

64,286

40,412

75,987

342,259

45,583

84,751

(18,840)

728,930

¥3,534,346

$  3,223,796

95,998

37,320

518,325

2,173,250

4,225,962

482,070

2,684,856

298,111

458,555

(347,349)

13,850,897

2,350,577

5,999,107

981,463

9,487

186,929

9,527,565

787,421

535,721

336,768

633,228

2,852,165

379,863

706,260

(157,007)

6,074,422

$29,452,885
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LIABILITIES AND EQUITY
CURRENT LIABILITIES:

Short-term borrowings (Note 8)
Current portion of long-term debt (Note 8)
Current portion of secured and unsecured obligations under 
reorganization proceedings of subsidiaries (Note 9)

Payables:
Notes and accounts—trade
Construction
Other

Income taxes payable
Accrued expenses
Provision for store closing expenses
Allowance for point program
Other current liabilities (Notes 8, 10 and 17.a)

Total current liabilities

LONG-TERM LIABILITIES:
Long-term debt (Note 8)
Lease deposits from lessees (Note 8)
Secured and unsecured obligations under 
reorganization proceedings of subsidiaries (Note 9)

Liability for retirement benefits (Note 11)
Provision for store closing expenses
Allowance for loss on refund of interest received
Negative goodwill—net
Deferred tax liabilities (Note 15)
Other (Note 17.a)

Total long-term liabilities

MINORITY INTERESTS (Note 2.n)

COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENT LIABILITIES (Notes 17, 18 and 19)

EQUITY (Notes 12 and 23.b):
Common stock—authorized, 2,400,000,000 shares; 
Issued:  2006 — 725,409,348

2007 — 800,208,044
Capital surplus
Stock acquisition rights
Retained earnings
Unrealized gain on available-for-sale securities
Deferred gain (loss) on derivatives under hedge accounting
Foreign currency translation adjustments
Treasury stock—at cost, 545,697 shares 
in 2006 and 633,550 shares in 2007

Total
Minority interests

Total equity
TOTAL

See notes to consolidated financial statements.

¥  106,713
122,046

1,892

498,424
64,498
64,383
41,737
63,162
6,810
2,475

89,613
1,061,757

629,080
163,789

14,563
40,444
8,670

224
64,657
9,821

27,241
958,492

232,280

101,798
167,710

376,532
28,028

2,845

(763)

676,151
¥2,928,682

’06

Millions of Yen
Thousands of

U.S. Dollars (Note 1)

’07’07

¥   104,979
178,946

2,501

517,469
96,216
74,369
57,854
77,894
3,209
3,776

114,916
1,232,134

769,062
209,105

11,911
48,690
8,794
6,989

17,046
29,826

1,101,427

198,791
264,704

305
419,438
23,547

(135)
7,139

(848)
912,943
287,840

1,200,783
¥3,534,346

$  874,829
1,491,224

20,847

4,312,244
801,804
619,742
482,122
649,118
26,745
31,473

957,636
10,267,790

6,408,858
1,742,542

99,258
405,756
73,290
58,246

142,052
248,558

9,178,562

1,656,595
2,205,871

2,543
3,495,324

196,229
(1,128)
59,493

(7,068)
7,607,861
2,398,670

10,006,531
$29,452,885
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ÆON CO., LTD. and consolidated subsidiaries

Consolidated statements of income
Years Ended February 20, 2005, 2006 and 2007

REVENUES:

Net sales

Rental and other revenues (Note 17.b)

Total revenues

COST OF SALES

Gross profit

SELLING, GENERAL AND ADMINISTRATIVE EXPENSES

Operating income

OTHER INCOME (EXPENSES):

Interest and dividend income

Amortization of negative goodwill—net (Note 3)

Interest expense

Foreign exchange gain (loss)—net

Gain on reversal of allowance for doubtful accounts

Loss on impairment of long-lived assets (Notes 6, 17.a and 22)

Other—net (Note 14)

Other expenses—net

INCOME BEFORE INCOME TAXES AND MINORITY INTERESTS

INCOME TAXES (Note 15):

Current

Deferred

Total income taxes

MINORITY INTERESTS IN NET INCOME

NET INCOME

PER SHARE OF COMMON STOCK (Notes 2.v and 20):

Basic net income

Diluted net income

Cash dividends applicable to the year

See notes to consolidated financial statements.

¥3,813,635

382,208

4,195,843

2,782,590

1,413,253

1,266,476

146,777

2,191

9,150

(6,929)

(159)

1,259

(15,465)

(9,953)

136,823

43,589

5,687

49,277

25,479

¥     62,066

¥88.71

88.64

12.00

¥4,040,600

389,684

4,430,285

2,895,595

1,534,690

1,368,584

166,105

2,939

8,452

(6,601)

408

11,685

(83,335)

589

(65,861)

100,244

61,531

(17,963)

43,568

27,743

¥     28,932

¥39.61

39.56

15.00

¥4,345,308

479,466

4,824,775

3,086,681

1,738,093

1,548,365

189,728

4,998

3,865

(10,801)

588

822

(32,804)

(2,631)

(35,962)

153,765

82,934

(21,156)

61,778

34,331

¥     57,656

¥77.31

77.30

15.00

$36,210,903

3,995,557

40,206,460

25,722,347

14,484,112

12,903,045

1,581,067

41,655

32,213

(90,016)

4,901

6,857

(273,371)

(21,929)

(299,688)

1,281,378

691,120

(176,303)

514,816

286,091

$     480,469

$0.64

0.64

0.13

’06’05

Millions of Yen
Thousands of

U.S. Dollars (Note 1)

’07’07

’06’05

Millions of Yen
Thousands of

U.S. Dollars (Note 1)

’07’07
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BALANCE, FEBRUARY 20, 2004
Net income
Cash dividends, ¥22 per share
Bonuses to directors and corporate auditors
Issuance of common stock (Note 12) 
Stock split (Note 12)
Purchase of treasury stock 
Disposal of treasury stock
Net decrease in unrealized gain on 
available-for-sale securities

Net change in foreign currency 
translation adjustments

Adjustment of retained earnings due to 
sale of an associated company

Other
BALANCE, FEBRUARY 20, 2005

Net income
Cash dividends, ¥12 per share
Bonuses to directors and corporate auditors
Purchase of treasury stock 
Net increase in unrealized gain on 
available-for-sale securities

Net change in foreign currency 
translation adjustments

Other
BALANCE, FEBRUARY 20, 2006

Reclassified balance as of 
February 20, 2006 (Note 2.n)

Net income
Cash dividends, ¥15 per share
Bonuses to directors and corporate auditors
Issuance of common stock (Note 12)
Purchase of treasury stock 
Disposal of treasury stock
Decrease due to change in interests in 
consolidated subsidiaries

Issuance of stock acquisition rights
Exercise of stock acquisition rights
Other
Net change in the year

BALANCE, FEBRUARY 20, 2007

BALANCE, FEBRUARY 20, 2006
Reclassified balance as of February 20, 2006 (Note 2.n)
Net income
Cash dividends, $0.1 per share
Bonuses to directors and corporate auditors
Issuance of common stock (Note 12) 
Purchase of treasury stock
Disposal of treasury stock
Decrease due to change in interests 
in consolidated subsidiaries

Issuance of stock acquisition rights
Exercise of stock acquisition rights
Other
Net change in the year

BALANCE, FEBRUARY 20, 2007

See notes to consolidated financial statements.

¥(687)

(39)
5

(721)

(43)

(763)

(85)
1

¥ (848)

$(6,366)

(711)
9 

$(7,068)

¥479,090
62,066
(7,326)

(251)
100,974

(39)
7

(1,731)

(2,181)

643
770

632,022
28,932
(8,698)

(260)
(43)

15,574

8,068
554

676,151

57,656
(10,872)

(322)
193,985

(85)
2

(4,004)
321
(16)
449

(323)
¥912,943

$5,634,598 

480,469 
(90,607)
(2,685)

1,616,549 
(711)

18 

(33,367)
2,677
(133)

3,749 
(2,693)

$7,607,861 

¥479,090
62,066
(7,326)

(251)
100,974

(39)
7

(1,731)

(2,181)

643
770

632,022
28,932
(8,698)

(260)
(43)

15,574

8,068
554

676,151

232,280
57,656

(10,872)
(322)

193,985
(85)

2

(4,004)
321
(16)
449

55,236
¥1,200,783

$  5,634,598 
1,935,672 

480,469 
(90,607)
(2,685)

1,616,549 
(711)

18 

(33,367)
2,677
(133)

3,749
460,303

$10,006,531 

¥321
(16)

¥305

$2,677
(133)

$2,543 

232,280

55,559
¥287,840

$1,935,672 

462,997 
$2,398,670 

¥(3,041)

(2,181)

(5,222)

8,068

2,845

4,293
¥7,139

$23,714 

35,779 
$59,493 

¥14,185

(1,731)

12,454

15,574

28,028

(4,481)
¥23,547

$233,573 

(37,344)
$196,229 

¥ (135)
¥ (135)

$(1,128)
$(1,128)

¥300,101
62,066
(7,326)

(251)

643
770

356,004
28,932
(8,698)

(260)

554
376,532

57,656
(10,872)

(322)

(4,004)

449

¥419,438

$3,137,767 

480,469 
(90,607)
(2,685)

(33,367)
$2,677

$3,495,324 

¥117,235

50,472

2

167,710

167,710

96,992

¥264,704

$1,397,587 

808,274 

8 

$2,205,871 

¥51,296

50,501

101,798

101,798

96,992

¥198,791

$   848,320 

808,274 

$1,656,595 

333,021

29,430
362,451

(18)
3

724,887

(24)

724,863

74,798
(88)

799,574

Outstanding
Number of 
Shares of

Common Stock

Common
Stock

Capital
Surplus

Retained
Earnings

Unrealized Gain
on Available-

for-sale
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OPERATING ACTIVITIES:
Income before income taxes and minority interests
Adjustments for:

Income taxes—paid
Payment for the transfer to the defined contribution pension plan and other
Depreciation and amortization
Amortization of negative goodwill—net
Foreign exchange loss (gain)—net
Equity in (earnings) losses of associated companies
Gain on sales of property, buildings and equipment
Loss on disposals and sales of property, buildings and equipment
Loss on impairment of long-lived assets
Net gain on sales of securities
Gain on forgiveness of debt under reorganization proceedings of subsidiary
Loss on amendment to pension plans
Changes in assets and liabilities, net of effects 
from newly consolidated subsidiaries:

Decrease (increase) in notes and accounts receivable—trade
Increase in installment receivable
Increase in financial loan receivable
Decrease (increase) in merchandise inventories
Increase in notes and accounts payable—trade
Increase in allowance for doubtful accounts
Increase in liability for retirement benefits
Increase (decrease) in provision for store closing expenses
Increase in allowance for loss on refund of interest received
Other assets and liabilities

Other—net
Total adjustments
Net cash provided by operating activities

INVESTING ACTIVITIES:
Purchases of marketable securities
Proceeds from sales of marketable securities
Purchases of property, buildings and equipment
Proceeds from sales of property, buildings and equipment
Purchases of investment securities
Proceeds from sales of investment securities
Cash (paid) received in conjunction with 
the purchases of consolidated subsidiaries (Note 16.b)

Proceeds from (payments for) sales of consolidated subsidiaries (Note 16.c)
Payments for fixed leasehold deposits to lessors
Collection of fixed leasehold deposits to lessors
Proceeds from lease deposits from lessees
Repayments of lease deposits from lessees
Other—net

Net cash used in investing activities
FINANCING ACTIVITIES:

Net increase (decrease) in short-term borrowings
Proceeds from long-term debt
Repayments of long-term debt
Proceeds from issuance of common stock
Repayments of secured and unsecured 
obligations under reorganization proceedings of subsidiaries

Proceeds from issuance of subsidiaries’ stock to minority shareholders
Repurchase of subsidiaries’ stock from minority shareholders
Dividends paid to shareholders
Dividends paid to minority shareholders
Other—net

Net cash provided by financing activities
FOREIGN CURRENCY TRANSLATION ADJUSTMENTS ON 
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

NET INCREASE (DECREASE) IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS, BEGINNING OF YEAR
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS OF NEWLY CONSOLIDATED 
SUBSIDIARIES, BEGINNING OF YEAR

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS, END OF YEAR (Note 16.a)

See notes to consolidated financial statements.

¥ 136,823

(43,222)
(39,155)
102,639

(9,150)
138

(2,735)
(3,117)
5,098

(6,518)
(1,540)
7,006

(3,900)
(43,850)
(62,007)
(21,245)

3,751
24,763
4,372
3,945

9,175
7,818

(67,734)
69,089

(5,000)
3,760

(174,817)
38,828
(5,578)
16,681

(2,427)
(1,538)

(24,186)
27,612
19,673

(15,984)
(2,214)

(125,190)

(43,583)
156,085
(82,832)
100,210

(60,061)
7,111

(6,493)
(7,326)
(5,195)
(8,125)
49,787

(1,042)
(7,356)

281,723

¥ 274,366

¥ 100,244

(50,900)

103,871
(8,452)

9
(2,040)
(1,399)
3,111

83,335
(2,670)
(5,391)

2,028
(36,839)
(86,017)

9,681
3,738

19,061
5,235
4,222

224
(10,555)

6,558
36,810

137,054

(5,000)
6,102

(199,182)
24,194

(13,078)
5,699

(8,273)
51

(25,209)
36,899
19,132

(12,958)
4,829

(166,793)

24,009
215,112

(138,763)

(48,353)
909

(2,485)
(8,698)
(5,903)

(42)
35,785

4,974
11,020

274,366

¥ 285,387

¥ 153,765

(75,417)

122,663
(3,865)

(2)
5,226

(2,552)
5,663

32,804
(7,950)

(7,041)
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(76,497)
(23,825)

8,212
39,648
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(3,956)
5,335

20,209
6,768
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(3,205)
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(244,892)
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(364,248)

(16,215)
283,646
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193,096

(2,951)
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(233)
(10,872)
(8,284)
11,407

314,348

2,399
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285,387

3,320
¥ 382,851

$ 1,281,378

(628,482)
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(32,213)
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43,553

(21,267)
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(545,032)
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(198,548)
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(2,040,772)
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ÆON CO., LTD. and consolidated subsidiaries

Consolidated statements of cash flows
Years Ended February 20, 2005, 2006 and 2007



1. Basis of presenting consolidated 
financial statements

The accompanying consolidated financial statements have been pre-
pared in accordance with the provisions set forth in the Japanese
Securities and Exchange Law and its related accounting regulations,
and in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in
Japan, which are different in certain respects as to application and
disclosure requirements of International Financial Reporting
Standards and accounting principles generally accepted in the
United States of America (“U.S. GAAP”).

On December 27, 2005, the Accounting Standard Board of Japan
(“ASBJ”) published a new accounting standard for the statement of
changes in equity, which is effective for fiscal years ending on or after
May 1, 2006. The consolidated statement of shareholders’ equity,
which was previously voluntarily prepared in line with the internation-
al accounting practices, is now required under generally accepted
accounting principles in Japan and has been renamed “the statement
of changes in equity” for the fiscal year ended February 20, 2007.

Japanese yen figures less than a million yen are rounded down to
the nearest million yen, except for per share data.

In preparing these consolidated financial statements, certain
reclassifications and rearrangements have been made to the consoli-
dated financial statements issued domestically in order to present
them in a form which is more familiar to readers outside Japan. In
addition, certain reclassifications have been made in the 2005 and 2006
financial statements to conform to the classifications used in 2007.

The consolidated financial statements are stated in Japanese yen,
the currency of the country in which ÆON CO., LTD. (the “Company”)
is incorporated and operates. The translation of Japanese yen
amounts into U.S. dollar amounts is included solely for the conven-
ience of readers outside Japan and has been made at the rate of ¥120
to $1, the approximate rate of exchange at February 20, 2007. Such
translation should not be construed as representation that the
Japanese yen amounts could be converted into U.S. dollars at that or
any other rate.

U.S. dollar figures less than a thousand dollars are rounded down
to the nearest thousand dollars, except for per share data.

2. Summary of significant 
accounting policies

a. Consolidation—The consolidated financial statements as of February
20, 2007 include the accounts of the Company and its 129 significant (129
in 2005 and 130 in 2006) subsidiaries (together, the “Group”).

Under the control or influence concept, those companies in
which the Company, directly or indirectly, is able to exercise control
over operations are fully consolidated, and those companies over
which the Group has the ability to exercise significant influence are
accounted for by the equity method.

Investments in 25 (26 in 2005 and 27 in 2006) associated compa-
nies are accounted for by the equity method.

Investments in 1 (4 in 2005 and 3 in 2006) unconsolidated sub-
sidiary and 1 associated company in 2005, 2006 and 2007 are stated at
cost. If the equity method of accounting had been applied to the
investments in these companies, the effect on the accompanying
consolidated financial statements would not be material.

The differences between the cost of an acquisition and the fair
value of the net assets of the acquired subsidiary at the date of acqui-
sition are amortized within 20 years (estimated effective period) for
the Company and consolidated domestic subsidiaries. Goodwill held
by consolidated subsidiaries in the United States of America (“U.S.
subsidiaries”) are not amortized, but instead are evaluated for impair-
ment at least annually in accordance with U.S. GAAP.

Goodwill recorded upon the acquisition of ORIGIN TOSHU CO.,
LTD. of ¥41,903 million ($349,195 thousand) and Diamond City Co.,
Ltd. of ¥55,625 million ($463,543 thousand) are amortized over a peri-
od of 20 years. Negative goodwill recorded upon the acquisition of
MYCAL CORPORATION (“MYCAL”) of ¥95,763 million is amortized
over a period of 9 years. 

Goodwill recorded upon the acquisition of The J.Jill Group, Inc.
by The Talbots, Inc. of $211,977 thousand is not amortized in accor-
dance with U.S. GAAP.

All significant intercompany balances and transactions have been
eliminated in consolidation. All material unrealized profit included in
assets resulting from transactions within the Group is eliminated.

b. Cash equivalents on the consolidated balance sheets—Cash
equivalents on the consolidated balance sheets are short-term invest-
ments that are readily convertible into cash and that are exposed to
insignificant risk of changes in value.

Cash equivalents include time deposits, certificate of deposits,
commercial paper and bond funds, all of which mature or become
due within three months of the date of acquisition.

c. Merchandise inventories—Substantially all merchandise invento-
ries of the Company and consolidated subsidiaries are stated at cost
determined by the retail method. Other inventories of certain consoli-
dated subsidiaries are stated at cost determined by the moving-aver-
age method.

d. Marketable and investment securities—Marketable and invest-
ment securities are classified and accounted for, depending on man-
agement’s intent, as follows: (1) held-to-maturity debt securities,
which are expected to be held to maturity with the positive intent and
ability to hold to maturity are reported at amortized cost, and (2) avail-
able-for-sale securities are reported at fair value, with unrealized
gains and losses, net of applicable taxes, reported in a separate com-
ponent of equity.

Non-marketable available-for-sale securities are stated at cost
determined by the moving-average method.

For other than temporary declines in fair value, investment secu-
rities are reduced to net realizable value by a charge to income.

e. Allowance for doubtful accounts—The allowance for doubtful
accounts is stated in amounts considered to be appropriate based on
the past credit loss experience and an evaluation of potential losses in
receivables and other assets such as fixed leasehold deposits to lessors.
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f. Property, buildings and equipment—Property, buildings and
equipment are stated at cost. Depreciation of property, buildings and
equipment is computed under the straight-line method based on the
estimated useful lives of the assets. The range of useful lives is prin-
cipally from 20 to 39 years for store buildings, from 38 to 50 years for
office buildings, from 3 to 20 years for structures, from 2 to 20 years
for furniture and fixtures, and from 4 to 6 years for vehicles.
Accumulated depreciation of property, buildings and equipment at
February 20, 2006 and 2007 were ¥700,681 million and ¥786,227 million
($6,551,897 thousand).

g. Intangible assets—Intangible assets are carried at cost less accu-
mulated amortization. Amortization of intangible assets of the Group
is calculated by the straight-line method except for intangible assets
with indefinite useful lives held by U.S. subsidiaries. Software is
amortized mainly over 5 years. Intangible assets with indefinite lives
held by U.S. subsidiaries, such as trademarks of $156,105 thousand
are not amortized, but instead are evaluated for impairment at least
annually in accordance with U.S. GAAP.

h. Long-lived assets—In August 2002, the Business Accounting
Council (BAC) issued a Statement of Opinion, “Accounting for
Impairment of Fixed Assets,” and in October 2003, ASBJ issued ASBJ
Guidance No. 6, “Guidance for Accounting Standard for Impairment
of Fixed Assets.” These new pronouncements were effective for fiscal
years beginning on or after April 1, 2005 with early adoption permit-
ted for fiscal years ending on or after March 31, 2004.

The Company and consolidated domestic subsidiaries adopted
the new accounting standard for impairment of fixed assets as of
February 21, 2005. The Company and consolidated domestic sub-
sidiaries reviews its long-lived assets for impairment whenever
events or changes in circumstance indicate the carrying amount of
an asset or asset group may not be recoverable. An impairment loss
would be recognized if the carrying amount of an asset or asset
group exceeds the sum of the undiscounted future cash flows
expected to result from the continued use and eventual disposition
of the asset or asset group. The impairment loss would be meas-
ured as the amount by which the carrying amount of the asset
exceeds its recoverable amount, which is the higher of the dis-
counted cash flows from the continued use and eventual disposi-
tion of the asset or the net selling price at disposition. Consolidated
foreign subsidiaries have previously adopted similar impairment
accounting standards. 

The effect of adoption of the new accounting standard for impair-
ment of fixed assets was to increase operating income by ¥10,148 mil-
lion and to decrease income before income taxes and minority inter-
ests by ¥72,379 million for the year ended February 20, 2006.

i. Stock issue costs—Stock issue costs are amortized by the straight-
line method over 3 years. Stock issue costs at February 20, 2006 and
2007 which are included in investments and other assets–other are
¥257 million and ¥1,063 million ($8,863 thousand).

j. Provision for store closing expenses—The provision for store clos-
ing expenses, such as rental agreement cancellation penalties and
facility restoration costs, is recognized at the time when a decision to

close a store is made by management and such expenses are reason-
ably estimated.

k. Retirement and pension plans—The Company and certain consoli-
dated domestic subsidiaries have a defined benefit pension plan,
advance payment plan and defined contribution pension plan cover-
ing substantially all employees.

U.S. subsidiaries have a contributory funded defined benefit
pension plan and defined contribution pension plan covering sub-
stantially all employees.

Liability for employees’ retirement benefits are accounted for
based on the projected benefit obligations and plan assets at the bal-
ance sheet date.

Retirement allowances for directors and corporate auditors are
provided by certain domestic subsidiaries and included in liability for
retirement benefits to state the liability at the amount that would be
required if all directors and corporate auditors retired at each bal-
ance sheet date.

l. Allowance for loss on refund of interest received—The allowance
for loss on refund of interest received (the amount of interest that
exceeds the ceiling rate imposed by the Interest Rate Restriction
Law) is provided by the consolidated financial services subsidiaries
and is stated in amounts considered to be appropriate based on the
subsidiaries’ past refund experiences.

In October 2006, “Application of auditing for provision of
allowance for loss for reclaimed refund of interest in the accounting
of consumer finance companies” of the industry audit practice com-
mittee report No. 37 by the Japanese Institute of Certified Public
Accountants was issued and was adopted at the beginning of the fis-
cal year ended February 20, 2007.

The effect of adoption of this report was to decrease income
before income taxes and minority interests by ¥2,402 million ($20,020
thousand) and to reclassify allowance for doubtful accounts to
allowance for loss on refund of interest received by ¥1,430 million
($11,919 thousand).

m. Allowance for point program—The allowance for the point pro-
gram is stated in amounts considered to be appropriate based on the
companies’ past redemption experience.

n. Presentation of equity—On December 9, 2005, the ASBJ published
a new accounting standard for presentation of equity.

Under this accounting standard, certain items which were previ-
ously presented as liabilities are now presented as components of
equity. Such items include stock acquisition rights, minority inter-
ests, and any deferred gain or loss on derivatives under hedge
accounting.

This standard is effective for fiscal years ending on or after May
1, 2006.

o. Leases—All leases of the Company and consolidated domestic
subsidiaries are accounted for as operating leases. Under Japanese
accounting standards for leases, finance leases that deem to transfer
ownership of the leased property to the lessee are to be capitalized,
while other finance leases are permitted to be accounted for as oper-



ating lease transactions if certain “as if capitalized” information is
disclosed in the notes to the lessee’s financial statements.

As described in Note 2.h, the Company and consolidated domestic
subsidiaries adopted the new accounting standards for impairment of
fixed assets as of February 21, 2005 and an allowance for impairment
loss on leased property held under finance leases that do not transfer
ownership was included in other current liabilities and long-term liabili-
ties-other in the balance sheets as of February 20, 2006 and 2007. 

p. Income taxes—The provision for income taxes is computed based
on the pretax income included in the consolidated statements of
income. The asset and liability approach is used to recognize
deferred tax assets and liabilities for the expected future tax conse-
quences of temporary differences between the carrying amounts and
the tax bases of assets and liabilities. Deferred taxes are measured by
applying currently enacted tax laws to the temporary differences. A
valuation allowance is provided for any portion of the deferred tax
assets that is not considered to be realizable.

q. Advertising costs—Advertising costs which are expensed as
incurred and included in selling, general and administrative expense
were ¥80,635 million, ¥88,086 million and ¥101,365 million ($844,712 thou-
sand) for the years ended February 20, 2005, 2006 and 2007, respectively.

r. Appropriations of retained earnings—Appropriations of retained
earnings are reflected in the financial statements for the following
year upon approval by the shareholders.

s. Foreign currency transactions—All short-term and long-term
monetary receivables and payables denominated in foreign curren-
cies are translated into Japanese yen at the exchange rates at each
balance sheet date. The foreign exchange gains and losses from
translation are recognized in the statements of income to the extent
that they are not hedged by forward exchange contracts.

t. Foreign currency financial statements—The balance sheet
accounts of the consolidated foreign subsidiaries are translated into
Japanese yen at the current exchange rate as of each balance sheet
date except for equity, which is translated at the historical rate.
Differences arising from such translation were shown as “Foreign
currency translation adjustments” in a separate component of equity.

Revenue and expense accounts of consolidated foreign sub-
sidiaries are translated into yen at the average exchange rate.

u. Derivatives and hedging activities—The Group uses derivative
financial instruments to manage its exposures to fluctuations in for-
eign currency exchange and interest rates. Derivative financial instru-
ments are comprised principally of foreign exchange forward con-
tracts, currency swaps and interest rate swaps utilized by the Group to
reduce foreign currency exchange and interest rate risks. The Group
does not enter into derivatives for trading or speculative purposes.

Derivative financial instruments and foreign currency transac-
tions are classified and accounted for as follows: (a) all derivatives
are recognized as either assets or liabilities and measured at fair
value, and gain or loss on derivative transactions are recognized in
the statements of income and (b) for derivatives used for hedging

purposes, if derivatives qualify for hedge accounting because of high
correlation and effectiveness between the hedging instruments and
the hedged items, gain or loss on derivatives are deferred until matu-
rity of the hedged transactions.

Receivables and payables denominated in foreign currencies are
translated at the contracted rates if the forward contracts qualify for
hedge accounting. Gain and loss related to qualifying hedges of firm
commitments or anticipated transactions are deferred and recog-
nized in income or loss when the hedged transaction occurs.

Long-term debt denominated in foreign currencies for which
currency swaps are used to hedge the foreign currency fluctuations
are translated at the contracted rate if the forward contracts qualify
for hedge accounting.

Interest rate swaps are utilized to hedge interest rate exposures
of long-term debt. In principle, these swaps which qualify for hedge
accounting are measured at market value at the balance sheet date
and the unrealized gain or loss, net of applicable taxes are deferred
until maturity as “Deferred Gain (Loss) on Derivatives under Hedge
Accounting” in a separate component of equity.

Interest rate swaps which qualify for hedge accounting and meet
specific matching criteria are exceptionally not remeasured at market
value but the differential paid or received under the swap agreements
are recognized and included in interest expenses or income.

v. Per share information—Basic net income per share is computed
by dividing net income available to common shareholders by the
weighted-average number of common shares outstanding for the
period, retroactively adjusted for stock splits. On October 18, 2004, the
Company made a stock split by way of a free share distribution at the
rate of 2 shares for each outstanding share. The weighted-average
number of common shares used in the computation was 697,568 thou-
sand shares for 2005, 724,875 thousand shares for 2006 and 745,767
thousand shares for 2007. 

Diluted net income per share reflects the potential dilution that
could occur if securities were exercised or converted into common
stock. Diluted net income per share of common stock assumes full
conversion of the outstanding convertible bonds at the beginning of
the year (or at the time of issuance) with an applicable adjustment for
related interest expense, net of tax and full exercise of outstanding
stock acquisition rights.

Cash dividends per share presented in the accompanying con-
solidated statements of income are dividends applicable to the
respective years including dividends to be paid after the end of the
year, retroactively adjusted for stock splits.

w. New accounting pronouncements
Measurement of inventories
Under generally accepted accounting principles in Japan (“Japanese
GAAP”), inventories are currently measured either by the cost method,
or at the lower of cost or market. On July 5, 2006, the ASBJ issued
ASBJ Statement No. 9, “Accounting Standard for Measurement of
Inventories”, which is effective for fiscal years beginning on or after
April 1, 2008 with early adoption permitted. This standard requires that
inventories held for sale in the ordinary course of business be meas-
ured at the lower of cost or net selling value, which is defined as the
selling price less additional estimated manufacturing costs and esti-

ÆON ANNUAL REPORT 2007 41



42 ÆON ANNUAL REPORT 2007

mated direct selling expenses. The replacement cost may be used in
place of the net selling value, if appropriate. The standard also
requires that inventories held for trading purposes be measured at the
market price.

Lease accounting
On March 31, 2007, the ASBJ issued ASBJ Statement No. 13, “Accounting
Standard for Lease Transactions”, which revised the existing account-
ing standard for lease transactions issued on June 17, 1993.

Under the existing accounting standard, finance leases that deem
to transfer ownership of the leased property to the lessee are to be cap-
italized, however, other finance leases are permitted to be accounted
for as operating lease transactions if certain “as if capitalized” informa-
tion is disclosed in the note to the lessee’s financial statements.

The revised accounting standard requires that all finance lease
transactions should be capitalized. The revised accounting standard
for lease transactions is effective for fiscal years beginning on or
after April 1, 2008 with early adoption permitted for fiscal years begin-
ning on or after April 1, 2007. See Note 17 to the consolidated finan-
cial statements for the disclosure information of the Company and
consolidated subsidiaries.

Unification of accounting policies applied to foreign subsidiaries
for the consolidated financial statements
Under Japanese GAAP, a company currently can use the financial
statements of foreign subsidiaries which are prepared in accordance
with generally accepted accounting principles in their respective
jurisdictions for its consolidation process unless they are clearly
unreasonable. On May 17, 2006, the ASBJ issued ASBJ Practical
Issues Task Force (PITF) No. 18, “Practical Solution on Unification of
Accounting Policies Applied to Foreign Subsidiaries for the
Consolidated Financial Statements.” The new task force prescribes: 1)
the accounting policies and procedures applied to a parent company
and its subsidiaries for similar transactions and events under similar
circumstances should in principle be unified for the preparation of
the consolidated financial statements, 2) financial statements pre-
pared by foreign subsidiaries in accordance with either International
Financial Reporting Standards or the generally accepted accounting
principles in the United States tentatively may be used for the consoli-
dation process, 3) however, the following items should be adjusted in
the consolidation process so that net income is accounted for in
accordance with Japanese GAAP unless they are not material;

(1) Amortization of goodwill
(2) Actuarial gains and losses of defined benefit plans recog-

nized outside profit or loss
(3) Capitalization of intangible assets arising from development phases
(4) Fair value measurement of investment properties, and the

revaluation model for property, plant and equipment, and
intangible assets

(5) Retrospective application when accounting policies are changed
(6) Accounting for net income attributable to a minority interest

The new task force is effective for fiscal years beginning on or after
April 1, 2008 with early adoption permitted.

The Company invested ¥122,037 million ($1,016,982 thousand) to
acquire 95% of the issued share of ORIGIN TOSHU CO., LTD.
through tender offering in March 2006 and 32% of the issued share of
Diamond City Co., Ltd., which was the associated company of the
Company, in May 2006. Goodwill of ¥41,903 million ($349,195 thou-
sand) in connection with the acquisition of ORIGIN TOSHU CO.,
LTD. and goodwill of ¥55,625 million ($463,543 thousand) in connec-
tion with the acquisition of Diamond City Co., Ltd. are being amor-
tized over a period of 20 years.

The Company’s consolidated subsidiary The Talbots, Inc. invest-
ed $524,391 thousand to acquire 100% of the issued share of The J.Jill
Group, Inc. in May 2006. Goodwill of $211,977 thousand in connection
with the acquisition of The J.Jill Group, Inc. are not amortized, but
instead are evaluated for impairment at least annually in accordance
with U.S. GAAP. 

Installment and financial loans are operating receivables of the con-
solidated financial services subsidiaries.

During the years ended February 20, 2006 and 2007, the consoli-
dated financial services subsidiaries securitized a part of those
receivables and subsequently transferred the cash flow interests in
those assets mainly to unconsolidated special purpose entities in
total of ¥56,885 million and ¥40,217 million ($335,141 thousand),
respectively.

Some of the interests in the securitized financial assets are retained
in the form of seller or subordinated tranches (“remaining interests”),
which are recorded as installment or financial loan receivables.

The remaining interests included in receivables as of February 20,
2006 and 2007 were as follows:

Receivables:
Installment ¥  3,098 ¥   342 $  2,850
Financial loan 12,163 6,787 56,558

Total ¥15,261 ¥7,129 $59,408

Thousands of
Millions of Yen U.S. Dollars

’06 ’07 ’07

4. Receivables

3. Acquisitions
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Marketable and investment securities as of February 20, 2006 and 2007
consisted of the following:

5. Marketable and investment securities

Securities classified as:
Available-for-sale:

Equity securities
Debt securities
Other

Held-to-maturity debt securities

¥ 39,413
6,032

988
991

¥ 51,993

16

¥ (1,963)
(25)
(36)
(4)

¥ 89,444
6,007

968
986

Millions of Yen

Unrealized Unrealized Fair
February 20, 2006 Cost Gains Losses Value

Thousands of
Millions of Yen U.S. Dollars

’06 ’07 ’07

Current–Government and corporate bonds
Non-current:

Equity securities
Government and corporate bonds
Other

Total

¥   5,975

¥ 96,541
1,023

968
¥ 98,533

$   37,320

$ 775,961
4,452
7,007

$ 787,421

¥   4,478

¥ 93,115
534
840

¥ 94,490

Securities classified as:
Available-for-sale:

Equity securities
Debt securities
Other

Held-to-maturity debt securities

¥ 42,632
4,030

389
990

¥ 45,250

22

¥ (2,037)
(11)
(31)
(3)

¥ 85,845
4,019

380
986

Millions of Yen

Unrealized Unrealized Fair
February 20, 2007 Cost Gains Losses Value

The carrying amounts and aggregate fair values of marketable and investment securities at February 20, 2006 and 2007 were as follows:

Securities classified as:
Available-for-sale:

Equity securities
Debt securities
Other

Held-to-maturity debt securities

$355,268
33,590
3,242
8,255

$377,088
1

189

$(16,976)
(92)

(262)
(31)

$715,381
33,499
3,169
8,223

Thousands of U.S. Dollars

Unrealized Unrealized Fair
February 20, 2007 Cost Gains Losses Value



44 ÆON ANNUAL REPORT 2007

6. Long-lived assets

The Group reviewed its long-lived assets for impairment as for the years ended February 20, 2006 and 2007 and, as a result, recognized an impairment
loss of ¥83,335 million and ¥32,804 million ($273,371 thousand) on the following group of long-lived assets, respectively.

a. General merchandise store and other retail store operations

(Japan)

Land, buildings and
Northern Japan

Stores
structures and others

Kanto
Chubu
Western Japan

Stores
Buildings and
structures and others Foreign countries

Land, buildings and
(Japan)

Idle assets
structures and others

Kanto and others
Chubu and others

Total

$   76,531
42,607
58,353
61,544

1,250

3,001
$ 243,288

¥   9,183
5,112
7,002
7,385

150

360
¥ 29,194

52
132
56
62

183

15
500

¥ 13,092
17,628
12,207
31,406

843

1,652

¥ 76,829

101
166
86

177

57

14

601

Number of Number of Thousands of
Use Type of Assets Location Asset Groups Millions of Yen Asset Groups Millions of Yen U.S. Dollars

’06 ’07 ’07

Proceeds, gross realized gains and losses on sales of available-for-sale securities for the years ended February 20, 2005, 2006 and 2007 were as follows:

Thousands of
Millions of Yen U.S. Dollars

’05 ’06 ’07 ’07

Proceeds
Gross realized gains
Gross realized losses

$92,188
66,295

(41)

¥11,062
7,955

(4)

¥1,646
785
(27)

¥1,259
220

(0)

The carrying values of debt securities by contractual maturities for securities classified as available-for-sale and held-to-maturity at February 20, 2007 are
as follows:

Thousands of
Millions of Yen U.S. Dollars

Due in one year or less
Due after one year through five years
Due after ten years
Total

$37,320
4,312

121
$41,754

¥4,478
517
14

¥5,010

Available-for-sale securities whose fair value is not readily determinable as of February 20, 2006 and 2007 were mainly as follows:
Carrying Amount

Thousands of
Millions of Yen U.S. Dollars

’06 ’07 ’07

Available-for-sale – Equity securities ¥7,096 $60,580¥7,269
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b. Specialty store operations

(Japan)

Buildings and
Northern Japan

Stores
structures and others

Kanto
Chubu
Western Japan

Stores
Buildings and
structures and others Foreign countries

Idle assets Land Western Japan
Total

Number of Number of Thousands of
Use Type of Assets Location Asset Groups Millions of Yen Asset Groups Millions of Yen U.S. Dollars

’06 ’07 ’07

57
131
57

100

6

351

¥   419
1,359

467
1,518

44

¥ 3,808

19
182
20
36

4
261

¥   216
1,397

478
593

3
¥2,689

$   1,800
11,643
3,989
4,947

29
$ 22,411

c. SC development operations

(Japan)
Stores

Land, buildings and
Kanto

structures and others
Chubu

Stores Land Kanto

Idle assets
Land, building and
structures and others Chubu and others

Total

Number of Number of Thousands of
Use Type of Assets Location Asset Groups Millions of Yen Asset Groups Millions of Yen U.S. Dollars

’06 ’07 ’07

1
1

5
7

¥ 1,303
247

622
¥ 2,173

1

1

¥ 579

¥ 579

$ 4,826

$ 4,826

d. Service and other operations

(Japan)

Buildings and
Northern Japan

Stores
structures and others

Kanto
Chubu
Western Japan

Idle assets Land Northern Japan
Total

Number of Number of Thousands of
Use Type of Assets Location Asset Groups Millions of Yen Asset Groups Millions of Yen U.S. Dollars

’06 ’07 ’07

10
25
18
36
3

92

¥   62
179
78

176
25

¥ 523

11
28
11
31

81

¥  14
156
70
99

¥ 341

$   124
1,302

591
825

$ 2,843

The Group mainly categorizes stores as standard unit, which is the
minimum cash-generating unit, and idle assets as individual inde-
pendent units. 

The book value of the stores which incurred or expected to incur
continuous operating losses and idle assets which are not scheduled
to be used were reduced to recoverable amounts, and such deducted
amount was recorded as impairment loss as other expenses. 

The recoverable amount of the asset groups are measured as net
selling price or value in use. 

The net selling price for land are measured based on evaluations
based on real estate appraisal value or assessed value of fixed assets.
The net selling price for other assets are measured on a best esti-
mate based on past transaction cases. The value in use is based on
the present values of expected cash flows with the discount rate. The
discount rates for fiscal years ended February 2006 and 2007 were
2.1% to 10.0% and 2.1% to 10.4%, respectively.
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Short-term borrowings at February 20, 2006 and 2007 consisted of the following:

8. Short-term borrowings and long-term debt

Thousands of
Millions of Yen U.S. Dollars

’06 ’07 ’07

Short-term loans principally from banks,
0.263% to 6.67% (2006) and 0.46% to 9.25% (2007)

Bank overdraft, 6.5% to 7.5% (2006) and 0.846% to 7.1% (2007)
Commercial papers, 0.038% to 0.27% (2006) and 0.58% to 0.79% (2007)
Total

¥   95,421
292

11,000
¥ 106,713

$ 794,659
30,170
50,000

$ 874,829

¥   95,359
3,620
6,000

¥ 104,979

7. Fixed leasehold deposits to lessors

The Company and certain consolidated subsidiaries (“Companies”)
have securitized certain amounts of fixed leasehold deposits to
lessors by transferring these deposits to unconsolidated special pur-
pose entities such as J-one Assets Corporation. The aggregate
amounts of securitized deposits as of February 20, 2006 and 2007 were
¥58,263 million and ¥51,187 million ($426,558 thousand), respectively.
These special purpose entities have options to sell the transferred
deposits back to the Companies in certain cases including lessors’

insolvency. When the special purpose entities exercise their put
options, they also cancel interest rate swap agreements, which they
entered into with financial institutions for hedging interest expo-
sures, incorporated in these transactions and such cancellation
gains or losses are borne by the Companies. The unrealized loss on
these interest rate swap agreements as of February 20, 2006 was
¥1,264 million and the unrealized gain on them as of February 20,
2007 was ¥8 million ($67 thousand).

The breakdown of impairment loss for the years ended February 20, 2006 and 2007, were as follows:
Thousands of

Millions of Yen U.S. Dollars

’06 ’07 ’07

Buildings and structures
Land
Furniture and fixtures
Leased property held under finance leases
Intangible assets and others
Total

¥ 46,870
14,137
8,449
7,137
6,740

¥ 83,335

$ 162,160
59,434
23,477
15,817
12,480

$ 273,371

¥ 19,459
7,132
2,817
1,898
1,497

¥ 32,804
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Long-term debt at February 20, 2006 and 2007 consisted of the following:
Thousands of

Millions of Yen U.S. Dollars

’06 ’07 ’07

Issued by ÆON CO., LTD.:
Unsecured 2.5% Japanese yen notes due 2009
Unsecured 1.98% Japanese yen notes due 2007
Unsecured 2.59% Japanese yen notes due 2010
Unsecured 1.71% Japanese yen notes due 2008
Unsecured 2.44% Japanese yen notes due 2011
Unsecured 2.59% Japanese yen notes due 2026
Unsecured 1.6% Japanese yen notes due 2016
Subordinated Japanese yen bond with deferral of interest and 
early redemption provisions due 2057 (Note 1)

Subordinated Japanese yen bond with deferral of interest and 
early redemption provisions due 2057 (Note 2)

Issued by ÆON CREDIT SERVICE CO., LTD.:
Unsecured 1.97% Japanese yen notes due 2008
Unsecured 1.22% Japanese yen notes due 2009
Unsecured 1.47% Japanese yen notes due 2010
Unsecured 0.81% Japanese yen notes due 2011
Unsecured 1.60% Japanese yen notes due 2012
Unsecured 1.08% Japanese yen notes due 2013
Unsecured 1.55% Japanese yen notes due 2013
Unsecured 1.79% Japanese yen notes due 2014

Issued by AEON THANA SINSAP (THAILAND) PLC.:
Unsecured 4.45% Thai baht notes due 2009
Unsecured 4.77% Thai baht notes due 2009
Unsecured 4.94% Thai baht notes due 2011

Issued by Iino Co., Ltd.—Unsecured 0.42% Japanese yen notes due 2009
Issued by AEON CREDIT SERVICE(M)BERHAD:

4.3% Medium term notes due 2010
Medium term notes due 2010 (Note 3)
Medium term notes due 2012 (Note 4)

Loans from banks and insurance companies, due through 2023 with interest 
rates ranging from 0.00% to 6.98% (2006) and from 0.00% to 7.3% (2007):

Collateralized
Unsecured

Debt under securitization of future cash flow
Total
Less current portion
Long-term debt, less current portion

¥      5,000
20,000
10,000
20,000
10,000
15,000
20,000

10,000
15,000
15,000
10,000
10,000
20,000
10,000

1,510
1,570

906
125

87,580
469,435

751,127
(122,046)

¥  629,080

$       41,666

83,333
166,666
83,333

125,000
166,666

37,500

220,833

83,333
125,000
125,000
83,333
83,333

166,666
83,333

166,666

15,041
15,643
9,025

5,716
5,716

11,433

898,060
5,002,779

95,000
7,900,082

(1,491,224)
$  6,408,858

¥      5,000

10,000
20,000
10,000
15,000
20,000

4,500

26,500

10,000
15,000
15,000
10,000
10,000
20,000
10,000
20,000

1,805
1,877
1,083

686
686

1,372

107,767
600,333
11,400

948,009
(178,946)

¥  769,062

Notes: 1. Interest rate: 3.25% per annum till September 29, 2016 and 6-Month Euro Yen Libor plus 2.40% after September 29, 2016
2. Interest rate: 6-Month Euro Yen Libor plus 1.40% till September 29, 2016, and 6-Month Euro Yen Libor plus 2.40% after September 29, 2016
3. Profit return rate: 4.3%
4. Profit return rate: 4.5%

Annual maturities of long-term debt at February 20, 2007 were as follows:

2008 ¥ 178,946 $ 1,491,224
2009 171,714 1,430,950
2010 147,825 1,231,882
2011 117,661 980,516
2012 118,707 989,225
2013 and thereafter 213,153 1,776,282
Total ¥ 948,009 $ 7,900,082

Thousands of
Years Ending February 20, Millions of Yen U.S. Dollars
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The Company transferred depository rights derived from store cash
receipts to an unconsolidated special purpose entity, in order to hedge
the risk of loss on an uninsured portion of the cash deposits.

The proceeds from this transaction included in other current liabili-
ties of consolidated balance sheets at February 20, 2006 and 2007 were
¥1,813 million and ¥1,833 million ($15,275 thousand), respectively.

10. Other current liabilities

The carrying amounts of assets pledged as collateral for short-term bor-
rowings, long-term debt and other at February 20, 2007 were as follows:

Land ¥   64,349 $    536,243
Buildings and structures—net of
accumulated depreciation 92,722 772,684

Fixed leasehold deposits to lessors 45 375
Investments and other assets—other 3,049 25,414
Installment and financial loan 19,695 164,131
Cash and cash equivalents 4 33
Total ¥ 179,865 $ 1,498,882

Collateralized short-term borrowings, long-term debt and other at
February 20, 2007 were as follows:

Short-term borrowings ¥   12,990 $    108,257
Long-term debt 107,767 898,060
Other current liabilities 2,143 17,863
Lease deposits from lessees 2,362 19,690
Total ¥ 125,264 $ 1,043,871

On December 31, 2005, MYCAL made early repayments and brought to
close its reorganization proceedings. However, at February 20, 2007, they
are still obligated to redeem the remaining ¥14,412 million ($120,106 thou-
sand) secured and unsecured indebtedness in accordance with the orig-
inal reorganization plan. Annual maturities of secured and unsecured
obligations under the reorganization proceedings at February 20, 2007
were as follows:

2008 ¥   2,501 $   20,847
2009 1,795 14,958
2010 1,794 14,955
2011 1,792 14,940
2012 1,781 14,841
2013 and thereafter 4,747 39,562
Total ¥ 14,412 $ 120,106

The maturity schedules above are principally based on the original reor-
ganization plan of the consolidated subsidiary which has been revised
based on the best estimate of management.

Obligations under the reorganization proceedings at February 20, 2007
consisted of the following:

Secured ¥ 10,568 $  88,070
Unsecured 3,844 32,036

Total 14,412 120,106
Less current portion (2,501) (20,847)
Secured and unsecured obligations

under the reorganization
proceedings, less current portion ¥ 11,911 $  99,258

The carrying amounts of assets pledged as collateral for secured obliga-
tions under the reorganization proceedings of ¥10,568 million ($88,070
thousand) at February 20, 2007 were as follows:

Land ¥  3,003 $ 25,031
Buildings and structures—
net of accumulated depreciation 7,005 58,381

Fixed leasehold deposits to lessors 598 4,988
Total ¥ 10,608 $ 88,401

9. Secured and unsecured obligations under reorganization proceedings

Thousands of
Years Ending February 20, Millions of Yen U.S. Dollars

Thousands of
Millions of Yen U.S. Dollars

Thousands of
Millions of Yen U.S. Dollars

Thousands of
Millions of Yen U.S. Dollars

Thousands of
Millions of Yen U.S. Dollars
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The Group has severance payment plans for employees, directors and
corporate auditors, except that the Company ceased the severance pay-
ments for the directors and corporate auditors effective May 15, 2003.

The Company and certain consolidated domestic subsidiaries
have a defined benefit pension plan, advance payment plan and
defined contribution pension plan covering substantially all employees.

The Company and certain domestic subsidiaries had a contribu-
tory funded defined benefit pension plan, which was established
under the Japanese Welfare Pension Insurance Law, covered a sub-
stitutional portion of the governmental pension program managed by
the Company on behalf of the government and a corporate portion
established at the discretion of the Company. According to the
enactment of the Defined Benefit Pension Plan Law in April 2002, the
Company applied for an exemption from obligation to pay benefits for
future employee services related to the substitutional portion which
would result in the transfer of the pension obligations and related
assets to the government by another subsequent application. The
Company obtained an approval of exemption from future obligation
by the Ministry of Health, Labour and Welfare on September 1, 2002.

As a result of this exemption, the Company and certain consoli-
dated domestic subsidiaries recognized a gain on exemption from
future pension obligations of the governmental program in the
amount of ¥35,900 million in accordance with a transitional measure-

ment of the accounting standard for employees’ retirement benefits
for the year ended February 20, 2003.

The Company applied for an exemption from the obligation to
pay benefits for past employee service related to the substitutional
portion and obtained approval from the Ministry of Health, Labour
and Welfare on May 31, 2004.

The Company and certain domestic subsidiaries thereafter
transferred the benefit obligation and related substitutional portion
of the plan assets to the government on February 17, 2005. The
Company transferred the remaining fund assets to a new defined
benefit pension and defined contribution pension plans. As a result,
the Company and certain consolidated domestic subsidiaries recog-
nized ¥7,006 million as loss on amendment to pension plans for the
year ended February 20, 2005.

MYCAL and MYCALKYUSHU implemented defined contribution
pension plans in 2005 by transferring from the severance lump-sum
plan and terminating the non-contributory pension plans, recogniz-
ing ¥3,800 million as gain on transfer of pension plans for the year
ended February 20, 2005.

U.S. subsidiaries have a contributory funded defined benefit
pension plan and defined contribution pension plan covering sub-
stantially all employees.

11. Retirement and pension plans

Thousands of
Millions of Yen U.S. Dollars

’06 ’07 ’07

Projected benefit obligation
Fair value of plan assets
Unrecognized prior service cost
Unrecognized actuarial loss
Net liability

¥ 126,797
(64,546)

2,506
(25,890)

¥   38,866

$ 1,039,074
(542,977)

18,226
(125,229)

$    389,093

¥ 124,688
(65,157)

2,187
(15,027)

¥   46,691

The components of net periodic benefit costs and relevant gain and loss for the years ended February 20, 2005, 2006 and 2007 were as follows:

The liability for employees’ retirement benefits at February 20, 2006 and 2007 consisted of the following:

Thousands of
Millions of Yen U.S. Dollars

’05 ’06 ’07 ’07

Service cost
Interest cost
Expected return on plan assets
Amortization of prior service cost
Recognized actuarial loss
Other
Net periodic benefit costs
Loss on amendment to pension plans
Gain on transfer of subsidiaries’ pension plans
Total

$   47,815
28,166

(18,580)
(2,659)
29,562
27,616

111,920

$ 111,920

¥   5,737
3,379

(2,229)
(319)

3,547
3,314

13,430

¥ 13,430

¥   5,644
3,119

(1,875)
(319)

3,322
3,192

13,083

(62)
¥ 13,021

¥   5,975
3,240

(1,875)
(487)

3,524
2,751

13,130
7,006

(3,800)
¥ 16,336
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12. Equity

On and after May 1, 2006, Japanese companies are subject to a new
corporate law of Japan (the “Corporate Law”), which reformed and
replaced the Commercial Code of Japan (the “Code”) with various revi-
sions that are, for the most part, applicable to events or transactions
which occur on or after May 1, 2006 and for the fiscal years ending on
or after May 1, 2006. The significant changes in the Corporate Law that
affect financial and accounting matters are summarized below; 

(a) Dividends
Under the Corporate Law, companies can pay dividends at any time dur-
ing the fiscal year in addition to the year-end dividend upon resolution at
the shareholders meeting. For companies that meet certain criteria such
as; (1) having the Board of Directors, (2) having independent auditors, (3)
having the Board of Corporate Auditors, and (4) the term of service of the
directors is prescribed as one year rather than two years of normal term
by its articles of incorporation, the Board of Directors may declare divi-
dends (except for dividends in kind) at any time during the fiscal year if
the company has prescribed so in its articles of incorporation. The Board
of Directors of companies with board committees (an appointment com-
mittee, compensation committee and audit committee) can also do so
because such companies with board committees already, by nature,
meet the above criteria under the Corporate Law, even though such com-
panies have an audit committee instead of the Board of Corporate
Auditors. Effective May 15, 2003, the Company is organized as a company
with board committees. The Corporate Law permits companies to distrib-
ute dividends-in-kind (non-cash assets) to shareholders subject to a cer-
tain limitation and additional requirements.

Semiannual interim dividends may also be paid once a year upon
resolution by the Board of Directors if the articles of incorporation of
the company so stipulate. The Corporate Law provides certain limita-
tions on the amounts available for dividends or the purchase of treas-
ury stock. The limitation is defined as the amount available for distri-
bution to the shareholders, but the amount of net assets after divi-
dends must be maintained at no less than ¥ 3 million.

(b) Increases / decreases and transfer of common stock, 
reserve and surplus

The Corporate Law requires that an amount equal to 10% of dividends
must be appropriated as a legal reserve (a component of retained earn-
ings) or as additional paid-in capital (a component of capital surplus)
depending on the equity account charged upon the payment of such div-
idends until the total of aggregate amount of legal reserve and additional
paid-in capital equals 25% of the common stock. Under the Corporate
Law, the total amount of additional paid-in capital and legal reserve may
be reversed without limitation. The Corporate Law also provides that
common stock, legal reserve, additional paid-in capital, other capital sur-
plus and retained earnings can be transferred among the accounts
under certain conditions upon resolution of the shareholders.

(c) Treasury stock and treasury stock acquisition rights
The Corporate Law also provides for companies to purchase treasury
stock and dispose of such treasury stock by resolution of the Board of
Directors. The amount of treasury stock purchased cannot exceed the
amount available for distribution to the shareholders which is deter-
mined by specific formula.

Under the Corporate Law, stock acquisition rights, which were
previously presented as a liability, are now presented as a separate
component of equity.

The Corporate Law also provides that companies can purchase
both treasury stock acquisition rights and treasury stock. Such treas-
ury stock acquisition rights are presented as a separate component of
equity or deducted directly from stock acquisition rights.

The Company issued 27,000,000 shares of common stock by public
offering on August 7, 2004, and 2,430,000 shares of common stock
through an over-allotment program in Japan on August 18, 2004. The
issue price was ¥3,431 per share and gross cash proceeds was
¥100,974 million, of which ¥50,472 million was recorded as additional
paid in capital (capital surplus) in accordance with the Code.

“Other” includes payments for advance payment plan and contributions
for defined contribution pension plan.

Assumptions used for the years ended February 20, 2005, 2006 and
2007 are set forth as follows:

The company and consolidated domestic subsidiaries

Discount rate Mainly 2.4% Mainly 2.4% Mainly 2.4%
Expected rate of return
on plan assets Mainly 2.29% Mainly 1.95% Mainly 2.31%

Amortization period of
prior service cost 10 years 10 years 10 years

Recognition period of
actuarial gain/loss 10 years 10 years 10 years

U.S. subsidiaries

Discount rate 6.25% 5.50% 6.00%
Expected rate of return
on plan assets 9.0 9.0 9.0

The liability for retirement benefits at February 20, 2006 and 2007 for direc-
tors and corporate auditors is ¥1,578 million and ¥1,999 million ($16,662
thousand), respectively.

’05 ’06 ’07

’05 ’06 ’07
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1. Consolidated domestic subsidiary
ORIGIN TOSHU CO., LTD.
The stock option outstanding as of February 20, 2007 is as follows:

13. Stock option

2003 Stock Option 1 director, 2 corporate auditors,
and 138 employees

1 director and 3 employees of the subsidiary
2004 Stock Option 162 employees

4 employees of the subsidiary
2005 Stock Option 12 directors and 128 employees

2 directors and 1 employee of the subsidiary
2006 Stock Option 12 directors, 4 corporate auditors, 

and 174 employees
4 employees of the subsidiary

From July 1, 2004
To June 30, 2007

From July 1, 2005
To June 30, 2008
From July 3, 2006
To June 30, 2009
From July 2, 2007
To June 30, 2010

¥2,469

¥1,393

¥1,875

¥2,090

June 22, 2002

June 21, 2003

June 19, 2004

June 18, 2005

102,000 shares

91,500 shares

106,500 shares

176,000 shares

Number of Exercise Price
Stock Option Persons Granted Options Granted Date of Grant Yen Exercise Period

On October 18, 2004, the Company made a stock split by way of a
free share distribution at the rate of 2 shares for each outstanding
share, and 362,704,674 shares of the Company’s common stock were
issued to shareholders of record on August 20, 2004 and treasury stock
increased to 253,459 shares.

The Company issued 70,000,000 shares of common stock by public
offering on November 8, 2006, and 4,591,300 shares of common stock
through an over-allotment program in Japan on December 5, 2006. The
issue price was ¥2,593.6, per share and gross cash proceeds was
¥193,459 million, of which ¥96,729 million was recorded as additional
paid in capital (capital surplus) in accordance with the Corporate Law.

Restriction of dividends and repurchase of its stock
In relation to the issuance of two series of subordinated bonds of
¥31,000 million on September 26, 2006 (see Note 8), the Company may
defer the payment of interest for up to ten years in the event its finan-
cial condition deteriorates to a certain level and certain other events. If
the Company’s financial condition deteriorates further, the source of
funds for interest payments will be limited to proceeds from the
issuance of new stock and certain other sources. In this situation, the
Company shall not pay any dividends from capital surplus or repur-
chase any of its stock.

Non-vested (Shares)

Outstanding at beginning of year
Granted
Expired
Vested
Outstanding at end of year
Vested (Shares)

Outstanding at beginning of year
Vested
Exercised
Expired
Outstanding at end of year

Exercise price
Average stock price at exercise
Fair value price at grant date

The summary of stock option activity during the fiscal year 2007 is as follows:

—
—
—
—
—

32,700
—

(1,000)
(1,500)
30,200

¥   2,469
¥   2,993

—

—
—
—
—
—

9,000
—

(500)
(1,500)
7,000

¥1,393
¥2,985

—

—
—
—
—
—

82,500
—
—

(9,500)
73,000

¥   1,875
—
—

—
—
—
—
—

147,000
—
—

(17,500)
129,500

¥    2,090
—
—

’03 ’04 ’05 ’06
Stock Option Stock Option Stock Option Stock Option
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The summary of stock option activity during the fiscal year 2007 is as follows:

Weighted Average
Number of Shares Exercise Price per Share

Outstanding at beginning of year
Granted
Exercised
Forfeited
Expired
Outstanding at end of year
Exercisable at end of year

$28.74
25.33
14.15
28.97
39.37

$28.44
$28.40

7,908,596 
1,092,600 
(267,168) 
(41,403) 

(253,695)
8,438,930 
6,412,945

The assumptions used to measure fair value of stock options were as follows :

2. Consolidated foreign subsidiary
The Talbots, Inc. (“Talbots”)
2003 Executive Stock Based Incentive Plan of Talbots (the “2003
Plan”) provides for the grant of stock options and unvested stock
awards to certain key members of management, and Amended and
Restated Directors Plan of Talbots (the “Directors Plan”) provides for
the grant of stock options and unvested stock units to non-manage-
ment directors on Talbots’ Board of Directors. 

In accordance with the 2003 Plan, Talbots has issued stock
options that generally vest over a three-year period at each anniver-
sary date and expire no later than ten years from the grant date. 

In accordance with the Directors Plan, Talbots has issued stock
options that generally vest over a three-year period, but accelerate
upon retirement, and expire no later than ten years from the date of
grant. No stock options were granted under the Directors Plan during
2005 and 2006.

On January 29, 2006, Talbots adopted Statement of Financial
Accounting Standards No.123 (revised), Share-Based Payment
(“SFAS No.123R”) which requires all stock-based compensation to

employees to be recognized in the financial statements at their fair
values. Talbots elected to use modified-prospective application as its
transition method and accordingly, prior period amounts have not
been restated. Under this transition method, Talbots is recognizing
stock-based compensation expense on a straight-line basis over the
requisite service period of the awards for those awards granted fol-
lowing the adoption of SFAS No. 123R. For unvested awards out-
standing upon the adoption of SFAS No. 123R, Talbots is recognizing
stock-based compensation expense on a straight-line basis over the
remaining requisite service period of the awards. The amount of
stock-based compensation recognized is based on the value of the
portion of the award that is expected to vest. SFAS No. 123R requires
forfeitures to be estimated at the time of grant and revised, if neces-
sary, in subsequent periods if actual forfeitures differ from those esti-
mates.

The consolidated statements of earnings for the years 2005, 2006,
2007 include the following stock-based compensation expense related
to stock options awards, unvested stock awards, and unvested stock
unit awards:

The range of exercise prices of stock options outstanding at the end of fiscal year 2007 are from $7.41 to $51.13.

’05 ’06 ’07

Estimated weighted average fair value
Measurement method

Weighted average risk-free interest rate
Weighted average expected life of option grants
Weighted average expected volatility of underlying stock
Weighted average expected dividend payment rate, 
as a percentage of the stock price on the date of grant

$16.67
Black-Scholes 

option-pricing model
3.7%

6.0 years
54.8%

1.3%

$12.14
Black-Scholes 

option-pricing model
4.0%

4.2 years
47.9%

1.5%

$8.85
Black-Scholes 

option-pricing model
4.7%

4.5 years
41.8%

2.0%

Cost of sales, buying and occupancy
Selling general and administrative
Total

¥ 524
¥ 524

¥ 938
¥938

¥    303
1,800

¥ 2,104

$   2,594
15,402

$ 17,996

Thousands of
Millions of Yen U.S. Dollars

’05 ’06 ’07 ’07

Note: Japanese yen amounts are translated at the average foreign exchange rates of each fiscal year.
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Allowance for doubtful accounts
Loss on disposals of fixed assets
Provision for loss on refund of interest received
Provision for store closing expenses
Depreciation of fixed assets
Gain on forgiveness of debt under reorganization proceedings of subsidiary
Net gain on sales of securities
Equity in earnings of associated companies
Loss on amendment to pension plans
Other
Total

Other income (expenses)—net for the years ended February 20, 2005, 2006 and 2007 consisted of the following:

¥   (2,502)
(3,401)

(5,169)
(3,656)
1,540
6,518
2,735

(7,006)
(4,522)

¥ (15,465)

¥ (3,404)
(2,611)

(5,106)

5,391
2,670
2,040

1,607
¥ 589

¥ (1,307)
(3,061)
(2,402)
(1,846)

7,950
(5,226)

3,262
¥ (2,631)

$ (10,897)
(25,511)
(20,020)
(15,386)

66,256
(43,553)

27,185
$ (21,929)

14. Other income (expenses)

Thousands of
Millions of Yen U.S. Dollars

’05 ’06 ’07 ’07

Depreciation of fixed assets on 2005 was related to the buildings and equipment for stores which management had decided to close.
Gain on forgiveness of debt under reorganization proceedings of subsidiary in 2006 includes ¥4,625 million causing from the early repayments of obligations by MYCAL.

The Company and consolidated domestic subsidiaries are subject to
Japanese national and local income taxes which, in the aggregate, result-
ed in a normal effective statutory tax rate of approximately 41.7% for the
year ended February 20, 2005. Due to changes in Japanese income tax

regulations, for years beginning on or after April 1, 2004, the statutory rate
was reduced to approximately 40.3% for the years ended February 20,
2006 and 2007.

15. Income taxes

The risk-free interest rate represents the implied yield available on U.S.
Treasury zero-coupon bond issues with a term approximately equal to
the expected life of the option. The expected life of an option is based
on Talbots’ historical actual experience with stock options. Expected
volatility is based on Talbots’  historical realized volatility over the his-
torical period that matches the expected life of the option. Expected div-

idend yield is based on the expected annual payment of dividends
divided by the exercise price of the option award. In determining the
assumptions to be used, when Talbots has relied on historical data or
trends, Talbots has also considered, if applicable, any expected future
trends that could differ from historical results and has modified its
assumptions if applicable.
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Deferred tax assets:
Enterprise tax
Merchandise inventories
Allowance for doubtful accounts
Receivables
Payables and accrued expenses
Property, buildings and equipment
Liability for retirement benefits
Investment securities, including investments in unconsolidated 
subsidiaries and associated companies

Provision for store closing expenses
Tax loss carryforwards
Write-down of assets under the reorganization proceedings
Other
Less valuation allowance

Total
Deferred tax liabilities:

Investments in unconsolidated subsidiaries and associated companies
Unrealized gain on available-for-sale securities
Undistributed earnings of consolidated foreign subsidiaries
Property, buildings and equipment
Prepaid pension cost
Depreciation and amortization of consolidated foreign 
subsidiaries applicable for local taxation

Identifiable intangible assets
Other

Total
Net deferred tax assets

¥      3,993
2,923

15,577
3,909
8,096

54,910
13,385

6,643
6,365

32,840
42,705
14,200

(120,627)
84,923

(4,156)
(19,795)
(4,469)
(6,659)

(183)

(5,419)
(40,683)

¥    44,240

¥      4,707
4,675

19,324
2,954
7,851

63,245
15,525

16,415
5,273

23,467
40,351
21,471

(113,471)
111,793

(4,255)
(16,370)
(5,165)
(6,485)

(60)

(7,752)
(7,203)

(188)
(47,482)

¥    64,310

$    39,229
38,966

161,041
24,624
65,433

527,042
129,375

136,794
43,946

195,558
336,263
178,931

(945,598)
931,610

(35,465)
(136,424)
(43,045)
(54,046)

(503)

(64,607)
(60,026)
(1,568)

(395,687)
$  535,922

Thousands of
Millions of Yen U.S. Dollars

’06 ’07 ’07

Normal effective statutory tax rate
Lower income tax rates applicable to income in certain foreign countries
Undistributed earnings of consolidated foreign subsidiaries
Dividends from consolidated foreign subsidiaries eliminated 
for consolidation purposes

Per capita portion of inhabitant tax
Amortization of negative goodwill
Equity in earnings of associated companies
Change in valuation allowance
Expenses not deductible for tax purpose
Other—net
Actual effective tax rate

’05 ’06 ’07

A reconciliation between the normal effective statutory tax rates and the actual effective tax rates reflected in the accompanying consolidated state-
ments of income for the years ended February 20, 2005, 2006 and 2007 is as follows:

41.7%
(1.8)
0.3

1.0
2.4

(2.8)
(0.8)
(3.7)
(0.3)
0.0

36.0%

40.3%
(4.6)
1.0

1.7
3.1

(3.4)
(0.8)
5.2
1.6

(0.6)
43.5%

40.3%
(2.4)
0.3

0.6
2.1

(0.8)
1.4

(2.3)
1.8

(0.8)
40.2%

The tax effects of significant temporary differences and tax loss carryforwards which resulted in deferred tax assets and liabilities at February 20, 2006
and 2007 are as follows:
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At February 20, 2007, certain consolidated subsidiaries have tax loss car-
ryforwards aggregating approximately ¥59,198 million ($493,321 thou-
sand) which are available to be offset against taxable income of such
subsidiaries in future years. These tax loss carryforwards, if not utilized,
will expire as follows:

a. Reconciliation of cash and cash equivalents
A reconciliation of cash and cash equivalents between the consolidated balance sheets and the consolidated statements of cash flows at February 20,
2006 and 2007 is as follows:

16. Supplemental cash flow information

Millions of Yen

Assets ¥  6,553
Goodwill 1,639
Liabilities (4,718)
Cash paid for the capital 3,475
Cash and cash equivalents of consolidated subsidiaries 1,047
Cash paid in conjunction with the purchases of 
consolidated subsidiaries ¥  2,427

Cash and cash equivalents on the consolidated balance sheets
Bank overdraft
Money deposited as insurance premiums
Cash and cash equivalents on the consolidated statements of cash flows

¥ 286,410
(292)
(731)

¥ 285,387

¥ 386,855
(3,620)

(383)
¥ 382,851

$ 3,223,796
(30,170)
(3,197)

$ 3,190,428

Thousands of
Millions of Yen U.S. Dollars

’06 ’07 ’07

b. Purchases of newly consolidated subsidiaries
For the year ended February 20, 2005, Joy Co., Ltd. and 3 other companies
were acquired. Assets and liabilities of these companies at the time of
consolidation, cash paid for the capital and cash paid in conjunction with
the purchases of consolidated subsidiaries were as follows:

Thousands of
Years Ending February 20, Millions of Yen U.S. Dollars

2008 ¥        64 $        535
2009 369 3,079
2010 361 3,011
2011 3,221 26,846
2012 and thereafter 55,181 459,848
Total ¥ 59,198 $ 493,321

Millions of Yen

Assets ¥ 20,233
Goodwill 3,061
Liabilities (13,291)
Cash paid for the capital 10,003
Cash and cash equivalents of consolidated subsidiary 1,730
Cash paid in conjunction with the purchase of 
consolidated subsidiary ¥   8,273

For the year ended February 20, 2006, ÆON Marché Co., Ltd. was
acquired. Assets and liabilities of the company at the time of consolida-
tion, cash paid for the capital and cash paid in conjunction with the pur-
chase of a consolidated subsidiary was as follows:
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Millions of Yen

’06
Buildings Furniture

and and
Structures Fixtures Vehicles Total

Acquisition cost ¥ 17,458 ¥  86,846 ¥ 1,836 ¥ 106,141
Accumulated depreciation (5,069) (47,413) (822) (53,305)
Accumulated impairment loss (5,504) (4,562) (3) (10,069)
Net leased property ¥   6,884 ¥  34,871 ¥ 1,010 ¥   42,766

a. Lessee
The Group leases certain store buildings, store equipment and
other assets.

Total rental expenses for the years ended February 20, 2005, 2006
and 2007 were ¥222,943 million, ¥238,203 million and ¥265,442 million
($2,212,018 thousand), respectively, including ¥22,418 million, ¥21,499
million and ¥20,139 million ($167,827 thousand) of lease payments
under finance leases.

For the years ended February 20, 2006 and 2007, the Group record-
ed an impairment loss of ¥7,137 million and ¥1,898 million ($15,817
thousand), respectively, on certain leased property held under

finance leases that do not transfer ownership and an allowance for
impairment loss on leased property, which is included in other cur-
rent liabilities and long-term liabilities–other.

Pro forma information of leased property such as acquisition cost,
accumulated depreciation, accumulated impairment loss, obligation
under finance lease, depreciation expense, interest expense and
other information of finance leases that do not transfer ownership of
the leased property to the lessee on an “as if capitalized” basis for the
years ended February 20, 2005, 2006 and 2007 for the Company and
consolidated domestic subsidiaries was as follows:

17. Leases

Millions of Yen

’07
Buildings Furniture

and and
Structures Fixtures Vehicles Total

Acquisition cost ¥ 20,524 ¥  77,661 ¥  2,043 ¥100,229
Accumulated depreciation (6,490) (43,213) (1,019) (50,723)
Accumulated impairment loss (5,220) (5,574) (8) (10,803)
Net leased property ¥   8,813 ¥  28,873 ¥  1,014 ¥  38,702

Millions of Yen

Assets ¥  3,773
Liabilities (1,777)
Net loss on sale of the stock (167)
Cash received by selling the stock 1,828
Cash and cash equivalents of consolidated subsidiary 3,366
Payment for sale of consolidated subsidiary ¥  1,538

c. Sale of previously consolidated subsidiary
For the year ended February 20, 2005, Chuo Building Co., Ltd. was exclud-
ed from the Group by selling the stock. Assets and liabilities of the sub-
sidiary at the time of disposal, cash received by selling the stock and net
payment for the sale was as follows:

Thousands of
Millions of Yen U.S. Dollars

Assets ¥  198,183 $ 1,651,529
Goodwill 124,815 1,040,125
Liabilities (116,012) (966,769)
Minority interests (21,955) (182,964)
Cash paid for the capital 185,030 1,541,922
Cash and cash equivalents of consolidated subsidiaries 16,482 137,354
Cash paid in conjunction with the 
purchases of consolidated subsidiaries ¥  168,548 $ 1,404,567

For the year ended February 20, 2007, ORIGIN TOSHU CO., LTD.,
Diamond City Co., Ltd., The J.Jill Group, Inc. and 5 other companies
were acquired. Assets and liabilities of these companies at the time of
consolidation, cash paid for the capital and cash paid in conjunction
with the purchases of consolidated subsidiaries were as follows:
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Thousands of
Millions of Yen U.S. Dollars

’05 ’06 ’07 ’07

Depreciation expense ¥ 21,290 ¥ 18,714 ¥ 16,501 $ 137,510
Interest expense 1,578 1,335 1,247 10,391
Total ¥ 22,868 ¥ 20,050 ¥ 17,748 $ 147,902
Reversal of allowance for impairment loss on leased property ¥   2,366 ¥   2,634 $   21,951
Impairment loss 7,137 1,898 15,817

Thousands of U.S. Dollars

’07
Buildings Furniture

and and
Structures Fixtures Vehicles Total

Acquisition cost $ 171,033 $  647,182 $ 17,027 $   835,243
Accumulated depreciation (54,083) (360,116) (8,497) (422,698)
Accumulated impairment loss (43,505) (46,450) (72) (90,028)
Net leased property $   73,444  $  240,615 $   8,457 $   322,517

Obligations under finance leases:

Due within one year
Due after one year
Total

¥ 16,999
34,929

¥ 51,929

¥ 16,053
32,555

¥ 48,608

$ 133,776
271,296

$ 405,072

Thousands of
Millions of Yen U.S. Dollars

’06 ’07 ’07

Allowance for impairment loss on leased property of ¥7,001 million ($58,342 thousand) as of February 20, 2007 is not included in obligations under finance leases.

Depreciation expense and interest expense and other information under finance leases:

Depreciation expense and interest expense, which are not reflected in
the accompanying consolidated statements of income, are computed by
the straight-line method and the interest method, respectively.

The minimum rental commitments under noncancelable operating
leases at February 20, 2007 were as follows:

b. Lessor
The Group leases certain store space to tenants and other assets.

Total rental revenues for the years ended February 20, 2005, 2006 and

2007 were ¥130,663 million, ¥146,373 million and ¥205,829 million
($1,715,242 thousand) including ¥332 million, ¥97 million and ¥0 million of
receipt of rental payments under finance leases, respectively.

Thousands of
Millions of Yen U.S. Dollars

Due within one year ¥ 116,679 $    972,329
Due after one year 771,538 6,429,489
Total ¥ 888,218 $ 7,401,818

Future rental revenues from subleases under finance leases for the years ended February 20, 2006 and 2007 were as follows:

Due within one year
Due after one year
Total

¥ 137
722

¥ 859

¥   92
309

¥ 401

$    772
2,576

$ 3,348

Thousands of
Millions of Yen U.S. Dollars

’06 ’07 ’07
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The Group enters into foreign exchange forward contracts and cur-
rency swap contracts to hedge foreign exchange risk associated with
certain assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies. The
Group also enters into interest rate swap contracts, interest rate cap
contracts and interest rate option contracts to manage its interest
rate exposures on certain liabilities.

All derivative transactions are entered into to hedge interest and
foreign currency exposures incorporated within its business.
Accordingly, market risk in these derivatives is basically offset by

opposite movements in the value of hedged assets or liabilities. 
Because the counterparties to these derivatives are limited to

major international financial institutions, the Group does not antici-
pate any losses arising from credit risk.

Derivative transactions entered into by the Group have been made
in accordance with internal policies which regulate the authorization
and credit limit amount.

The Group had the following derivatives contracts outstanding at
February 20, 2006 and 2007:

Derivatives which qualify for hedge accounting for the years
ended February 20, 2006 and 2007 are excluded from the disclo-
sure of market information. 

The contract or notional amounts of derivatives which are
shown in the above table do not represent the amounts
exchanged by the parties and do not measure the Group’s expo-
sure to credit or market risk.

18. Derivatives

a. Commitments
The Company has agreements with J-one Assets Corporation (“J-
one”), an unconsolidated special purpose entity (“SPE”), under which
it is committed to execute loans as the first back-up line for the Asset
Backed Commercial Paper program of J-one, unless certain agreed-

upon terms such as the default of J-one are met. In cases when the
Company cannot finance the loans under this agreement to J-one, a
certain financial institution has agreed to provide loans to J-one
instead of the Company. At February 20, 2007, the total unused credit
available to J-one is ¥80,000 million ($666,666 thousand).

19. Commitments and contingent liabilities

Millions of Yen

’06
Contract Amount Fair Value Unrealized Loss

Interest rate swap contracts (fixed rate payment, floating rate receipt) ¥ 152 ¥(7) ¥(7)

Depreciation expense and interest income under finance leases for the years ended February 20, 2005, 2006 and 2007:

The minimum rental commitments under noncancelable operating leases at February 20, 2007 were as follows:

Due within one year
Due after one year
Total

¥    786
1,886

¥ 2,673

$   6,556
15,720

$ 22,277

Thousands of
Millions of Yen U.S. Dollars

’07 ’07

Depreciation expense
Interest income

Millions of Yen

’05 ’06

¥ 84
2

¥ 291
16

Interest income, which is not reflected in the accompanying consolidated statements of income, is computed by the interest method.
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Basic and diluted net income per share (“EPS”) for the years ended February 20, 2005, 2006 and 2007. are as follows;

20. Net Income per share

Millions of Thousands of
Yen Shares Yen

Net Weighted-average
Year Ended February 20, 2005 Income Shares EPS

Basic EPS:
Net income ¥62,066
Bonuses to directors and corporate auditors 186
Net income available to common shareholders 61,879 697,568 ¥88.71
Effect of dilutive securities—Convertible bonds and 
warrants of associated companies (50)

Diluted EPS—Net income for computation ¥61,829 697,568 ¥88.64

The consolidated financial services subsidiaries have agreements
under which they are committed to card members to execute loans as
long as the agreed-upon terms are met. At February 20, 2007, the total
unused credit available to card members is ¥4,588,754 million
($38,239,616 thousand).

The consolidated SC development subsidiary has agreements
with Petrus Funding Corporation (“Petrus”), an unconsolidated SPE,
under which it is committed to execute loans as the first back-up line.
At February 20, 2007, the total unused credit available to Petrus is
¥6,000 million ($50,000 thousand).

Commitments outstanding at February 20, 2007 for construction of
property, buildings and equipment and for lease deposits approxi-
mated ¥2,067 million ($17,229 thousand).

b. Contingent liabilities
Contingent liabilities at February 20, 2007 for guarantees of bank
loans mainly to store lessor were ¥1,632 million ($13,600 thousand).

In February 2000, the Company entered into noncancelable oper-
ating lease contracts with Forester Special Purpose Company
(“Forester”), an unconsolidated SPE incorporated by the Law on the
Securitization of Assets in Japan. In connection with these lease con-
tracts, the Company also entered into a Total Rate of Return swap
contracts with Forester, principally to swap repayments of ¥8,700 mil-
lion ($72,500 thousand) senior secured note issued by Forester for
construction of leased assets and certain proceeds from sales of the
leased assets.

In November 2002, the Company entered into noncancelable
operating lease contracts with Neo Pas FIS Ltd. (“Neo Pas”), an
unconsolidated SPE. In these lease contracts, the Company has
agreed that when Neo Pas incurs losses on the sales of the benefici-
ary rights to trustees representing the ownership of the leased land
at the end of the noncancelable lease term, the Company will com-

pensate Neo Pas for a certain portion of the losses up to ¥4,400 mil-
lion ($36,666 thousand). In addition, if the sales price is below 50% of
the acquisition cost of these beneficiary rights, the Company is also
obligated to compensate half of the deficiency up to ¥5,150 million
($42,916 thousand).

In June 2003, the Company entered into noncancelable operating
lease contracts with Takakura Funding Corporation (“Takakura”), an
unconsolidated SPE. Takakura financed the construction of the lease
assets from financial institutions, and the Company entered into a
contract with these financial institutions, which entitles the financial
institutions with put options to sell a portion of their senior secured
loans to Takakura in certain cases including Takakura’s insolvency. If
the financial institutions exercise their put options, the Company will
be able to terminate these lease contracts with Takakura. The bor-
rowings of Takakura from the financial institutions and minimum
lease payment under these lease contracts as of February 20, 2007
were ¥5,165 million ($43,041 thousand) and ¥6,444 million ($53,705
thousand), respectively.

In 2006, the Company and certain consolidated subsidiary entered
into noncancelable operating lease contracts with Mebius Alfa
(“Mebius”), an unconsolidated SPE. Mebius financed the construc-
tion of the lease assets from financial institutions, and the Companies
entered into a contract with these financial institutions, which enti-
tles the financial institutions with put options to sell a portion of their
senior secured loans to Mebius in certain cases including Mebius’s
insolvency. If the financial institutions exercise their put options, the
Companies will be able to terminate these lease contracts with
Mebius. The borrowings of Mebius from the financial institutions and
minimum lease payment under these lease contracts as of February
20, 2007 were ¥7,826 million ($65,216 thousand) and ¥14,804 million
($123,372 thousand), respectively.
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Transactions with companies of which directors of the Company
were representative for the years ended February 20, 2005, 2006 and
2007 were as follows:

Rental expense of land and buildings ¥1,144 ¥365

The balances due from these companies at February 20, 2006 and
2007 were as follows: 

Fixed leasehold deposits to lessors ¥1,274
Millions of Yen

’05 ’06 ’07

The Company separates its operations into four segments, which con-
sist of general merchandise store and other retail store operations, spe-
cialty store operations, shopping center (“SC”) development opera-
tions and service and other operations, and reviews operating results
of the segments to make decisions about resources to be allocated to
the segments and to assess its performance regularly.

The general merchandise store and other retail store operations
include mainly general merchandise store, supermarket, convenience
store and department store operations. Stores in this segment offer
various types of goods. The specialty store operations include women’s
apparel, casual wear items for men and women, cosmetics and toi-
letries, and shoes. The Company management assesses the operating
results of stores categorized in this segment separately from those of

general merchandise stores because of the differences in target cus-
tomers and level of value added to the merchandise.

The SC development operations provide store development and
rental services. The service and other operations segment includes
credit card operations, consumer financing, amusement facility opera-
tor, restaurants and store maintenance.

The Company also separates its operations into three geographic
areas, which consist of Japan, North America and Asia and Others.
This segmentation is based on location of operations.

Information about industry segments, geographic segments and
sales to foreign customers of the Company and consolidated subsidiaries
for the years ended February 20, 2005, 2006 and 2007, is as follows:

22. Segment information

21. Related party transactions

Note: These transactions are on an arm’s length basis and in the normal course of business.

Millions of Thousands of U.S.
Yen Shares Yen Dollars

Net Weighted-average
Year Ended February 20, 2007 Income Shares EPS

Basic EPS:
Net income ¥57,656
Net income available to common shareholders 57,656 745,767 ¥77.31 $0.64
Effect of dilutive securities— 
Stock acquisition rights of associated companies (3)

Diluted EPS—Net income for computation ¥57,653 745,767 ¥77.30 $0.64

Millions of Thousands of
Yen Shares Yen

Net Weighted-average
Year Ended February 20, 2006 Income Shares EPS

Basic EPS:
Net income ¥28,932
Bonuses to directors and corporate auditors 216
Net income available to common shareholders 28,715 724,875 ¥39.61
Effect of dilutive securities—Convertible bonds and 
warrants of associated companies (41)

Diluted EPS—Net income for computation ¥28,673 724,875 ¥39.56

Millions of Yen

’06 ’07
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b. Total assets, depreciation and capital expenditures 
Millions of Yen

’05
General

Merchandise Store Specialty SC Service and
and Other Retail Store Development Other Eliminations/
Store Operations Operations Operations Operations Corporate Consolidated

Total assets ¥1,635,824 ¥230,783 ¥296,390 ¥698,691 ¥(109,600) ¥2,752,088 
Depreciation and amortization 73,130 10,447 8,619 10,442 102,639 
Capital expenditures 110,851 13,671 32,356 17,937 174,817 

Note: Total assets of “Eliminations/corporate” at February 20, 2005 include corporate assets, consisting primarily of cash, time deposits, securities, other current assets and invest-
ment securities maintained with regard to corporate finance activities. Corporate assets as of February 20, 2005 were ¥24,502 million.

a. Sales and operating income
Millions of Yen

’06
General

Merchandise Store Specialty SC Service and
and Other Retail Store Development Other Eliminations/
Store Operations Operations Operations Operations Corporate Consolidated

Sales to customers ¥3,608,475 ¥496,512 ¥45,229 ¥280,068 ¥4,430,285 
Intersegment sales 33,266 2,619 23,180 327,203 ¥(386,269)

Total revenues 3,641,742 499,132 68,409 607,271 (386,269) 4,430,285 
Operating expenses 3,578,395 477,221 47,386 546,636 (385,459) 4,264,179 
Operating income ¥     63,346 ¥  21,911 ¥21,023 ¥  60,635 ¥       (810) ¥   166,105 

b. Total assets, depreciation, impairment loss and capital expenditures
Millions of Yen

’06
General

Merchandise Store Specialty SC Service and
and Other Retail Store Development Other Eliminations/
Store Operations Operations Operations Operations Corporate Consolidated

Total assets ¥1,649,497 ¥272,428 ¥312,273 ¥840,507 ¥(146,024) ¥2,928,682 
Depreciation and amortization 72,135 12,088 9,950 9,696 103,871 
Impairment loss 76,829 3,808 2,173 523 83,335 
Capital expenditures 135,930 12,827 33,843 16,580 199,182 

Notes: 1. Total assets of “Eliminations/corporate” at February 20, 2006 include corporate assets, consisting primarily of cash, time deposits, securities, other current assets and
investment securities maintained with regard to corporate finance activities. Corporate assets as of February 20, 2006 were ¥34,959 million.

2. The effect of adoption of the new accounting standard for impairment of fixed assets described in Note 2.h was to increase operating income of general merchandise
store and other retail store operations, specialty store operations, SC development operations and service and other operations for the year ended February 20, 2006, by
¥9,273 million, ¥794 million, ¥0 million and ¥80 million, respectively, from such segments in the prior year.

(1) Industry segments
a. Sales and operating income 

Millions of Yen

’05
General

Merchandise Store Specialty SC Service and
and Other Retail Store Development Other Eliminations/
Store Operations Operations Operations Operations Corporate Consolidated

Sales to customers ¥3,450,789 ¥461,486 ¥38,005 ¥245,562 ¥4,195,843 
Intersegment sales 30,434 2,326 20,909 329,749 ¥(383,420)

Total revenues 3,481,224 463,812 58,915 575,311 (383,420) 4,195,843 
Operating expenses 3,425,371 443,966 40,987 521,875 (383,133) 4,049,066 
Operating income ¥     55,853 ¥  19,846 ¥17,927 ¥  53,436 ¥       (286) ¥   146,777  
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a. Sales and operating income
Thousands of U.S. Dollars

’07
General

Merchandise Store Specialty SC Service and
and Other Retail Store Development Other Eliminations/
Store Operations Operations Operations Operations Corporate Consolidated

Sales to customers $31,680,842 $5,058,966 $   757,264 $2,709,386 $40,206,460 
Intersegment sales 289,168 21,581 301,005 2,810,209 $(3,421,964)

Total revenues 31,970,011 5,080,547 1,058,270 5,519,595 (3,421,964) 40,206,460 
Operating expenses 31,343,469 4,945,392 737,116 5,006,376 (3,406,961) 38,625,393 
Operating income $     626,541 $   135,155 $   321,153 $   513,219 $     (15,002) $  1,581,067 

b. Total assets, depreciation, impairment loss and capital expenditures
Millions of Yen

’07
General

Merchandise Store Specialty SC Service and
and Other Retail Store Development Other Eliminations/
Store Operations Operations Operations Operations Corporate Consolidated

Total assets ¥1,776,098 ¥424,292 ¥536,951 ¥992,997 ¥(195,994) ¥3,534,346 
Depreciation and amortization 77,353 17,711 14,475 13,121 122,663 
Impairment loss 29,194 2,689 579 341 32,804 
Capital expenditures 135,889 19,574 67,614 21,813 244,892 

b.Total assets, depreciation, impairment loss and capital expenditures
Thousands of U.S. Dollars

’07
General

Merchandise Store Specialty SC Service and
and Other Retail Store Development Other Eliminations/
Store Operations Operations Operations Operations Corporate Consolidated

Total assets $14,800,822 $3,535,774 $4,474,595 $8,274,977 $(1,633,284) $29,452,885  
Depreciation and amortization 644,615 147,595 120,632 109,348 1,022,192 
Impairment loss 243,288 22,411 4,826 2,843 273,370 
Capital expenditures 1,132,413 163,124 563,453 181,780 2,040,772 

Note: Total assets of “Eliminations/corporate” at February 20, 2007 include corporate assets, consisting primarily of cash, time deposits, securities, other current assets and invest-
ment securities maintained with regard to corporate finance activities. Corporate assets as of February 20, 2007 were ¥28,474 million ($237,291 thousand).

a. Sales and operating income
Millions of Yen

’07
General

Merchandise Store Specialty SC Service and
and Other Retail Store Development Other Eliminations/
Store Operations Operations Operations Operations Corporate Consolidated

Sales to customers ¥3,801,701 ¥607,076 ¥ 90,871 ¥325,126 ¥4,824,775 
Intersegment sales 34,700 2,589 36,120 337,225 ¥(410,635)

Total revenues 3,836,401 609,665 126,992 662,351 (410,635) 4,824,775 
Operating expenses 3,761,216 593,447 88,454 600,765 (408,835) 4,635,047 
Operating income ¥     75,184 ¥  16,218 ¥ 38,538 ¥  61,586 ¥    (1,800) ¥    189,728 
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Millions of Yen

’06
North Eliminations/

Japan America Others Corporate Consolidated

Sales to customers ¥4,001,704 ¥198,465 ¥230,114 ¥4,430,285 
Interarea transfer 1,233 1,984 3,489 ¥(6,707)

Total revenues 4,002,938 200,449 233,604 (6,707) 4,430,285 
Operating expenses 3,867,073 182,776 221,102 (6,771) 4,264,179 
Operating income ¥   135,865 ¥  17,673 ¥  12,502 ¥       64 ¥   166,105 
Total assets ¥2,507,673 ¥148,548 ¥243,320 ¥29,140 ¥2,928,682 

Notes: 1. Major countries and areas included in each geographic segment are as follows:
North America: the United States of America and Canada
Others: China, Korea, Taiwan, Malaysia, Thailand, Singapore and Australia

2. Total assets of “Eliminations/corporate” at February 20, 2006 include corporate assets, consisting primarily of cash, time deposits, securities, other current assets and
investment securities maintained with regard to corporate finance activities. Corporate assets as of February 20, 2006 were ¥34,959 million.

3. The effect of adoption of the new accounting standard for impairment of fixed assets described in Note 2.h was to increase operating income of Japan by ¥10,148 million
from such segments in the prior year.

Millions of Yen

’07
North Asia and Eliminations/

Japan America Others Corporate Consolidated

Sales to customers ¥4,300,522 ¥257,957 ¥266,295 ¥4,824,775 
Interarea transfer 1,234 1,883 3,780 ¥(6,899)

Total revenues 4,301,757 259,841 270,076 (6,899) 4,824,775 
Operating expenses 4,137,912 250,479 253,784 (7,129) 4,635,047 
Operating income ¥   163,845 ¥    9,361 ¥  16,291 ¥     230 ¥   189,728 
Total assets ¥2,956,301 ¥228,293 ¥325,753 ¥23,997 ¥3,534,346 

(2) Geographical segments
The geographical segments of the Company and its subsidiaries for the years ended February 20, 2005, 2006 and 2007 are summarized as follows:

Millions of Yen

’05
North Eliminations/

Japan America Others Corporate Consolidated

Sales to customers ¥3,828,654 ¥179,768 ¥187,421 ¥4,195,843 
Interarea transfer 1,554 1,612 3,501 ¥(6,669)

Total revenues 3,830,208 181,380 190,923 (6,669) 4,195,843 
Operating expenses 3,708,172 165,480 182,088 (6,674) 4,049,066 
Operating income ¥   122,035 ¥  15,900 ¥    8,835 ¥         5 ¥   146,777 
Total assets ¥2,439,962 ¥116,346 ¥183,505 ¥12,275 ¥2,752,088 

Notes: 1. Major countries and areas included in each geographic segment are as follows:
North America: the United States of America and Canada 
Others: China, Korea, Taiwan, Malaysia, Thailand, Singapore and Australia

2. Total assets of “Eliminations/corporate” at February 20, 2005 include corporate assets, consisting primarily of cash, time deposits, securities, other current assets and
investment securities maintained with regard to corporate finance activities. Corporate assets as of February 20, 2005 were ¥24,502 million.
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Size : August, 2006 February, 2006

Millions of Thousands of Millions of
Yen U.S. Dollars Yen

1) Share capital:
2) Number of employees:
3) Number of outlets:
4) Revenues:
5) Net income:
6) Total assets:
7) Equity:

The above selected financial data is derived from the semi-annual and annual securities reports filed by Daiei in Japan with the Kanto Local Finance Bureau for its six months
ended August 31, 2006 and its fiscal year ended February 28, 2006. The items 1) to 3) are non-consolidated figures and items 4) to 7) are consolidated figures.

¥    56,517
6,019

551,530
13,353

1,235,598
161,021

¥     56,517
6,979

210
1,431,508

413,160
1,343,307

112,632

$    470,975

4,596,083
111,275

10,296,650
1,341,841

a. Acquisition of shares
On March 9, 2007, the Company, Marubeni Corporation (“Marubeni”)
and The Daiei, Inc. (“Daiei”) entered into the contracts of acquisition of
shares and the Company acquired a part of issued shares of Daiei held
by Marubeni and a part of issued shares of The Maruetsu, Inc.
(“Maruetsu”) held by Daiei on March 16, 2007.

(1) Reason and purpose of the acquisition of shares
Based on a memorandum of understanding prepared to facilitate
exclusive negotiations for establishing a capital and business
alliance (signed on October 13, 2006), the Company, Daiei and
Marubeni held discussions and reviewed the conditions. As a result,
the parties reached an agreement that it was possible to enhance the
corporate value of both companies by cooperating and collaborating,

which was based on a shared basic philosophy that customers
always come first. On March 9, 2007, the Company, Marubeni and
Daiei entered into the contract of capital and business alliance. In
signing the contract for the alliance, it was also agreed that the
Company would acquire a part of issued shares of Daiei and
Maruetsu.

(2) Name of the company (transferor of shares)
Shares of Daiei : Marubeni
Shares of Maruetsu : Daiei

(3) Outline of the subject companies
Name: The Daiei, Inc.
Description of business: General merchandise store (GMS) operations

23. Subsequent event

(3) Sales to foreign customers
Sales to foreign customers for the years ended February 20, 2005, 2006 and 2007 amounted to ¥367,189 million, ¥428,580 million and ¥524,252 million
($4,368,773 thousand), respectively.

Thousands of U.S. Dollars

’07
North Asia and Eliminations/

Japan America Others Corporate Consolidated

Sales to customers $35,837,687 $2,149,647 $2,219,125 $40,206,460 
Interarea transfer 10,289 15,696 31,508 $(57,493)

Total revenues 35,847,977 2,165,343 2,250,633 (57,493) 40,206,460 
Operating expenses 34,482,601 2,087,332 2,114,873 (59,414) 38,625,393 
Operating income $  1,365,375 $     78,010 $   135,760 $    1,920 $  1,581,067 
Total assets $24,635,849 $1,902,446 $2,714,613 $199,976 $29,452,885 

Notes: 1. Major countries and areas included in each geographic segment are as follows:
North America: the United States of America and Canada
Asia and Others: China, Korea, Taiwan, Malaysia, Thailand, Singapore, Indonesia and Australia

2. The Company changed the name of segment “Others” to “Asia and Others”, since the Group advanced store development in China and Malaysia and strategic impor-
tance of Asia is getting greater.

3. Total assets of “Eliminations/corporate” at February 20, 2007 include corporate assets, consisting primarily of cash, time deposits, securities, other current assets and
investment securities maintained with regard to corporate finance activities. Corporate assets as of February 20, 2007 were ¥28,474 million($237,291 thousand).

4. Certain foreign consolidated subsidiaries changed the presentation of Revenues from concessionaire to net, in order to conform to the presentation of the Company and
the current accounting practice in those countries.
The effect of this change was to decrease total revenues of “Asia and Others” segment for the year ended February 20, 2007, by ¥25,283 million ($210,697 thousand).
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(4) Date of acquisition of shares
March 16, 2007

(5) Outline of the acquired shares
Name: The Daiei, Inc.
Number of shares purchased: 29,860,000 subordinated shares with
voting rights
Total value and purchased price: ¥46,283 million ($385,691 thou-
sand), ¥1,550 ($12.9) per share
Post-acquisition percentage of ownership: 15.00%
Post-acquisition percentage of voting rights: 15.12%

Notes: 1) 29,860,000 subordinated shares are convertible to Daiei’s common
shares at issued price after May 10, 2007.
These shares have voting rights at shareholders’ meeting, no divi-
dend rights and subordinated to common shares with regard to the
rights to claim the distribution of remaining assets.

2) Both post-acquisition percentage of ownership and post-acquisition
percentage of voting rights are calculated based on the total number
of shares outstanding and the number of voting rights provided in
semiannual report issued in August, 2006.

Name: The Maruetsu, Inc.
Number of shares purchased: 26,201,000 shares of common stock
Total value and purchased price: ¥16,506 million ($137,555 thou-
sand), ¥630 ($5.2) per share
Post-acquisition percentage of ownership: 20.33%
Post-acquisition percentage of voting rights: 21.27%

Note: Both post-acquisition percentage of ownership and post-acquisition per-
centage of voting rights are calculated based on the total number of
shares outstanding and the number of voting rights provided in semian-
nual report issued in August, 2006.

(6) Financing and method of payment
The purchase was financed by cash out of the proceeds from the
issuance of common stock in November, 2006.

(7) Other important stipulations etc.
1) Personnel exchanges both management and employees (Daiei)

The Company will send two board members and one corporate
auditor to Daiei, and promote the exchange of employees for
achieving an effective business alliance.

2) Restriction of exercising voting rights and stock transfer (Daiei)
Based on the Shareholders’ contract which was entered into
on March 9, 2007, the Company, Marubeni, Marubeni Retail
Investment Corporation(“MRI”), and Marubeni Foods
Investment Co.,Ltd.(“MFI”) agreed that the voting rights
should be exercised for specific matters in a specified manner
and the stock transfer was prohibited until the certain condi-
tions were met.
Daiei’s shares of 29,860,000 held by the Company, that of
36,645,394 held by Marubeni, that of 19,903,900 held by MRI and
that of 1,739,150 held by MFI were subject to this contract.

b. Appropriations of retained earnings
The following appropriations of retained earnings at February 20, 2007
were resolved at the Board of Directors meeting held on April 4, 2007:

Thousands of
Millions of Yen U.S. Dollars

Year-end cash dividends,
¥15 ($0.1) per share ¥ 11,994  $ 99,957 

Size : August, 2006 February, 2006

Millions of Thousands of Millions of
Yen U.S. Dollars Yen

1) Share capital:
2) Number of employees:
3) Number of outlets:
4) Revenues:
5) Net income (loss) :
6) Total assets:
7) Equity:

The above selected financial data is derived from the semi-annual and annual securities reports filed by Maruetsu in Japan with the Kanto Local Finance Bureau for its six months
ended August 31, 2006 and its fiscal year ended February 28, 2006. The items 1) to 3) are non-consolidated figures and items 4) to 7) are consolidated figures.

¥ 37,549
3,345

194
161,379

1,747
124,541
39,902

¥  37,549
3,355

201
323,313

(9,631)
130,346
38,178

$   312,912

1,344,828
14,560

1,037,845
332,517

Name: The Maruetsu, Inc.
Description of business: Supermarket operations
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Board of directors (as of May 11, 2007)

Board of directors

Hideo Nojima
Chairman of the Board, ÆON CO., LTD.

Motoya Okada
President, ÆON CO., LTD.

Yoshiki Mori
President and C.E.O., ÆON CREDIT SERVICE CO., LTD.

Yoshiharu Kawato
Chairman, The Daiei, Inc.

Genzo Yamazaki
Attorney at Law

Masami Ishizaka
Vice Chairman, The General Insurance Association of Japan

Hideki Kurashige
President & Senior Managing Director, RHJI Industrial Partners Asia, Inc.

Executive officers

President

Motoya Okada*

Executive Vice President

Naoki Hayashi
Masaaki Toyoshima
Yoshiharu Nishitani
Kunihiko Hisaki
Shouhei Murai
Kazunori Umemoto

Senior Vice President

Masato Nishimatsu
Tetsuo Imoto
Atsunobu Agata
Yuichiro Okauchi
Yuiken Tsutsumi
Tsutomu Kajita
Yasuhide Chikazawa
Yoshihiro Izuka
Tsunenori Goda
Kunio Nakamura

Vice President

Yuhou Iesaka
Nobuhisa Takahashi
Shuichiro Hara
Hideshi Shigita
Korehide Arai
Masao Tsuiki
Koichi Matsuhaba
Mitsuko Tsuchiya
Kuniaki Miyachi
Shigeyuki Hayamizu
Mamoru Kuchihiro
Hideki Wakabayashi
Ryoichi Morimoto 

* Representative Executive Officer

Executive officers (as of May 11, 2007)
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Corporate governance

Corporate governance reforms 
Corporate governance reform is a key component of our
ongoing efforts to maximize ÆON’s corporate value. 

ÆON Co., Ltd. has adopted the “Company with
Committees” system as its governance structure. This
structure provides a clear separation between the super-
visory and executive roles of directors and executive offi-
cers. To ensure prompt management decision-making,
substantial authority has been delegated to executive
officers with regard to the achievement of medium-term
and long-term goals. At the same time, by strengthening
the supervisory powers of directors to ensure transparen-
cy and objectivity in management decision-making, we
consistently focus on returns to shareholders.

Under a motion approved at the annual general meet-

ing of shareholders in May 2007, ÆON Co., Ltd. has elected
a Board of Directors consisting of seven directors, includ-
ing a non-executive chairman. Directors have also been
elected to three committees: the Nomination Committee,
the Compensation Committee and the Audit Committee.

ÆON has taken careful steps to avoid over-reliance
on internal information resources and shared values in
the implementation of its “customer-first” management
philosophy and CSR activities. One of those measures
was the establishment of its own advisory council
through which ÆON canvasses the knowledge and views
of outside experts. The theme for the two committee
meetings held in the year under review was “creating the
world’s most pleasant shops.” Participants shared their
views and recommendations on how ÆON can best

ÆON’s Original
Advisory Councils

Independent A
uditors

Executive Officers
President

and 29 other executives

Chairman of the Board: non-execution

Appointment/dismissal
for each committee

(One doubles as a director)

Board of Directors

ÆON Executive Committee

ÆON Management Committee

Appointment/
dismissal

Supervision*,
Appointment/

dismissal

Compensation
decisions

Audit

Propose appointment/
dismissal of independent auditors

Propose appointment/
dismissal of directors

Appointment/
dismissal

Shareholders’ Meeting

Executive
Officers

Outside
Directors

Inside
Directors

Nomination Committee

Compensation Committee

Audit Committee

A
ccounting audit

*The same person may serve as outside director
  no more than six times, to assure objectivity.

As of the May 11, 2007 resolution
 by the Board of Directors

ÆON pursues open management to earn and maintain the trust of its

shareholders. We are continually improving and strengthening our

supervisory and executive structures and the systems that allow us to

make prompt management decisions.



ÆON ANNUAL REPORT 2007 69

adapt to future changes in the business environment,
particularly through provision of enjoyable shopping
experiences for the Baby Boom generation. 

Basic policy on internal control systems 
ÆON is developing internal control systems capable of
supporting the continuing growth and improvement of its
business activities. The most fundamental priority in this
context is the reinforcement of systems relating to corpo-
rate ethics. ÆON is working to instill and consolidate a
culture of good ethical behavior among its group employ-
ees in accordance with the ÆON Code of Conduct, which
was adopted in 2003. 

As outlined below, the Board of Directors has adopt-
ed several resolutions concerning requirements for the
performance of the duties of the Audit Committee, sys-
tems to ensure that executive officers perform their duties
in accordance with the law and the articles of incorpora-
tion, and the systems required to ensure that all other
corporate operations are conducted appropriately. 

1. Audit systems—The Internal Audit Department will
assist the Audit Committee in the performance of its
duties, and the approval of the Audit Committee will be
required for any membership changes to the Internal
Audit Department.

The Audit Committee will receive regular reports
concerning internal audits and internal control sys-
tems covering the entire ÆON Group, and information
provided through the internal reporting systems, which
are available to all employees. 

The Internal Audit Department will attend important
meetings, receive reports from executive officers and oth-
ers on the performance of their duties, and report to the
Audit Committee.

2. Information storage and management systems—
Secretariats will prepare and retain minutes of all meet-
ings. Written decisions will be stored and managed
appropriately by proponents.

3. Risk management systems—Risk management offi-
cers will be appointed to establish risk management sys-
tems under the auspices of the ÆON Executive

Committee as the most senior management organ. The
operation of these systems will be supervised by the
Internal Audit Department.

4. Efficient executive systems—To ensure that the execu-
tive role is performed systematically and efficiently,
duties and authority for each post will be defined accord-
ing to the professional responsibility and authority regu-
lations. To provide effective checks and balances, provi-
sion will also be made for consultation with specific orga-
nizational units. 

5. Compliance systems—ÆON will maintain a code of
conduct and ensure all staff are aware of the require-
ments. Regular compliance training will be provided, and
compliance systems based on the latest amendments to
laws will be established. 

6. Group company management systems—Group compa-
nies will participate in management planning deliberations
through the ÆON Management Committee (the supreme
group management conference) and other forums. ÆON
CO., LTD. corporate divisions will provide operational guid-
ance as the group headquarters. While maintaining the
autonomy and independence of individual companies, the
group as a whole will operate under integrated management.

ssPrincipal duties

1. Supervision of the performance of duties of
directors and executive officers 

2. Decisions on matters that require resolution
by the Board of Directors under the provi-
sions of Article 416 of the Japanese
Company Law that cannot be delegated to
executive officers

1. Auditing of the performance of duties of
directors and executive officers

2. Decisions pertaining to the content of
motions to be put to shareholders’ meetings
concerning the appointment, dismissal and
non-reappointment of independent auditors

Decisions concerning the content of motions
to be put to shareholders’ meetings concern-
ing the appointment and dismissal of directors

Decisions concerning the content of personal
remuneration received by directors and execu-
tive officers

Organization No.

Board of
Directors

Audit
Committee

Nomination
Committee

7

13

3

4Compensation
Committee

Duties
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Compliance

ÆON companies are expected to operate under shared regulatory 

and ethical guidelines and balance economic, environmental and

social needs in their business activities. ÆON will strive to earn and

maintain the trust of society by fulfilling its social responsibilities.

The ÆON code of conduct
ÆON’s unchanging principles are the pursuit of peace,
respect for humanity and contribution to local communi-
ties, always with the customer as the starting point. To
embody these principles, ÆON enacted the ÆON
Declaration and ÆON Code of Conduct. The ÆON Code
of Conduct applies directly to behavior and decision-
making of day-to-day activities. The code recognizes five
stakeholders: customers, local communities, suppliers,
shareholders and ÆON employees.

ÆON’s corporate value is formed by continuous and
long-lasting business growth and cooperation with sup-
pliers, as well as measures toward secure employment,

improvement of the standards of living, environmental
protection and social contribution. A sense of mission
guides our efforts to instill and consolidate the ÆON
Code of Conduct among all ÆON Group employees. By
the year 2006, we have trained 5,000 ÆON Code of
Conduct guides to provide leadership relating to our cor-
porate philosophy.

The ÆON Supplier code of conduct
ÆON believes that it must be accountable to society not
only for the quality and safety of the goods that it han-
dles, but also for their production process. In 2003, it for-
mulated the ÆON Supplier Code of Conduct for ÆON’s

The ÆON code of conduct commitment

笊　ÆON people are always grateful to the many
other individuals who provide support and help,
never forgetting to act with humility.

笆　ÆON people value the trust of others more than
anything else, always acting with integrity and
sincerity in all situations.

笳　ÆON people actively seek out ways to exceed
customer expectations.

笘　ÆON people continually challenge themselves to
find new ways to accomplish the ÆON ideals.

笙　ÆON people support local community
growth, acting as good corporate citizens in
serving society. Relevant laws and regulations

Rules of action/manuals

Our commitments to
customers together with

partners and ÆON people

The ÆON Code of
Conduct Commitment

In establishing 
the ÆON Code of Conduct

Corporate Commitment

Basic Principles

T
he Æ

O
N

 C
ode of C

onduct

M
orality

Econom
ic

efficiency

ssPositioning of the ÆON code of conduct
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ssRequirements of the ÆON supplier code of conduct

Suppliers are required to comply with statutory standards of social responsibility enacted 
in the countries where they run manufacturing and sourcing operations.

Observe laws and regulations.. .Comply with laws and regulations of relevant countries.

笊 Child labor...Illegal child labor is prohibited.
笆 Forced labor...Forced, prison or restricted labor is prohibited.
笳 Occupational safety, hygiene and health...A safe and healthy workplace must be provided.
笘 Freedom of association and the right of collective bargaining...

Employees’ rights must be respected.
笙 Discrimination...Employers must not discriminate against employees on the basis of 

religious belief or birth attributes, such as race.
笞 Discipline...Employers must not impose harsh discipline on their employees.
笵Working hours...Laws and regulations on working hours must be observed.
笨Wages and benefit packages...Laws and regulations on wages and benefit packages must be observed.
笶Management responsibility...Suppliers are asked to sign a declaration promising to observe the ÆON Supplier CoC.
筐 The environment...Suppliers are asked to engage in prevention and control of environmental contamination and destruction.
筺 Business dealings...Suppliers are asked to observe the laws and regulations governing business dealings.
笄 Certification, auditing and monitoring...Suppliers are asked to receive certification, auditing 

and monitoring under the ÆON Supplier CoC. 
筍 Prohibition of gift giving...Gift giving between ÆON employees and our suppliers is prohibited.

private-brand TOPVALU products, based on the interna-
tionally-recognized SA8000 certification and encompass-
es more than 400 factories and other suppliers in 25
countries. The Code requires suppliers to observe the
laws and regulations of the country or region of opera-
tions, to show consideration for the environment and to
respect the human rights of farmers and factory workers.
The aim is to ensure that all workers enjoy safe and
hygienic working conditions and receive appropriate
wages. We have held 11 seminars in Japan and four
overseas to explain the Supplier Code of Conduct to con-
tract manufacturers, and they have submitted compli-
ance pledges to ÆON. 

It is also necessary to monitor supplier compliance
and efforts to improve their operations. ÆON imple-
ments a thorough factory supervision program in sup-
port of the ÆON Supplier Code of Conduct. This pro-
gram consists of inspections by ÆON staff, and third-
party inspections by specialist inspection organizations.

SA8000 certification
In November 2004, ÆON became the first retailer in Japan
to achieve the SA8000 certification, which is the interna-
tional standard for corporate ethics, human rights and
labor. The certification covers TOPVALU supplier man-
agement and the head office operations of ÆON Co., Ltd.

SA8000 was created to promote respect for human
rights and the improvement of working conditions. It
requires compliance in eight areas, including protec-
tion of human rights and the elimination of discrimina-
tion in employment. It also requires the establishment
and continuing improvement of management systems
to ensure compliance in those areas. Having asked its
suppliers to comply with the
ÆON Supplier Code of Conduct,
ÆON recognized that it also
needed to apply stringent man-
agement standards to its own
activities and therefore decided
to seek SA8000 certification. 
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Risk management 
Risk management is an important priority for all ÆON
organizational units. This commitment is reflected in the
risk management activities of individual companies and
units. Risk management activities are monitored by inter-
nal control units, including the General Affairs
Department, the Customer Service Department and the
Quality Control Department. In the event of an unfore-
seen contingency or accident, a response team is imme-
diately formed under the leadership of the General
Affairs Department to minimize the impact of the situa-
tion. Multi-department task forces are formed to predict,
anticipate and proactively deal with risk factors that have
significant impact. 

Disaster prevention in local communities
ÆON wants its shopping malls to play pivotal roles in their
local communities to help enhance lifestyles, security and
satisfaction for its customers. To date, some 600 ÆON
stores and business sites have pledged to work with local
governments and provide support in times of disaster by
signing comprehensive disaster prevention cooperation
agreements. ÆON malls are equipped with “balloon shel-
ters,” inflatable emergency evacuation shelters. The malls
are also ready to provide emergency supplies, and their
parking lots can be used as evacuation points. Other spe-
cific measures implemented as part of ÆON’s contribution
to disaster prevention and readiness include participation
in joint disaster prevention exercises. 

Protection of personal information
Under its principles, ÆON recognizes the privacy of per-
sonal information and helps to promote the peace of mind
and quality of life of its customers by handling such infor-
mation with great care. Personal information is the founda-
tion of personal autonomy and values and must be treated
with the same respect as human beings. ÆON is building
relationships of trust by maintaining appropriate control
over information that it receives from customers. 

On November 16, 2005, ÆON Co., Ltd. was certified
“Privacy Mark” from the Japan Information Processing
Development Corporation (JIPDEC). This mark indicates that
the organization concerned has implemented appropriate
protective measures for the handling of personal information.
ÆON will continually improve the protection of personal
information and information security to earn the trust of our
customers and shareholders.

ssÆON Joint disaster prevention drills

q q

ÆON CO., LTD.

Reporting Feedback

2: Unified drills on September 1

7 Reports to the earthquake folder
8 Postquake checking of facilities,

equipment

q
q

Risk management

ÆON has established risk management systems to 

anticipate various business risks, and to minimize the 

impact when risk situations occur. 

1: Primary drills

1 Collecting information from municipal offices 
2 Assumption of damage to ÆON stores
3 Measures to prevent merchandise 

from dropping and equipment from falling
4 Reading through rules for antiquake measures
5 Confirmation of entries in earthquake handbooks
6 Test-use of 171 Disaster Message Dial 

telephone service

3: Store-specific drills

9 Intrastore communication
10 Confirmation of employees’ safety
11 Direction of customers to safety (simulation)
12 Over-the-counter sales (simulation)
13 In-store public address system 

announcement (simulation)
14 Power-failure responses (simulation)
15 Other drills by stores on their own

Drills conducted by stores
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Corporate history

1758 

Sozaemon Okada establishes
Shinoharaya, the forerunner of
JUSCO, in Yokkaichi and begins
trading in kimono fabrics and
accessories.

1887

Soemon Okada moves
Shinoharaya, located in Yokkaichi-
hisaroku machi, to Yokkaichi-tsuji
machi. Shinoharaya changes name
to Okadaya.

1920

Okadaya discounts products during
big economic crash after the World
War I, following the family motto,
“Do not earn with higher price; earn
with lower price.”

1926 

Sept. Soemon Okada restructures
Okadaya as a joint stock company.
Okadaya kimono store established.

1937

Nov. Kazuichi Futagi establishes Futagi
clothing store in Himeji.

1946

June Takuya Okada named President of
Okadaya kimono store.

1949

July Futagi restructured as a joint stock
company. Kazuichi Futagi named as
President.

1955

Aug. Jiro Inoue establishes Iida in
Toyonaka.

1959

Nov. Okadaya Kimono Store changes
name to Okadaya.

1968 

May Business tie-up established
between Okadaya and Futagi.

June Shiro joins the partnership between
Okadaya and Futagi. 

1969 

Feb. JUSCO established as a joint 
purchasing organization through
joint venture of Okadaya, Futagi and
Shiro. 

Mar. JUSCO and Mitsubishi Shoji jointly
establish Diamond City.

1970 

Mar. Okadaya merges with Futagi,
Okadaya chain, Kawamura and
JUSCO.

Apr. Okadaya changes name to JUSCO.

1972 

Aug. JUSCO merges with Yamateya,
Yamateya Sangyo and Keihan
JUSCO.

1974 

June The R. MI. JUSCO farm (current
Tasmania Feedlot) established in
Australia.

Sept. JUSCO listed on Second Sections of
the Tokyo, Osaka and Nagoya Stock
Exchanges.

1976

Aug. JUSCO moved up to First Sections
of the Tokyo, Osaka and Nagoya
Stock Exchanges. 

Aug. JUSCO establishes a headquarters
in Tokyo and begins the “2 head-
quarters, 1 branch system.”

1980

Sept. JUSCO credit card issued.

Dec. Abilities JUSCO established as joint
venture with Japan Abilities
Incorporated.

1984

Sept. Jaya JUSCO Stores established in
Malaysia. 

Oct. Business agreement concluded with
U.K.’s Laura Ashley. 

Dec. Siam JUSCO established in
Thailand.

1985

June Jaya JUSCO Stores opens the first
overseas store for JUSCO. 

Dec. JUSCO Stores (Hong Kong) 
established.

1986

Feb. LAURA ASHLEY JAPAN
established as joint venture between
JUSCO and Laura Ashley.

Oct. Shinshu JUSCO becomes the first
subsidiary of ÆON Group to list on
Second Section of the Nagoya Stock
Exchange.

1988

June Talbots, a U.S. women’s fashion
specialty chain store, joins JUSCO
Group.

Sept. Well Mart listed on the OTC market.

1989

Sept. JUSCO Group renamed ÆON
Group, and ÆON Group 1% Club
established to promote activities of
benefit to society. 

Oct. Diamond City listed on Second
Section of Osaka Stock Exchange.

1990

Apr. JUSCO forms joint venture with
U.K.-based The Body Shop. 

June MINISTOP concludes a contract for
technical support with Miwon 
(current Daesang Distribution &
Services) of South Korea.

June ÆON Forest, which carries out
domestic operations of The Body
Shop, established. 

Aug. COX listed on the OTC market. 

Aug. ÆON Group announces 
participation in management of
U.K.’s Laura Ashley. 

1991

Jan. ÆON Group Environment
Foundation established. 

Sept. Business and capital partnership
established with home center 
operator, Keiyo.

Oct. Jaya JUSCO Stores Malacca Store
opens in Malaysia—first store to
have trees planted under “ÆON
Hometown Forests” program.

1992

Jan. JUSCO, Keiyo and Ishiguro Homa
conclude business and capital 
tie-up to develop new type of 
discount store.

Apr. 20 thousand trees planted at the
JUSCO Shin Hisai Store, the first
Japanese store of “ÆON Hometown
Forests” program.

Oct. ÆON Environment Foundation 
officially recognized as a corpora-
tion operating for the public good.

1993

July MINISTOP listed on Second Section
of Tokyo Stock Exchange. 

Nov. Talbots listed on New York Stock
Exchange.

1994

Feb. JUSCO Stores (Hong Kong) listed
on Hong Kong Stock Exchange. 

Mar. Business and capital tie-up with
Nakasan Department Store, a 
leading department store in Tohoku.
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May Construction of a new office build-
ing, the “ÆON Tower,” completed.

July Tie-up with Claire’s Stores,
America’s largest chain store of
fashion accessories, to develop
chain in Japan. 

Sept. Private-brand TOPVALU launched. 

Nov. Business and capital tie-up with a
large liquor discounted store chain
operator, YAMAYA CORP.

Nov. MINISTOP concludes a franchise
contract overseas with Philippine
MCA Corporation.

Dec. ÆON CREDIT SERVICE listed on
the OTC market.

1995

Jan. Operational and capital partnership
established between JUSCO and
TSURUHA. 

Feb. My Land Shoes renamed NUSTEP
after merging with Diamond
Takada.

Aug. Ishiguro Homa, Make and Ishiguro
JUSCO merge to establish Homac. 

Sept. ÆON CREDIT SERVICE (ASIA) list-
ed on Hong Kong Stock Exchange. 

Nov. BLUE GRASS listed on the OTC
market. 

Dec. Guangdong JUSCO Teem Stores
established. 

Dec. JUSCO becomes capital participant
in Home Wide.

1996

Mar. Qingdao Dongtai JUSCO 
established.

July Guangdong JUSCO Teem Stores
opens JUSCO’s first regional store
in China.

July JUSCO, Mitsubishi Shoji and
Mitsubishi Shoji Sekiyu jointly
finance the establishment of MEGA
PETRO.

July Mega Sports opens the first store of
the U.S. No. 1 sports-related specialty
store, SPORTS AUTHORITY, in
Nagoya, Japan.

Aug. JUS-Photo listed on the OTC 
market. 

Aug. MINISTOP moves from Second
Section of Tokyo Stock Exchange to
First Section.

Dec. ÆON CREDIT SERVICE listed on
Second Section of Tokyo Stock
Exchange. 

Dec. Jaya JUSCO Stores listed on main
board of Kuala Lumpur Stock
Exchange.

1997 

Feb. ÆON Fantasy established. 

Feb. JUSCO Maintenance renamed
ÆON Techno Service.

June Motoya Okada named President of
JUSCO.

1998 

July JUSCO becomes a capital partici-
pant in Kojima, the largest pet shop
chain in Japan, to form the fully 
capitalized PETCITY. 

July JUSCO begins cooperating with the
major American fashion apparel
chain Liz Claiborne. 

July 2,500 volunteers from China and
Japan participate in first tree-plant-
ing along the Great Wall of China.

Aug. ÆON CREDIT SERVICE listed on
First Section of Tokyo Stock
Exchange.

1999 

Jan. Donation drive held for Cambodian
artificial limb center.

Jan. JUSCO, TSURUHA and Kraft 
establish business tie-up. JUSCO
becomes capital participant in Kraft. 

Feb. Liz Japan established as joint 
venture between JUSCO and Liz
Claiborne.

Apr. Cinema complex operator, ÆON
CINEMAS established.

July The second tree-planting session of
the “Great Wall Reforestation” 
project held.

Aug. JUSCO merges with Shinshu
JUSCO and Ogiya JUSCO. 

Aug. Kyushu JUSCO and Asahi JUSCO
merge. 

Aug. Primart and Okinawa JUSCO merge
to establish RYUKYU JUSCO. 

Aug. JUSCO, TSURUHA and Drug
Eleven establish business tie-up,
and JUSCO becomes capital 
participant in Drug Eleven. 

2000 

Jan. JUSCO, TSURUHA and Sugi
Pharmacy establish business and
capital tie-up. 

Feb. JUSCO and GREENCROSS · COA
establish business and capital tie-up.

Feb. JUSCO merges with Hokuriku
JUSCO. 

Mar. Yaohan Japan changes name to
Yaohan and enters into ÆON Group.

Mar. Private-brand TOPVALU rejuvenated.

Apr. JUSCO and Hac-kimisawa establish
business and capital tie-up. 

May JUSCO, Takiya Shoji and Sugi
Pharmacy establish business tie-up.
JUSCO becomes capital and 
business participant in Takiya Shoji. 

May The third tree-planting session of
the “Great Wall Reforestation” 
project held.

May Takuya Okada retires as Chairman
of JUSCO and becomes Honorary
Chairman and Adviser. Toshiji
Tokiwa becomes Chairman.

May Tohoku Well Mart changes name to
Maxvalu Tohoku. 

May ÆON Group “My Basket” campaign
initially launched.

June JUSCO obtains ISO 14001 certifica-
tion for all of its offices and stores. 

Aug. Kyushu JUSCO listed on the OTC
market. 

Aug. Maxvalu Tohoku listed on Second
Section of Tokyo Stock Exchange. 

Aug. Well Mart and Sanyo Maxvalu
merge and change name to Maxvalu
Nishinihon. 

Sept. ÆON Group acquires Organic-JAS
certification for TOPVALU GREEN-
EYE products from Ministry of
Agriculture Forestry and Fishery of
Japan.

Oct. Sapporo Food Center and Hokkaido
JUSCO merge and change name to
Maxvalu Hokkaido. 

Oct. Frex Acore changes name to
Maxvalu Chubu. 

Dec. The total number of trees planted
under “ÆON Hometown Forests”
program exceeds 4 million. 

2001 

Jan. “ÆON Welcia Stores” selected as
the group name for the ÆON Group
Pharmacy and Drugstore Alliance. 

Feb. Welpark joins ÆON Welcia Stores
drugstore alliance.

Mar. Maxvalu Nishinihon integrates
Mammy, a supermarket chain in
Yamaguchi.

Apr. ÆON Group begins to gather dona-
tions for school construction 
program in Cambodia. 
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June ÆON Group’s Sendai Distribution
Center becomes operational. 

June ÆON Kosan changes name to ÆON
Mall. 

Aug. Takiya Shoji and Drux merge as
Takiya. 

Aug. JUSCO Co., Ltd. becomes ÆON
CO., LTD. and ÆON Group name
changed to ÆON. “Global 10” vision
announced.

Oct. GREENCROSS · COA listed on the
OTC market.

Dec. AEON THANA SINSAP (THAI-
LAND) listed on Thai Stock
Exchange. 

2002 

Jan. The first “ÆON Clean Road” 
campaign held.

Feb. ÆON Fantasy listed on the OTC
market. 

Feb. Terminals for customer access to
Japanese beef production records
introduced.

Mar. Yaohan recovery plan completed
and Yaohan becomes Maxvalu
Tokai. 

Mar. YAMAYA CORP. listed on Second
Section of Tokyo Stock Exchange.

Mar. Maxvalu Kyushu established.

Apr. ÆON starts the second charity drive
for school construction program in
Cambodia.

May ÆON CO., LTD. and Drug
Terashima establish business and
capital tie-up.

May Shenzhen AEON Friendship Co.,
Ltd. established in Shenzhen,
China.

May TSURUHA listed on First Section of
Tokyo Stock Exchange.

May Five JUSCO stores adopt 13 cus-
tomers as a deputy store manager.

May Hallo, a supermarket chain, joins
ÆON.

July ÆON Mall listed on First Section of
Tokyo Stock Exchange.

Sept. Tree-planting project performed in
Shiretoko, Hokkaido.

Sept. IINO joins ÆON Welcia Stores drug-
store alliance.

Oct. “Deputy Store Manager” system
expanded to 89 customers and 34
stores.

Nov. Sales of Food Artisan products
begins.

Nov. Diamond City listed on Second
Section of Tokyo Stock Exchange.

2003 

Feb. Diamond City listed on First
Sections of Tokyo and Osaka Stock
Exchanges.

Feb. Kansai NDC, one of the largest 
distribution centers in Japan, begins
operation.

Apr. Talbots opens its first store for men
in Connecticut, U.S.A.

Apr. ÆON starts the third charity drive
for school construction program in
Cambodia.

May ÆON CO., LTD. adopts Company
with Committees governance 
structure.

June ÆON CO., LTD. and Kasumi estab-
lish business and capital tie-up.

July Taiwan AEON Stores opens its first
regional JUSCO store in Taiwan.

Aug. ÆON CO., LTD. and SUNDAY
establish business and capital 
tie-up.

Sept. Kyushu JUSCO and Home Wide
merge to form ÆON KYUSHU.

Oct. “Deputy Store Manager” system
expanded to 110 customers and 43
stores.

Nov. MYCAL CORPORATION and
MYCALKYUSHU CORPORATION
become a part of ÆON.

Nov. ÆON CO., LTD. and Posfūl
Corporation establish business and
capital tie-up.

Nov. ÆON Fantasy listed on Second
Section of Tokyo Stock Exchange.

Nov. Maxvalu Kyushu, Nishi Kyushu Well
Mart and Hallo merge as Maxvalu
Kyushu.

2004

Jan. Gourmet D’Or and Jack merge as
Gourmet D’Or.

Mar. ÆON begins to collect donations for
a program to support school 
construction in Nepal. 

Apr. ÆON CO., LTD. and Inageya 
establish business tie-up.

Apr. The total number of trees planted
under “ÆON Hometown Forests”
program exceeds 5 million.

June JOY becomes a subsidiary of ÆON
CO., LTD.

July Maxvalu Tokai relisted on Second
Section of Tokyo Stock Exchange. 

Aug. ÆON CO., LTD. increases its capital
through a publicly subscribed issue
of 27 million shares. 

Sept. The “ ” brand 
message launched as a new brand
strategy. 

Sept. The “TOPVALU” range updated to
mark the brand’s 10th anniversary. 

Sept. ÆON CO., LTD. announces its 
participation in the United Nations
Global Compact.

Sept. ÆON CO., LTD. celebrates the 30th
anniversary of its stock exchange
listing.

Sept. Jaya JUSCO Stores Bhd. changes
name to AEON Co. (M) Bhd. and
launches a tree-planting campaign
in Malaysia to commemorate its 20th
anniversary. 

Sept. AEON (China) established in
Shenzhen City, Guangdong
Province, China. 

Oct. ZWEI listed on the JASDAQ market.

Oct. ÆON launches a campaign to 
collect donations to help victims of
the Niigata-Chuetsu Earthquake
and Typhoon Tokage. 

Nov. ÆON CO., LTD. achieves SA8000
certification for its TOPVALU 
supplier management systems and
ÆON corporate operations. 

Nov. Medical Ikkou listed on the JASDAQ
market. 

Dec. CERTO Corporation listed on the
JASDAQ market.

Dec. ÆON collects donations to help 
victims of the tsunami triggered by
the Sumatra-Andaman Island
Earthquake.

Dec. ÆON Fantasy listed on First Section
of Tokyo Stock Exchange.

2005 

Mar. ÆON CO., LTD. and Carrefour S.A.
agree on a strategic business tie-up.
ÆON acquires management rights
of Carrefour Japan, and changes
name to ÆON Marché.

May ÆON CO., LTD. and home-center
operator SUNDAY agree to
strengthen their existing business
and capital tie-up. 
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May ÆON Chikusa Shopping Center
opened as ÆON’s first “Eco store.”

June ÆON CO., LTD. presents to UNICEF
donations for victims of the tsunami
triggered by the Sumatra-Andaman
Island Earthquake.

Sept. Emergency relief campaigns held
for the victims of Hurricane Katrina
in the U.S.

Oct. Super Center operations divided to
be succeeded by the newly 
organized ÆON SUPERCENTER.

Oct. Fundraising campaign for emer-
gency relief for the victims of the
Pakistan Earthquake performed.

Oct. Tree-planting in the area 
surrounding the Mount Lao Dam in
Qingdao City, China held.

Nov. AEON Co. (M) Bhd. opens its first
supermarket in Malaysia, J-One
Damansara Damai. 

Nov. Tree-planting activities performed
in tsunami-affected areas of Phuket,
Thailand.

Dec. East Japan Railway Company and
ÆON CO., LTD. agree on a 
comprehensive business tie-up.

Dec. ÆON announces the establishment
of a human-resource general 
training institute for ÆON Welcia
Stores.

Dec. ÆON enters business and capital
tie-up with TSURUYA SHOE
STORE.

Dec. MYCAL CORPORATION completes
corporate rehabilitation seven years
ahead of schedule.

2006 

Feb. Talbots in the U.S. announces a
friendly acquisition of J. Jill Group.

Feb. Celebration of the 15th anniversary
of the ÆON Environment
Foundation with invited guest,
Nobel Peace Prize laureate Wangari
Maathai.

Mar. WELCIA KANTO merges with IINO.

Mar. SPA-type everyday clothing 
introduced under TOPVALU brand.

Mar. ÆON CO., LTD. announces its 
participation in banking business
activities.

Mar. ORIGIN TOSHU becomes a 
consolidated subsidiary.

Mar. ÆON CO., LTD. agrees to introduce
a mobile credit payment service,
“iD” with NTT DoCoMo, Inc.

Mar. Six subsidiaries of ÆON CO., LTD.
and four subsidiaries of MYCAL
CORPORATION were consolidated
for the reorganization and reinforce-
ment of Service Operations. Japan
Maintenance, ÆON Fantasy, CERTO
Corporation, Gourmet D’Or, and
Research Institute For Quality Living
become new consolidated companies.

Apr. SUNDAY becomes a consolidated
company.

Apr. ÆON begins collecting donations
for the construction of schools in
Laos.

May NAFUKOHASEGAWA Corporation
becomes a consolidated subsidiary
of Maxvalu Chubu.

May Diamond City becomes a 
consolidated subsidiary.

May ÆON CO., LTD. presents to
Indonesian Embassy donations for
victims of the Java Indonesia
Earthquake.

July NAFUKOHASEGAWA Corporation
changes name to Maxvalu Nagoya.

July ÆON CO., LTD. and YAMAYA
CORP. establish the joint-venture
import company, Cordon Vert.

July ÆON CO., LTD. and Belc establish
business and capital tie-up.

Sept. New MYCAL store opens for the first
time in five years and nine months.

Sept. SUNDAY and JOY, home center
chain in Yamagata, establish 
business and capital tie-up.

Sept. JAPAN POST and ÆON CO., LTD.
agree on a comprehensive business
tie-up.

Oct. The second tree-planting project in
Qingdao and a workshop about a
Chinese historical figure, Jofuku,
held both in China.

Nov. ÆON CO., LTD. issues 70 million
shares through a public offering.

Nov. Tree-planting project performed in
Kenya.

Nov. Sales of seafood certified by the
Marine Stewardship Council (MSC)
begins. ÆON CO., LTD. becomes
the first retail company in Japan to
acquire MSC-CoC Certification.

Dec. ÆON CO., LTD. issues 4,591,300
shares through third-party 
allocation of shares.

Dec. ÆON CO., LTD. completes license
agreement with Walt Disney Japan,
and begins sales of original 
products with Disney characters.

2007 

Jan. A new method to reduce checkout
bag consumption tried at JUSCO
Higashiyama-Nijo Store.

Feb. ÆON stores accept electronic 
payments called “iD” using mobile
phones developed by NTT DoCoMo,
Inc. and Suica cards from East Japan
Railway Company after becoming
the first company in Japan to install
shared infrastructure for both of
these payment systems.

Feb. ÆON takes over Joy-Copain and
establishes a new company, ÆON
Bakery Systems. 

Feb. ÆON introduces a new human
resource management system,
under which employment for all
employees is extended to age of 65. 

Mar. ÆON CO., LTD., The Daiei, Inc., and
Marubeni Corporation agree on 
capital and business partnership.
Part of the Daiei’s shareholding in
The Maruetsu, Inc. is transferred to
ÆON. 

Mar. ÆON Mall and Diamond City resolve
to merge.

Mar. ÆON collects donations for emer-
gency assistance to victims of the
2007 Noto Peninsula Earthquake. 

Apr. ÆON CO., LTD. and Posfūl
Corporation agree to split off ÆON’s
general retailing operations in
Hokkaido and transfer them to
Posfūl Corporation.

Apr. ÆON KYUSHU and
MYCALKYUSHU CORPORATION
agree to merge. 

Apr. ÆON CO., LTD. becomes the first
company in the general retailing
industry to sign an agreement with
the Japanese Ministry of the
Environment concerning initiatives
toward the establishment of a 
recycling-oriented society. 

Apr. ÆON CO., LTD. acquires private
placement of shares in Posfūl
Corporation, which becomes a 
subsidiary. 

Apr. ÆON launches its own branded e-
money system, WAON. 
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Major group companies (as of Feb. 20, 2007)

Shareholder information

Head Office 1-5-1 Nakase, Mihama-ku, Chiba-shi, Chiba
261-8515, Japan
Tel: 81-(43)-212-6042
Fax: 81-(43)-212-6849
Homepage: http://www.aeon.info

Capital Stock ¥198,791 million (800,208,044 shares)

Shareholders’ Meeting May 11, 2007

Stock Exchange Listing Tokyo Stock Exchange

Transfer Agent The Chuo Mitsui Trust and Banking Co., Ltd.
33-1, Shiba 3-chome, Minato-ku, Tokyo 
105-8574, Japan

Independent Auditors Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu 
MS Shibaura Bldg., 
13-23, Shibaura
4-chome, Minato-ku, Tokyo 
108-8530, Japan

General Merchandise Stores (GMS)
ÆON CO., LTD.

* ÆON KYUSHU CO., LTD.
* AEON Stores (Hong Kong) Co., Ltd.
* AEON Co. (M) Bhd.
* ÆON Marché Co., Ltd.
* MYCAL CORPORATION
* MYCALKYUSHU CORPORATION
* RYUKYU JUSCO CO., LTD.
* AEON (China) Co., Ltd.
* Qingdao AEON Dongtai Co., Ltd.
* Guangdong JUSCO Teem Stores Co., Ltd.
* Shenzhen AEON Friendship Co., Ltd.
* Taiwan AEON Stores Co., Ltd.

Posfūl Corporation

Supermarkets
* Maxvalu Hokkaido Co., Ltd.
* Maxvalu Tohoku Co., Ltd.
* Maxvalu Tokai Co., Ltd.
* Maxvalu Chubu Co., Ltd.
* Maxvalu Nishinihon Co., Ltd.
* JOY CO., LTD.
* Joyful Tokai Co., Ltd.
* Maxvalu Nagoya Co., Ltd.
* Maxvalu Kyushu Co., Ltd.
* Siam JUSCO Co., Ltd.

KASUMI CO., LTD.

Drugstores
* TAKIYA Co., Ltd.

Terashima Co., Ltd.
WELCIA KANTO CO., LTD.
Kraft Inc.
Medical Ikkou Co., Ltd.
Welpark Co., Ltd.

Convenience stores
* MINISTOP CO., LTD.

Other retail stores
* SUNDAY CO., LTD.
* ÆON SUPERCENTER CO., LTD.
* Bon Belta Co., Ltd.
* Tachibana Department Store Co., Ltd.

Specialty stores
* BLUE GRASS Co., Ltd.
* COX CO., LTD.
* The Talbots, Inc.
* Abilities JUSCO Co., Ltd.
* ÆON Bakery Systems Co., Ltd.
* ÆON FOREST CO., LTD.
* LAURA ASHLEY JAPAN CO., LTD.
* MEGA PETRO Co., Ltd.
* Mega Sports Co., Ltd.
* MIRAIYA SHOTEN CO., LTD.
* NUSTEP CO., LTD.
* ORIGIN TOSHU CO., LTD.
* PETCITY CO., LTD.
* Talbots Japan Co., Ltd.
* MYCAL CANTEVOLE Co., Ltd.
* The J. Jill Group, Inc.

YAMAYA CORP.
Taka:Q Co., Ltd.
TSURUYA SHOE STORE Co., Ltd.
Claire’s Nippon Co., Ltd.

SC development operations
* ÆON Mall Co., Ltd.
* Diamond City Co., Ltd.

LOC DEVELOPMENT CO., LTD.

Financial services
* ÆON CREDIT SERVICE CO., LTD.
* ÆON CREDIT SERVICE (ASIA) CO., LTD.
* AEON THANA SINSAP (THAILAND) PLC.
* A•C•S CREDIT MANAGEMENT CO., LTD.
* N•C•S KOSAN CO., LTD.
* AEON CREDIT GUARANTEE (CHINA) CO., LTD.
* AEON INFORMATION SERVICE (SHENZHEN) CO., LTD.
* AEON CREDIT CARD (TAIWAN) CO., LTD.
* AEON CREDIT SERVICE (TAIWAN) CO., LTD.
* AEON CREDIT SERVICE (M) BERHAD
* PT.AEON CREDIT SERVICE INDONESIA

Services
* ÆON Fantasy Co., Ltd.
* CERTO Corporation
* ZWEI CO., LTD.
* ÆON DELIGHT CO., LTD.
* ÆON CINEMAS CO., LTD.
* JUSVEL CO., LTD.
* Reform Studio Co., Ltd.
* Research Institute For Quality Living Co., Ltd.

ÆON Demonstration Service Inc.
Warner Mycal Corporation

Food services
* ÆON Eaheart Co., LTD.

Food processing, distribution, 
and other operations
* AIC Inc.
* Cordon Vert CO., LTD.
* Food Supply JUSCO Co., Ltd.
* Tasmania Feedlot Pty. Ltd.

E-commerce businesses
* ÆON VISTY CO., LTD.

*Consolidated subsidiaries.
Listed companies are shown in bold print.

•ÆON 1% Club
•ÆON Environment Foundation
•The Cultural Foundation of Okada
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